Airway Epithelial Coordination of Inflammation and Smooth Muscle Phenotype

Michael J O'Sullivan

Meakins-Christie Laboratories

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology

McGill University, Montreal

May 2016

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the

requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Michael O'Sullivan 2016

Dedication

For Mom, Dad and Kristen, for your support as a family and encouragement over the years.

For Willa, for your friendship and love.

For my grandparents, for your admirable leadership and our countless memories together.

For Lucy and Guinness, for endless joy and entertainment.

Abstract

Background

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways for which there is no cure. The epithelium lines the lumen of airways creating a barrier to inhaled substances and protects the underlying tissue. However, it has been revealed over the past decades that the epithelium partakes in many features of asthma pathogenesis. Recruited inflammatory leukocytes contribute to airway responsiveness by increasing the mass of tissue underlying the epithelium that leads to narrowing of the airways, and also can drive airway structural changes over time. Release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by the epithelium is one way by which these cells are activated to translocate to the airways. Lipid mediators may contribute to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by epithelial cells. Furthermore, the epithelium may release many factors that can interact with the underlying smooth muscle; the functional tissue for regulating airway diameter. Increased smooth muscle mass is a hallmark feature of the disease and mediators of its mitogenesis may be released by epithelial cells. Finally, smooth muscle may be phenotypically regulated such that proliferative cells are not contractile. Epithelial derived factors may also modulate the contractility of this tissue.

Methods

Airway epithelial cells derived from primary donor patients as well as the cell line BEAS-2B were utilized. Primary smooth muscle cells were isolated from healthy control donors. BEAS-2B cells were stimulated to release the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-8 with the lipid mediator sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P). Pre-treatment of proteins associated with IL-8 release prior to stimulation with S1P were used to determine the cellular signalling events important in

mediating this process. Airway smooth muscle cells were co-cultured with or without epithelial cells prior to analysis of phenotype. The contractile phenotype was evaluated by examining traction force production in these cells, as well as intracellular calcium release to agonist stimulation. Pre-treatment with inhibitors of proteins known to mediate contraction were utilized to determine how co-culture modulates contractility. The proliferative phenotype was assessed by examining the incorporation of the thymidine analogue BrdU. Similarly, inhibitors of specific proteins were used to understand which pathways resulted in co-culture induced changes to the proliferative phenotype.

Results

S1P induced IL-8 release was mediated by S1P Receptor 2 signalling to NF-κB but not AP-1. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) transactivation by the generation of reactive oxygen species did not occur in this system. Co-culture with epithelial cells reduced the contractile phenotype, and the excitability of these cells was restored by inhibition of cyclooxygenase-1. Co-culture with epithelial cells increased the rate of proliferation that was also not sensitive to EGFR inhibition. Co-cultured cells expressed mRNA for proteins associated with pro-inflammatory cytokines and we observed increased expression of the pro-proliferative micro-RNA miR-210.

Conclusions

Airway epithelial cells have an increasingly important role in the pathogenesis of asthma. These cells release IL-8 after stimulation with S1P by virtue of S1PR2 signalling to Nf-κB. Furthermore, epithelial cells can phenotypically modulate airway smooth muscle cells towards a more proliferative and less contractile state.

Resume

Contexte

L'asthme est une maladie inflammatoire chronique des voies aériennes pour laquelle il n'y a pas de traitement curatif. L'épithélium du lumen des voies respiratoires créer une barrière aux substances inhalées et protège le tissu sous-jacent. Il a cependant été démontré au cours des dernières décennies que l'épithélium est impliqué dans l'apparition et le développement de l'asthme. Les leucocytes inflammatoires recrutés au niveau de l'épithélium contribuent à la réactivité des voies aériennes en augmentant la masse du tissu sous-jacent, conduisant ainsi au rétrécissement des voies respiratoires. De plus, leur recrutement peut entraîner des modifications structurelles des voies aériennes au cours du temps. La libération de cytokines proinflammatoires par l'épithélium est un moyen par lequel les leucocytes sont activés, pouvant ainsi se déplacer dans les voies respiratoires. Certains médiateurs lipidiques peuvent contribuer à la libération de cytokines pro-inflammatoires par les cellules épithéliales. En outre, l'épithélium peut libérer de nombreux facteurs qui peuvent interagir avec le muscle lisse sous-jacent, soit le tissu fonctionnel qui régule le diamètre des voies aériennes. L'augmentation de la masse musculaire lisse est une caractéristique importante de la maladie et des médiateurs de la mitogenèse des cellules de muscle lisse peuvent être libérés par les cellules épithéliales. En outre, le muscle lisse peut être régulé phénotypiquement de façon à ce que les nouvelles cellules qui prolifèrent ne soient pas contractiles. Finalement, des facteurs libérés par les cellules épithéliales peuvent également moduler la contractilité de ce tissu.

Méthodes

Des cellules épithéliales primaires de voie aérienne dérivées de patients donneurs ainsi que la lignée de cellules BEAS -2B ont été utilisées. Les cellules musculaires lisses primaires ont été isolées à partir de donneurs en bonne santé. Les cellules BEAS-2B ont été stimulées avec les médiateurs lipidiques de la sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) pour libérer la cytokine proinflammatoire IL-8. Des traitements influençant la relâche d'IL8 ont été effectués afin de découvrir les voies de signalisation impliqués dans les évènements médiés par la stimulation avec S1P. Les cellules musculaires lisses de voie aérienne ont été cultivées avec ou sans cellules épithéliales avant l'analyse du phénotype. Le phénotype contractile a été évalué en examinant la production d'une force de traction dans ces cellules, ainsi que la libération du calcium intracellulaire à l'agoniste de stimulation. Des inhibiteurs de protéines responsable de la contraction ont été utilisées afin de déterminer comment la co-culture module la contractilité. Le phénotype de prolifération a été évalué en examinant l'incorporation de BrdU, un analogue de la thymidine. En meme temps, des inhibiteurs ont été utilisés dans le modèle de co-culture pour comprendre quelles voies de signalisation ont entrainer les changements de phénotype prolifératif

Résultats

La sécrétion d'IL-8, suite au traitement par S1P, est médiée par le récepteur S1PR2 via l'activation de NF-kB, mais non par celle d'AP-1. La transactivation du récepteur du facteur de croissance épidermique (EGFR) par la génération d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène ne se produit pas dans ce système. La co-culture des cellules de muscle lisse avec des cellules épithéliales a réduit le phénotype contractile et l'excitabilité de ces cellules a été normalisée par l'inhibition de la cyclooxygénase-1. La co-culture avec des cellules épithéliales augmente le taux de prolifération et cette augmentation insensible à l'inhibition de l'EGFR. Les co-cultures cellulaires ont exprimé l'ARNm pour les protéines associées à des cytokines inflammatoires et nous avons observé que l'expression du micro-ARN miR-210 pro-prolifératif est augmentée.

Conclusions

Les cellules épithéliales des voies aériennes jouent un rôle de plus en plus important dans la pathogenèse de l'asthme. Ces cellules libèrent de l'IL-8 après la stimulation du S1PR2 par S1P et via la voie de signalisation NF-kB. En outre, les cellules épithéliales peuvent moduler le phénotype des cellules musculaires lisses des voies aériennes en augmentant leur état prolifératif et en reduisant leur capacité de contraction.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all of my colleagues and friends that shared the experience of graduate school. It has been a great pleasure to meet and work with such wonderful individuals.

I extend, with great gratitude, a large thank you to my supervisor, Dr. James Martin. It has been a wonderful experience learning from him and I deeply appreciate the time and effort he has put forth over the past several years for the benefit of my educational experience. Over the course of my training, I came to understand the magnitude of Dr. Martin's career and I will be forever grateful for the opportunity to study with such a renowned scientist.

I thank all of the students and fellows from Dr. Martin's lab over the years including: Paul-Andre Risse, Mauro Novali, Nobuaki Hirota, Sana Siddiqui, Saba Al-Heialy, Toby McGovern, Soroor Farahnak, Neil Verma, Marina Simeonova Alice Panariti, Yoichiro Hamamoto, Satoshi Ano, Benoit Allard and Leora Simon. I would like to thank Gijs Ijpma and Oleg Matusovskiy for their intuition and assistance in understanding airway smooth muscle biology. Furthermore, it was great to work with the numerous summer students and honour's project students, including but not limited to Joyce Jang, Chris Wong and Alice Mathon. I would like to extend a further acknowledgement to the efforts of Nobuaki Hirota for his assistance while I was new to research and all of the patience he had while I learned new techniques.

The Meakins-Christie Laboratories was a great place to study, and I am appreciative of the efforts of all faculty members to produce such a stimulating environment in which to learn. I thank the secretarial staff, including Angelina Bentivegna, Maria Makroyanni and Stavroula Kalantzis for their assistance over the years. Furthermore, I extend a thank you to all of those

involved with the workshops, beer seminars, journal clubs and work in progress seminars in which I learned so much about respiratory research.

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee including Dr. Simon Rousseau, Dr. Alvin Shrier and Dr. John Hanrahan. Their insights were extremely helpful and I appreciate the time you put into improving my research. Furthermore, I acknowledge Dr. Simon Rousseau and Dr. Julie Bérubé for kindly providing BEAS-2B NF-κB luciferase reporter cells for data generated in chapter 2 of this thesis.

I acknowledge the funding agencies, including the Canadian Respiratory Research Network, the Fonds de Recherche Sante du Quebec and the McGill University Health Centre Research Institute.

I thank the friends I met during my time at McGill, especially to Corey Valinsky and Craig Stanton. It was great having you around and I look forward to making more fond memories together. Furthermore, thank you to the "50's" hockey team for all the late-night games we played together.

I acknowledge the many sessions with the "swim-team" including Maziar Divangahi, Jim Martin and Mark Bazett. There was never a dull moment and it was always a great time, even if we did suffer through the afternoons.

Finally, I would like to thank the animals for the sacrifices made for the purpose of medical research.

viii

Table of Contents

Dedication	i
Abstract	ii
Resume	iv
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of Contents	ix
Contribution of Authors	xiii
Contribution to Original Knowledge	xvi
Abbreviations	xviii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction & Review of the Literature	1
1.1 Introduction	2
1.2 Asthma	2
1.2.1 Overview	2
1.2.2 Allergic Asthma	3
1.2.3 Non-Atopic Asthma	5
1.3 Asthma Risk Factors	6
1.3.1 Hygiene Hypothesis	6
1.3.2 Genetic Component of Asthma	7
1.4 Innate Immunity of Asthma	8
1.4.1 Epithelium	8
1.4.2 Dendritic Cells	10
1.4.3 Neutrophils	11
ROS and the Epithelium	13
ROS as Signalling Molecules	15
TRPA1, a ROS Sensitive Ion Channel	17
1.4.4 Macrophages	17
1.5.3 Eosinophils	18

1.5 Adaptive Immunity in Asthma	19
1.5.1 T Cells	19
1.5.2 B Lymphocytes	21
1.6 Lipid Mediators	23
1.6.1 Sphingosine-1-Phosphate	23
S1P Immunology	24
Intracellular Targets of S1P	25
S1P and Other Diseases	25
1.6.2 Arachidonic Acid Metabolites	26
1.8 Airway Smooth Muscle	29
1.8.1 Contribution to sub-epithelial fibrosis	30
1.8.2 The Origins of New Airway Smooth Muscle	31
1.8.3 Phenotype Regulation of ASM	32
Transcriptional Regulation	33
Micro-RNA	33
1.8.4 ASM Proliferation	35
1.8.5 ASM Contractility	39
Cross Bridge Cycling	39
Calcium Release in Smooth Muscle Cells	41
Calcium Sensitization	42
Contractility and Asthma	43
1.8.6 ASM Immunologic Properties	45
1.9 Airway Smooth Muscle – Epithelial Interaction	46
1.9.1 Epithelial Derived Relaxing Factor	46
1.9.2 Epithelial Induced Proliferation	48

1.9.3 Endothelial : Smooth Muscle Interactions	49
1.10 Summary	51
1.11 Hypothesis	53
CHAPTER 2: Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) Induced Interleukin-8 (IL- 8) Release Is Mediated by S1P Receptor 2 and Nuclear Factor kB in BEAS-2B Cells	54
2.1 Prologue	55
2.2 Abstract	56
2.3 Introduction	57
2.4 Materials and Methods	59
2.5 Results	64
2.6 Discussion	77
CHAPTER 3: Airway Epithelial Cells Reduce the Contractile Phenotype of Airway Smooth Muscle Cells	81
3.1 Prologue	82
3.2 Abstract	83
3.3 Introduction	84
3.4 Materials and Methods	86
3.5 Results	93
3.6 Discussion	104
CHAPTER 4: Airway Epithelial Cells Increase Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferat	ion
	110
4.1 Prologue	111
4.2 Abstract	112
4.3 Introduction	113
4.4 Materials and Methods	116
4.5 Results	122
4.6 Discussion	132

CHAPTER 5: General Discussion and Conclusions	137
5.1 Discussion and Conclusions	138
5.2 Future Directions	145
References	148

Contribution of Authors

This manuscript-based thesis has been produced by manuscripts that have been published, submitted for publication or will be submitted for publication in peer reviewed journals.

Chapter 2. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) Induced Interleukin-8 (IL- 8) Release Is Mediated by S1P Receptor 2 and Nuclear Factor kB in BEAS-2B Cells

This is article is published: PLoS ONE 9(4): e95566. doi:10.1371

Michael O'Sullivan (PhD candidate) designed all experiments, conducted all experiments, interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript.

Dr. Nobuaki Hirota (Post-doctoral Fellow, PDF) contributed to the design of experiments, interpretation of the data and reviewed the manuscript.

Dr. James G. Martin (Principal Investigator, PI) contributed to the design of experiments, interpretation of the data and writing of the manuscript.

Chapter 3. Airway Epithelial Cells Reduce the Contractile Phenotype of Airway Smooth Muscle Cells through a COX-1 Dependent Mechanism

This article is in preparation for submission.

Michael O'Sullivan (PhD candidate) designed all experiments, conducted all experiments, interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript.

Elizabeth Gabriel (Research Technician, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health) contributed to the conduct of traction force microscopy assays.

Dr. Chan Y. Park (Research Scientist, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health) contributed to the design and conduct of traction force microscopy assays, interpretation of the data and revision of the manuscript.

Dr. Gijs Ijpma (Research Associate, McGill University) assisted with dissection of tissues and analysis of data.

Dr. Jeffrey Fredberg (Investigator, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health) provided reagents, plates, equipment and technical support for the traction force microscope assays.

Dr. Anne-Marie Lauzon (Investigator, McGill University) provided human lung tissues for the primary culture of airway smooth muscle and epithelial cells.

Dr. James G. Martin (Principal Investigator, PI) contributed to the design of experiments, interpretation of the data and writing of the manuscript.

Chapter 4. Airway Epithelial Cells Increase Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation

This article is in preparation for submission.

Michael O'Sullivan (PhD candidate) designed all experiments, conducted all experiments, interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript.

Dr. Paul-Andre Risse (Post-doctoral Fellow, PDF) conducted ELISA for the measurement of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor.

Dr. Anne-Marie Lauzon (Investigator, McGill University) provided human lung tissues for the primary culture of airway smooth muscle and epithelial cells.

Dr. James G. Martin (Principal Investigator, PI) contributed to the design of experiments, interpretation of the data and writing of the manuscript.

Contribution to Original Knowledge

The work conducted in this thesis provides the scientific community with original findings regarding the pathogenesis of asthma. In chapter two, we explored the cellular signalling events leading to S1P induced IL-8 secretion. Specifically, we demonstrated that this occurs through the activation of S1PR2 and NF- κ B, and not through the ROS induced EGFR transactivation. To our knowledge, we are the first to explore the receptor subtypes and transcription factors involved in this process. We provide molecular details surrounding a potentially key pathway involved in the recruitment of neutrophils to the asthmatic airway, drawing conclusions that S1PR2 antagonism may be beneficial for the treatment of certain subsets of asthma. We also ruled out a role of S1PR1 and S1PR3 in mediating this effect, turning the field away from future examination of these receptors as potential therapeutic targets for the treatment of S1P induced IL-8 release. Similarly, we disproved the role of the EGFR and the IL-8 transcription factor AP-1, again indicating that these molecules may not show promise for selective inhibition.

In Chapter three, we explored for the first time, the role that airway epithelial cells have in controlling airway smooth muscle cell excitability and contractility. Although previous work has been conducted in tissue preparations, we are the first to report that epithelial cell co-culture reduces the contractility of smooth muscle cells *in-vitro*. This system allowed us to probe molecular mechanisms by which this occurs. We discovered that the PGE₂ producing enzyme COX-1 mediates the reduction in excitability after co-culture with epithelial cells. We suggest that the phenotype modulation away from the contractile state may be mediated by COX-1 products and that activation of this enzyme may be of pharmacological interest for the reduction in ASM cell contractility in asthmatic patients.

In Chapter four we examined the mechanism by which epithelial cells increase ASM cell proliferation. We demonstrated that co-culture induces the pro-proliferative miRNA-210 and that this miR can augment the rate of DNA synthesis in ASM cells. We also demonstrated the novel finding that ASM cells express many pro-inflammatory cytokines after co-culture and suggest that these may act in an autocrine fashion to drive the proliferation of these cells. Furthermore, we observed that the EGFR was not involved in co-culture induced proliferation, although HB-EGF was induced in the muscle.

Abbreviations

5-LO: 5-lipoxygenase
AA: arachidonic acid
AHR: airway hyperresponsiveness
AP-1: activator protein-1
APC: antigen-presenting cell
ARE: anti-oxidant response element
ASM: airway smooth muscle
Bcl2: B cell lymphoma gene 2
cADPR: cyclic-ADP-ribose
cAMP: cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CC: (C-C motif) chemokine
CCL: chemokine ligand
CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
COX: cyclooxygenase
cPLA2: cytosolic phospholipase A2
CRAC: calcium release-activated channel
CSE: cigarette smoke extract
CXC: (C-X-C motif) chemokine
CXCL: chemokine ligand
CysLT: cysteinyl leukotriene
CysLTR: cysteinyl leukotriene receptor
DAMP: damage-associated molecular pattern
DC: dendritic cell
DMTU: dimethylthiourea

DUOX: dual oxidase

EGF: epidermal growth factor

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor

Elk1: E26-like protein 1

EMT: epithelial-mesenchymal transition

ERK: extracellular signal-regulated kinase

ET-1: endothelin-1

FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second

FGF-2: fibroblast growth factor 2

FGF: fibroblast growth factor

FLAP: 5-LO activating protein

FTY720: fingolimod

GM-CSF: granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor

GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor

GWAS: genome wide association study

HB-EGF: heparin binding EGF

HDM: house dust mite

HOCl: hypochlorous acid

HPETE: hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid

IFN- γ : interferon- γ

Ig*X*: immunoglobulin *X*

IL: Interleukin

ILC: innate lymphoid cell

ILR: Interleukin receptor

iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthase

IP3: inositol trisphospate IP3R: IP3 receptor Keap 1: Kelch-like ECH associating protein 1 KLF4: kruppel-like factor 4 LTC4: leukotriene C4 M1: classically activated macrophage M2: alternatively activated macrophage MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 MEJ: myoendothelial junctions MIP: macrophage inflammatory protein miRNA: micro-RNA MLCK: myosin light chain kinase MLCP: myosin light chain phosphatase MMP: matrix metalloproteinase MYD88: myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 NES: nuclear export signal NF-κB: nuclear factor-κB NLS: nuclear localization signal NO: nitric oxide NOX: NADPH oxidase Nrf-2: nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 NSAID: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug Orai: olf186-F protein

OVA: ovalbumin

PAMP: pathogen associated molecular pattern PAR: protease activated receptor PDGF: platelet derived growth factor PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor PGE₂: prostaglandin E₂ PI3K: phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase PKC: protein kinase C PLC: phospholipase C PRR: pattern recognition receptor RANTES: regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted ROS: reactive oxygen species RTK: receptor tyrosine kinase S1P: sphingosine 1-phosphate S1PR: sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor S1PR: sphingosine1-phosphate receptor SERCA: Sarcolemmal-endoplasmic reticular ATPase SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism SOCE: store-operated calcium entry SOD: superoxide dismutase Sp1: simian virus 40 protein 1 SPHK: sphingosine kinase Spl:sphingosine lyase SRF: serum response factor STIM: stromal interaction molecule

TGF: transforming growth factor

Th2: T-helper 2

TLR: Toll-like receptor

TNF: tumour-necrosis factor

TRAF: TNF receptor-associated factor

Treg: T regulatory cell

TRIF: TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β

TRP: transient receptor potential

TSLP: thymic stromal lymphopoietin

TXA₂: thromboxane A₂

VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor

VSMC: vascular smooth muscle cell

CHAPTER 1:

Introduction & Review of the Literature

1.1 Introduction

Airway diseases are an increasing burden on healthcare systems. Asthma is one such disease for which the pathophysiology remains quite mysterious. Hallmark features of asthma include airway hyperresponsiveness to inhaled substances that cause narrowing of the airways as well as persistent inflammation of the airway wall. Both of these characteristics increase the work of breathing and the sensation of effort to breathe and they contribute to the symptoms experienced during an exacerbation. It is estimated that 300 million people worldwide are suffering from asthma [1]. Although research over the past several decades has contributed to novel therapies for patients suffering with asthma, there is an urgent need for better treatments to improve the quality of life of those suffering from the more severe forms of this disease. The work presented in this thesis aims to better understand the pathogenesis of asthma, and also to learn more about the interaction of structural cells within the airways. This disease is likely driven by the intricate communication between both inflammatory and airway structural cells. It is becoming more evident that airway wall changes that occur in asthmatic subjects may due to epithelial dysfunction [2] and so a better understanding of airway epithelial biology will contribute new knowledge on the pathogenesis of this disease.

1.2 Asthma

1.2.1 Overview

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways that affects millions of people worldwide. The prevalence of asthma has increased from 7.3% in 2001 to 8.4% in 2010 in the United States and thus costs healthcare systems more and more each year [3]. Asthma is

characterized by acute obstruction to airflow complemented by chronic inflammation of the bronchial tree [4]. In addition to airway inflammation, asthmatics possess a greater mass of smooth muscle within the airway walls [5], secrete more mucus into the airway lumen [6], deposit new matrix components and have increased airway vascularization [7]. It is apparent that diverse mechanisms drive the pathogenesis of this disease and it is becoming increasingly evident that patient-specific therapies are the future of clinical treatment. Cytokine production from airway structural cells, including epithelial cells, is responsible for the recruitment of leukocytes and the conditioning of cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity such as dendritic cells and innate lymphoid cells. Sustained inflammation likely drives airway remodeling [8]. The interaction of lung structural cells, their communication with one another, and the interface of immune and mesenchymal derived cells has created a fascinating environment to study. These cells and their interactions have driven research to pose intriguing questions and establish new concepts in this field.

1.2.2 Allergic Asthma

Asthma is a syndrome within which many subsets may be identified. This is evident through the descriptions of a variety of clinical phenotypes [9]. Allergic asthmatics are atopic individuals, indicating that they are predisposed to be hypersensitive to certain allergen(s) by mechanisms that are immunoglobulin E-related (IgE). Patients may present clinically with a wide variety of inflammatory markers. However it is quite common for allergic asthmatics to possess hallmark eosinophilia within the airway wall and in sputum. Severe asthmatics tend to possess increased bronchial infiltration by neutrophils in addition to eosinophilia [10]. The associated inflammation likely drives structural changes to the bronchial wall, which later contributes to the increased resistance observed in the airways of these patients. It has been evident for many years that there

is an association between susceptibility to allergy and the development of asthma with elevated serum IgE levels [11]. Furthermore, T-helper 2 (Th2) lymphocytes and their associated cytokines are frequently found within the asthmatic lung [12] and these are tightly linked with allergic responses. These and other arms of the immune system have been explored and mechanisms by which these immune effectors alter the structure of the airway and contribute to obstruction have become more evident.

Allergic asthma, the most prominent subset, involves the activation of Th2 cells, which secrete IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 cytokines to coordinate a variety of events leading to airway hyperresponsiveness [13]. Allergic asthma is usually treated with corticosteroids. Corticosteroids bind to the glucocorticoid receptor which, when translocated to the nucleus, alter gene expression by controlling the rate of mRNA synthesis through effects mediated in the 5' promoter region of the glucocorticoid response element. Corticosteroids have been shown to prevent the binding of activator protein-1 (AP-1) and nuclear factor- κB (NF- κB) to their respective promoter regions [14]. AP-1 and NF- κ B are important transcription factors in mediating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [15]. Thus, treatment with corticosteroids has the ability to reduce infiltration of leukocytes to the airway wall and can lower the frequency of exacerbations. Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) may also play a role in allergic asthma. ILCs do not recognize antigen, but are activated by innate cytokines, often epithelial-derived, to drive effector responses. There are currently three known members of the ILC family, named ILC1-3. It was shown that IL-13 producing ILC2s can infiltrate the airways and may drive "allergic" AHR [16]. Continued work in this new field should be conducted to better understand allergic asthma.

1.2.3 Non-Atopic Asthma

The immunopathology of non-allergic asthma, sometimes referred to as intrinsic asthma, shares many similarities to that of atopic asthma. Biopsies from intrinsic asthmatics demonstrated elevated bronchial infiltration by T-cells and macrophages, similar to atopic-asthmatic patients [17]. Furthermore, biopsies of non-atopic asthmatics showed increased mRNA and protein of the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5, suggesting the possibility that local IgE production could occur [18]. Intrinsic asthmatics do however possess increased numbers of cells positive for granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor-a (GM-CSFRa), a marker that is predominantly expressed on macrophages [19]. The presence of Th2 cytokines suggests that antigen presentation may occur, although the antigens that may be involved in driving Th2 type asthma in the absence of sensitization to usual aeroallergens are unknown. Potential candidates for such antigens may derive from viral infection or autoantibodies [18]. Alternatively, ILCs may be the source of these Th2 cytokines, as a non-atopic model of infection has demonstrated that ILC2s can generate IL-13 in a helminth parasite infection [20]. However the lack of robust models of non-atopic asthma has hindered the ability of scientists to understand this asthma subset. Recent work has given rise to the notion that ILCs can act as an effector cell within this subset of asthma. Most work exploring asthma pathogenesis in the context of ILCs has examined the role of ILC3s. It was demonstrated in a mouse model of steroid resistant asthma that IL-17 was necessary to drive the asthma phenotype [21]. Furthermore, ILC3s secrete IL-17 and have also been associated with obesity driven models of asthma through the induction of the inflammasome, a pro-inflammatory protein complex [22]. Although this is a poorly understood subset, there is new hope in expanding knowledge through continued exploration of ILCs and their role in non-allergic asthma.

1.3 Asthma Risk Factors

1.3.1 Hygiene Hypothesis

An interesting study described that the prevalence of asthma was increasing in developed Western nations [23]. Atopy is the predisposition to overreact to allergen exposures and the increase in atopy in western nations may be due to the combination of a variety of factors such as the fact that children are exposed to less antigenic diversity at a young age, changes in maternal diet, less infant infections and increased vaccination rates and antibiotic use [23]. Among the mechanisms for the increase in prevalence of asthma that have been postulated the one receiving the most attention in recent years is the "hygiene hypothesis". This hypothesis is based on the premise that children growing up in urban areas of developed nations are exposed to a reduced burden of potential allergens at a young age, or are exposed to less diverse allergens and are therefore more likely to develop allergic diseases such as asthma [24]. The first published observation supporting the hygiene hypothesis demonstrated that there was an increased rate of allergic rhinitis in children who grew up in homes with fewer siblings [25]. Children with older siblings are less likely to be atopic, which may reflect the increased exposure to pathogens due to more interaction with other young children [26]. Another study has shown that atopy is more prevalent in children that entered day care at an older age [27]. Furthermore, children who grew up on farms exhibited a downward trend in the susceptibility to develop asthma and were less likely to be atopic [28]. It was also shown that the quantities of endotoxin, a component of the bacterial cell wall, were increased in the farming environment [29]. Endotoxin sensing receptors, known as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) likely mediate the protective effect of endotoxin exposure throughout childhood against atopy [30]. It appears that air pollution such as diesel exhaust particles can act as an adjuvant and augment the host responses to allergen sensitization and may

further explain the increased rates of asthma [31]. The hygiene hypothesis requires more work to describe the physiological role that a lack of allergen exposure has on the development of asthma. Whatever the cause, researchers have uncovered a great deal regarding the immuno-pathology of this disease. It is well accepted that the immune system plays a critical role in regulating atopic asthma.

1.3.2 Genetic Component of Asthma

Examination of the risk of having asthma if one or both parents are affected by it suggest a significant heritable component to the disease [32]. Several genome wide association studies (GWAS) have revealed candidate genes that may be implicated in asthma predisposition. The fact that these studies have not produced a clear gene or group of genes that are definitively associated with asthma likely highlights the fact that there is an important environmental component of the disease. In one study exploring 2669 asthmatics and 4528 healthy control subjects revealed the interleukin-6 receptor (IL-6R) as an associated gene with atopic-asthma, adding interest to IL-6R antagonism as a treatment for allergic asthma [33]. Another GWAS identified a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in ORMDL3 linked to childhood asthma [34]. This gene was later discovered to be expressed by epithelial cells and to positively regulate metalloproteases and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8 [35]. Interleukin-33, an epithelial derived innate cytokine that drives Th2 responses, has been published as a gene with a SNP associated with asthma [36]. The receptor of IL-33, the interleukin 1 receptor-like 1 (IL1RL1), also contains a SNP that is linked to asthma in 10 different population studies [37]. Although these association studies have revealed some interesting genetic information, asthma remains an elusive disease with a need for new therapeutic targets. Future GWAS are required to consolidate the data generated thus far in other populations, and some of these identified genes should be further explored as to their role in driving asthma pathology.

1.4 Innate Immunity of Asthma

1.4.1 Epithelium

Innate immunity plays an important role in asthma pathogenesis. A variety of asthma "triggers" include non-self peptides associated with viral, bacterial or aeroallergen components. The first line of defense against such insult is the airway epithelium. The epithelium consists of several cell types that collectively regulate airway surface liquid composition, clear mucus through coordinated cilia movement and maintain barrier integrity. These cells include the progenitor basal cells, ciliated cells, mucus secreting goblet cells, neuroendocrine cells and protective club cells. In the alveolar space, alveolar type I cells facilitate gas exchange and alveolar type II cells secrete surfactant into the luminal liquid to reduce surface tension.

Common aeroallergens include components of house dust mite, pollens, grasses, animal dander and moulds. When aeroallergens enter the lung, they interact with the airway epithelium. Airway epithelial cells express tight junctions that render the epithelium a tight barrier to inhaled molecules, preventing access to the underlying tissues. Tight junctions are formed by proteins such as occludin, claudin and junctional adhesion molecule between adjacent epithelial cells and the scaffold proteins zona-occludin proteins that connect the transmembrane proteins to the actin cytoskeleton; these structures define the apical/basolateral boundary [38]. Tight junctions are therefore important in the polarization of the epithelium, assisting in the coordination of membrane protein trafficking to either the apical or basolateral pole of the cell [39]. Below the tight junction lies the adherens junction, which consists of E-cadherin and β -catenin [40]. The adherens junction tethers the two epithelial cells together and regulates the actin cytoskeleton [41]. It is appreciated that the epithelium has a myriad of mechanisms to contribute to innate and adaptive immune cascades. The epithelium will recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by virtue of expressing pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLRs. TLR activation by ligand activates two classical immune signalling pathways within the epithelial cells, being that of the TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF) and myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MYD88) pathways. MYD88 signalling leads to NF-KB activation which drives the transcription of many pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines [42]. Activation of PRRs on airway epithelial cells can lead to the release of chemokines, such as CXCL8 (IL-8) [43], a potent neutrophil chemoattractant [44]. SNPs of TLR2, a PRR expressed on airway epithelial cells, were found to be an important predictor of asthma in children growing up in rural areas [30]. TRIF effector signalling will activate Interferon Regulatory Factor 3 which drives type 1 interferon generation as well as NF-κB driven pro-inflammatory responses. Furthermore, the epithelium from asthmatic patients has been shown to be more permeable than that of controls [45], and this may be explained by the observation that epithelial cells derived from asthmatic patients possess less caveolin-1, a scaffold protein associated with epithelial barrier integrity [46]. The proteins responsible for creating tight junctions and maintaining barrier integrity are disturbed in asthmatic epithelial cells placed in culture [47], and this damaged asthmatic epithelium may allow allergens to more easily access the underlying antigen processing DCs. The epithelium from asthmatics also contains more basal cells, indicating a less-differentiated population that is associated with repair processes. These cells also secrete more pro-inflammatory cytokines than those derived from

healthy control subjects, upon exposure to both rhinovirus and particulate matter [48]. The epithelium can also release periostin in response to the Th2 cytokine IL-13, which stimulates fibroblasts to secrete collagen that may contribute to sub-epithelial fibrosis [49] as well as drive goblet cell metaplasia within the epithelium itself [50]. Asthmatic airways also possess more EGFR [51] and its ligand heparin binding EGF (HB-EGF) [52] likely to aid in the repair of barrier integrity. This EGFR ligand could drive proliferation of nearby airway smooth muscle (ASM), further contributing to airway remodeling. Activation of airway epithelial cells by S1P has been shown to lead to the release of IL-8 [53,54]. Epithelial cell activation by diesel exhaust particulate matter releases the dendritic cell maturation factor GM-CSF [55]. Each year, increasing evidence is pointing towards this tissue as an important culprit in mediating remodeling events within the airway, and for this reason, the majority of the work of this dissertation aimed to contribute knowledge in this area or research.

In chapters two to four of this dissertation, data from experiments examining the role of airway epithelial cells on release of pro-inflammatory chemokine and interaction with smooth muscle cells will be presented.

1.4.2 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that survey the airway for the presence of potentially pathogenic molecules. DCs recognize antigens by expressing PRRs such as TLRs or C-type lectin receptors and upon activation of these receptors, the DC migrates to mediastinal lymph nodes where it encounters and activates naïve T-cells [56]. DCs may have the ability to extend protrusions through the epithelial barrier in order to sample the airway lumen [57]. Furthermore, the epithelial layer may allow small antigens to enter into the lymphatic vessels

10

where they could interact with resident lymphatic DCs such as plasmacytoid DCs [58]. This migration occurs through the expression of CCR2-like receptor (CCRL2) [59] and the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1PR1) agonist SEW-2871 can down-regulate this receptor [60]. Epithelial derived signalling molecules will cause maturation of the underlying DCs through the production of cytokines such as thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) [61]. The release of TSLP can influence the DC to become a Th2 promoting APC via the up-regulation of OX40L, a co-stimulatory molecule in T cell activation [62]. As research moves forward, the importance of the DC in linking airway epithelial cell innate immune signalling and activation of the adaptive immune response in the asthmatic airway is becoming more evident.

1.4.3 Neutrophils

Neutrophilia is a prominent feature of severe asthma [10]. Neutrophils are recruited to the airways through the local release of chemokines such as IL-8 [63] and the sputum levels of this chemokine have been shown to correlate with the severity of asthma [10]. In chapter two of this thesis, the release of IL-8 from airway epithelial cells was explored for its potential role in the recruitment of this cell type. Neutrophils reside predominantly in the bone marrow [64], spending only 6-8 hours as circulating peripheral cells [65]. Neutrophil chemotaxis from the blood to the airway occurs upon the release of a variety of chemokines including IL-8, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1(CXCL1/GRO- α), macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α , chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL-5/RANTES) and chemokine (C-X-C motif) 5 (CXCL5/ENA-78) [66]. The release of these chemokines can occur when damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are normally sequestered away from TLRs are released upon tissue damage, activating the TLR and inducing neutrophil chemokine production [67]. Uric acid is one such agonist that is released from dying cells [68]. In a study examining

competitive swimmers, it was demonstrated that chlorine by-products caused epithelial damage, increased DAMPs and augmented airway neutrophilia [69]. As discussed previously, TLR activation may also occur in the presence of PAMPs, recruiting neutrophils [43]. Neutrophils respond to IL-8 when the neutrophil CXCR1/2 receptor is activated at the leading edge of the cell, inducing G-protein coupled signalling and the release of intracellular calcium [70]. Neutrophil migration is driven by the activation of phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate kinase (PI3K) that in turn results in actin polymerization at the site of receptor activation [71]. In the early 1930's it was discovered that leukocytes consume more oxygen during phagocytosis [72]. For over three decades this "respiratory burst" remained a mystery. Eventually it was discovered that this increase in oxygen consumption was a key requirement for phagocytic leukocytes to destroy bacteria [73]. Patients with leukocytes lacking this oxidative burst capability are prone to infection and the term chronic granulomatous disease has been given to describe this pathology [74]. The NADPH oxidase (NOX) enzyme was discovered to be the protein complex responsible for the consumption of oxygen and producer of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The NOX complex consists of two membrane subunits, collectively termed cytochrome b558, and four cytosolic components, p47PHOX, p67PHOX, p40PHOX and Rac. The phosphorylation of p47PHOX is a crucial step in the recruitment of the four cytosolic subunits to cytochrome b558, and is regarded as a necessary event in the activation of the complex [75]. Protein kinase C (PKC) likely phosphorylates serine residues on the p47PHOX subunit [76]. Superoxide is generated by NADPH oxidase which can then be converted to hydrogen peroxide, another ROS, by superoxide dismutase (SOD). The leukocytes in asthmatics have been shown to produce more superoxide than those of healthy controls [77]. Neutrophils also secrete the enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO), which converts hydrogen peroxide to

hypochlorous acid (HOCl), a strong oxidant. It is estimated that HOCl levels in the lung can reach 8mM [78]. MPO secretion from neutrophils isolated from asthmatic patients is increased compared to healthy controls [79]. HOCl can also be produced when chlorine gas is inhaled and combines with water in the airways [80]. Children who regularly attend chlorinated pools are more likely to develop asthma [81]. Although the role that oxidative stress plays in asthma pathogenesis is largely unclear, mechanisms are starting to be postulated.

Phagocytic leukocytes may produce ROS in the airways that can damage airway structural cells and may contribute to the pathophysiology of asthma. ROS may also play a role in activation of airway epithelial cells. Asthmatic airways have been shown to possess more ROS [82] but the source and significance is still unclear.

Oxidative stress is an emerging theme in asthma research. The oxidation state of a cell can play a critical role in signalling pathways, and asthmatics have been shown to have more 8-isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, in the breath condensate [83]. Asthmatics also have more hydrogen peroxide, a product of neutrophils, in their airways [84].

ROS and the Epithelium

When a cell is exposed to an oxidative environment, lipid peroxidation, DNA damage and protein oxidation can occur. Of course, airway epithelial cells express a variety of antioxidants to deal with such oxidative insults, including SOD, catalase, glutathione peroxidase and the non-enzymatic antioxidants such as glutathione, thioredoxin, ascorbic acid and tocopherol. SOD is expressed in a variety of isozymes with SOD1 being the most prevalent. SOD1 is expressed throughout the nucleus and cytoplasm [85], while SOD2 is expressed in the mitochondria [86], and SOD3 is a secreted, soluble form [87]. SOD converts superoxide to hydrogen peroxide,
which can then be converted to water by catalase. SOD activity in airway epithelial cells from asthmatics not on inhaled corticosteroids is decreased compared to controls or asthmatics receiving corticosteroids [88]. Another study has shown that asthmatic respiratory tract lining fluid contains less tocopherol and ascorbate, and more oxidized glutathione [89], further evidence that the redox status of the asthmatic lung is unbalanced.

Airways are constantly exposed to ROS from air pollutants such as ozone and nitrogen oxides. During oxidative insult, cells can activate the master anti-oxidant transcription factor nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf-2). Nrf-2 is a cap'n collar protein, retained in the cytoplasm by Kelch-like ECH associating protein 1 (Keap 1) [90]. Normally Nrf-2 is ubiquitinated and targeted for proteosomal degradation [91]. Keap-1 contains a nuclear export signal (NES), retaining Nrf-2 in the cytoplasm [92] and Nrf-2 contains a nuclear localization signal (NLS) [93]. Keap-1 contains cysteine residues that are oxidized during oxidative stress, a critical step in releasing Nrf-2 [94]. Nrf-2 can then translocate to the nucleus where it binds the anti-oxidant response element (ARE) [95]. Nrf-2 knockout mice have shown increased eosinophilia and IL-4 and IL-13 levels in the bronchoalveolar lavage after sensitization and challenge with allergen [96]. It is possible that Nrf-2 deficiencies, leading to anti-oxidant deficiency or increased oxidation status of the lung could contribute to the pathogenesis of asthma.

If the exposure to ROS overwhelms the cells' antioxidant capacity, the cells will either undergo apoptosis or necrosis. Apoptosis involves the activation of the caspase cascade, and ROS can induce caspase activity [97-99]. HOCl produced by MPO has been shown to cause endothelial and neuronal necrosis by activation of L-type and T-type calcium channels at the plasma membrane with downstream activation of calpain and loss of mitochondrial membrane potential

[100,101]. Cell viability after exposure to HOCl appears to be dependent on the cell type, with endothelial cells being more susceptible than cultured neurons [100,101]. During an oxidative insult, airway epithelial cells can be shed. Brown Norway rats pre-treated systemically with the anti-oxidant N-acetyl cysteine showed reduced airway dysfunction having been exposed to chlorine gas [102]. In another study, Balb/c mice were treated with the antioxidant dimethylthiourea (DMTU), which protected the lungs from lipid peroxidation and decreased airway hyperresponsiveness after chlorine gas exposure [103]. Airway epithelial cells have the ability to secrete a large amount of glutathione. Asthmatics secrete almost two-fold more glutathione into the epithelial lining fluid than healthy controls, which appears to prevent airway hyperreactivity to methacholine challenge [104]. Asthmatic airway redox status could play an important role in the development of disease.

ROS as Signalling Molecules

ROS have become of interest to medical research as their role as signalling molecules has been uncovered. ROS appear to mediate events downstream of growth factor receptor and cytokine receptor activation [105]. A seminal publication in the early 1990's showed that rabbit tracheal epithelial cells release hydrogen peroxide when activated with PMA [106]. Since, much work has been conducted studying ROS production in airway epithelial cells. Production of ROS by airway epithelial cells has been implicated in cell signalling, controlling apoptosis [107] and mucus secretion [108]. The amino acid cysteine is an oxidation target due to its sulfhydryl side chain. Proteins can undergo conformational changes upon cysteine oxidation and thus signalling pathways can be affected. Cysteine oxidation of tyrosine phosphatases can render them inactive causing proteins to remain phosphorylated. This is the case with the EGFR [109]. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) can be activated when intracellular cysteine oxidation causes a conformational change to the extracellular domain, exposing the catalytic site [110,111]. Since MMPs have the ability to cleave EGFR ligands from the cell membrane, oxidative activation of MMPs and the EGFR represent a potential mechanism by which airway epithelial cells become activated to produce pro-inflammatory chemokines such as IL-8, downstream of activation of the EGFR [112]. Hydrogen peroxide can cause activation of the transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1 [113]. Pre-treatment of airway epithelial cells with the anti-oxidant DMTU prevents tumour-necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) converting enzyme activation after stimulation with cigarette smoke extract (CSE) [114]. ROS has also been shown to mediate G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) signalling, including transactivation of the EGFR [115] Endogenous ROS generation may play a crucial role in regulating airway epithelial repair after injury.

The main ROS producing enzyme in airway epithelial cells is the NOX family including NOX1-5 and the larger dual oxidases DUOX1-2, named for containing both NADPH oxidase and peroxidase homology domains [116]. NADPH oxidases produce superoxide by virtue of transferring one electron from cellular sources of NADPH across the lipid bilayer. Dual oxidases (DUOX) produce hydrogen peroxide. Increases in intracellular calcium have been shown to activate DUOX production of hydrogen peroxide by airway epithelial cells [106]. Calcium likely regulates DUOX function by binding to intracellular EF-hand domains [117]. EF-hand domains are sequences found in calcium binding proteins that possess two alpha helices, the "E" and "F" helices, separated by a calcium-binding loop. These domains are sensitive to millimolar calcium, and the sites are normally occupied by intracellular magnesium [118].

TRPA1, a ROS Sensitive Ion Channel

Another avenue by which ROS may play a role in asthma pathogenesis is through activation of the oxidant sensitive transient receptor potential (TRP) channel TRP ankyrin 1 (TRPA1), named for its 18 N-terminal ankyrin repeats. TRP channels are non-selective cation channels, permeable to calcium. Increases in intracellular calcium can initiate signalling cascades through proteins such as calmodulin [119]. C-fibers that innervate the airways appear to mediate oxidative stress induced lung dysfunction in the mouse [120]. Airway C-fiber activation can also induce neurogenic inflammation. Neuropeptide released from C-fibers, such as substance P and neurokinin A can bind to neurokinin receptors and cause a variety of pro-inflammatory events such as increasing lymphocyte proliferation [121] and increased vascular permeability in the airways [122]. Oxidative molecules have the ability to gate TRPA1. 4-hydroxynonenal, an oxidized lipid metabolite, has been shown to activate TRPA1 in airway sensory neurons, causing the release of substance P from these nerve endings and contributing to neurogenic inflammation [123]. Recently, TRPA1 was detected on small airway epithelial cells, and it appears to respond to oxidative ligands such as cinnamaldehyde, acrolein and CSE. The same study showed that acrolein and CSE can evoke the release of IL-8 from cultured human airway epithelial cells in a TRPA1-sensitive manner [124]. Since TRPA1 is activated by oxidative molecules such as acrolein, it is likely that this channel is gated more frequently in asthmatic lungs and causes calcium flux into airway structural cells.

1.4.4 Macrophages

The macrophage is a rather diverse cell, both driving inflammation as well as resolving it. Macrophages have the ability to engulf foreign pathogens and present antigen to adaptive immune cells. It has long been known in the mouse that macrophages may exist in a classically activated (M1) or alternatively activated (M2) phenotype. Depending on the M1/M2 expression, macrophages influence adaptive immunity by altering T-cell phenotype [125]. M1 macrophages develop in the presence of interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and TNF and release a variety of proinflammatory cytokines [126]. The M2 variety mature in the presence of IL-4 [127] and secrete extracellular matrix proteins that may be utilized for tissue repair [128]. These macrophages are named for their differential processing of arginine through arginase rather than inducible nitric oxide (NO) synthase (iNOS) [129]. iNOS drives the synthesis of NO, a molecule associated with viral immune responses [130]. M1 macrophages have been associated with prevention of Th2 responses in a murine OVA model of asthma [131]. In a murine house dust mite model of allergic asthma, it was observed that M1 macrophages were increased in less severe forms of the disease whereas M2 was greater in more severe "asthma" [132]. The specific macrophage subsets that are expressed across the asthmatic disease severity spectrum are still unclear [133]. Due to the increased prevalence of Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, the induction of M2 cells may be expected in asthmatic airways. This may represent a homeostatic mechanism through which induced M2 cells by Th2 inflammation inhibit these responses.

1.5.3 Eosinophils

Eosinophilia is a common feature of asthma and the extent of eosinophilia correlates with the severity of the disease [134]. Th2 derived IL-5 and IL-9 greatly promote the presence of airway eosinophils through stimulating their recruitment and aiding in their proliferation [135,136]. IL-13 also generates eotaxin release from the epithelium that acts as a potent chemoattractant for eosinophils [137]. Eosinophil derived major basic protein is elevated in the sputum of asthmatics [138] and this molecule can also induce the constriction of airway smooth muscle cells [139].

Major basic protein causes augmented muscle reactivity through binding to inhibitory M2 muscarinic receptors, preventing the normal regulatory function of this receptor and causing augmented acetylcholine release [140]. Eosinophils secrete lipid mediators such as cysteinyl leukotrienes [141] which are potent bronchoconstrictive agonists [142]. Eosinophils also secrete a variety of cytokines that can sustain airway inflammation such as IL-4 [143], IL-13 [144] and eotaxin [145].

Eosinophil peroxidase-derived HOCl, eosinophil cationic protein and major basic protein can be damaging to the epithelium and could represent another deleterious effect of eosinophilia [146]. Furthermore, activated eosinophils can release the arachidonic acid metabolite leukotriene C4 (LTC₄) which can cause the constriction of airway smooth muscle cells and microvascular leak [147]. Preventing eosinophilia through IL-5 or IL-5 receptor specific antibodies is a strategy that has received a fair amount of attention recently. Severe asthmatics that possess a high number of airway eosinophils had fewer exacerbations when treated with mepolizumab, an antibody against IL-5 [148]. Future work exploring eosinophil-targeting therapies will likely lead to improved specific patient prognosis.

1.5 Adaptive Immunity in Asthma

1.5.1 T Cells

Adaptive immunity plays a key role in mediating allergic asthma. Inhalation of air-borne allergens, known as aeroallergens, causes sensitization of susceptible subjects and subsequent exposure initiates an inflammatory allergic reaction in the airways that contributes to airway

narrowing and remodeling. APCs such as dendritic cells present the peptide to T cells via the MHC class II molecule. Once presented with allergen, T cells with the appropriate antigen specific T cell receptor proliferate in local lymph nodes into the Th2 subset. The T cells will then recirculate, eventually homing towards the airway along a chemokine gradient of CCL17 and CCL22 which are secreted by epithelial cells [149]. An expanded population of allergen specific Th2 cells in the lung will secrete IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. IL-4 also causes the induction of mucus secreting goblet cells in the airway epithelium [150]. IL-5 secretion from the Th2 cell causes activation [151] and recruitment of eosinophils [152].

Local T lymphocytes have been shown to be in intimate contact with airway smooth muscle cells and, in vitro, trigger proliferation [153]. This property may contribute to airway remodeling in asthma. Recruited T cells within the airway wall contribute to the "late" phase of the allergic asthmatic reaction and their cytokines orchestrate a variety of remodeling events. The Th2 cell will secrete four important asthma-related cytokines, namely IL-4, IL-5, IL-9 and IL-13. IL-4 and IL-13 can activate the airway epithelium to secrete the potent neutrophil chemoattractant IL-8 [154]. A recent clinical trial demonstrated that lebrikizumab, an antibody against IL-13, reduced the number of exacerbations in patients with moderate and severe asthma [155].

Asthmatic airways possess more mucus than those of healthy subjects and this secretion contributes to airway narrowing resulting in increased airway resistance [156]. Furthermore, mucus production by epithelial cells can be driven by the Th2 cytokine IL-13 in asthmatic airways [157].

Naive T cells may also develop into IL-17 secreting Th17 cells in the presence of naive T cell derived IL-23 [158]. This phenotype of T lymphocyte also matures in the presence of TGF- β and

IL-6 [159] and contributes to asthma pathology. IL-17A causes lung fibroblasts to secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-8, IL-11 and Gro-α [160].

An emerging concept in the immuno-pathology of asthma is the role of resolution of inflammation. T regulatory cells (Tregs) are Foxp3 expressing cells that produce the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10. In an animal model of allergic asthma, it has been demonstrated that the adoptive transfer of Tregs was able to diminish airway hyperresponsiveness and that this reduction in the asthma phenotype depended on IL-10 [161]. Future work regarding these Foxp3 expressing cells may lead to novel mechanisms regarding asthma pathogenesis.

1.5.2 B Lymphocytes

B lymphocytes are key cells in humoral immunity as the antibody producing cells of the body. Th2 cytokines will influence B cells to class switch towards an IgE producing cell [162,163], which likely contributes to the "early" phase of the allergic responses in asthma. IgE binding to mast cell Fc receptor induces exocytosis of mediators of the allergic response [164]. Some mast cell derived mediators released include histamine, leukotrienes, proteases and cytokines, all of which contribute to asthma pathology [165]. Targeted blockade of IgE through the administration of an anti-IgE antibody is sometimes used clinically for the management of severe asthma [166]. B cells also have a role in antigen presentation to T lymphocytes through expression of the MHC class II molecule [167].

After the induction of class switching, B cells expressing specific IgE for the antigen may become memory B cells ready to respond to generate more robust responses to subsequent allergen exposures. Conflicting data exists as to the longevity of memory B cells. Data suggest that IgE specific B cells are not long-lived without the presence of continued antigen exposure in the rat [168]. However in another publication, persistent memory cells were observed in the spleen and bone marrow 79 days after systemic sensitization of BALB/c mice [169]. There may be a discrepancy due to the species examined, although the former article did not explore the presence of memory B cells in the bone marrow or the spleen, rather it examined only the generation of serum IgE antibody production after allergen challenge.

B-regulatory cells, similarly to T-regulatory cells, inhibit rather than increase responses of the immune system. These cells were first described in the early 2000s as IL-10 expressing B-cells [170]. IL-10, as mentioned previously, is a cytokine that is able to suppress both Th1[171] and Th2 differentiation and is therefore it can act as a potent repressor of immunity. This cytokine can also suppress macrophage release of pro-inflammatory cytokines [172] and in an allergic mouse model of asthma, IL-10 was shown to inhibit airway inflammation but not AHR [173]. In a similar study, selective inhibition of this B cell subset acted to drive airway inflammation that was likely dependent on the loss of CD4+ cell inhibition [174]. Furthermore, regulatory B cells may increase the number of T regulatory cells and act together to suppress immunity [175]. Recently it has been suggested that B regulatory cells may be further differentiated into IL-10 secreting Br1 cells [176], transforming growth factor (TGF)-releasing Br3 cells [177], and Foxp3 expressing Bregs [178]. B lymphocytes have emerged as important cells in mediating the asthma pathogenesis, supported by the use of omalizumab to neutralize IgE in human asthma.

1.6 Lipid Mediators

1.6.1 Sphingosine-1-Phosphate

S1P derives from sphingosine, a prominent sphingolipid found in the plasma membrane of many cell types. Likely due to the "enigmatic structure" of these lipids, they are named after the Egyptian Sphinx [179]. Sphingolipids derive from ceramide, giving rise to a variety of sphingolipids [180]. Ceramide regulation is therefore critical to maintain sphingolipid homeostasis. When sphingosine is phosphorylated it becomes a biologically active lipid. Sphingosine phosphorylation occurs by one of two enzymes known as sphingosine kinase (SPHK) 1 and 2. SPHK1 is normally sequestered in the cytoplasm but will translocate to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane upon binding to calmodulin [181]. Phosphorylation of serine 225 by ERK1/2 dependent signalling can induce a 14-fold increase in SPHK1 activity [182]. Ceramide and sphingosine signal apoptosis [183] in a variety of cell types, whereas the phosphorylated counterparts induce proliferation [184]. These opposing effects of ceramide and S1P, first discovered in the late 1990s [185], are now known as the sphingolipid rheostat. The phosphate moiety of S1P can be targeted for removal and conversion back into sphingosine by sphingosine phosphatase [186]. Furthermore, S1P can be irreversibly degraded by sphingosine lyase (Spl) [187]. S1P can pass into the cytoplasm through the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) [188] and can be actively exported through the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCC1 [189] and through the spinster homolog 2 [190]. Extracellular S1P binds to albumin and apolipoprotein M [191] in the high density lipoprotein fraction of the plasma [192].

S1P Immunology

S1P is considered to be bioactive due to five GPCRs that the sphingolipid can activate. S1P receptors₁₋₅ (S1PR₁₋₅) can mediate a wide variety of cellular responses and have implications in asthma immune-pathology. One such role is the control of the egress of T lymphocytes from the local lymph node or thymus that depends on a gradient of S1P between the lymphatic and the efferent vessel and the T cell movement from secondary lymphoid organs depends on the activation of S1PR₁ [193,194]. Indeed, S1P concentrations are higher in the plasma than in the lymphatic tissues [195]. Fingolimod (FTY720) is an analogue of sphingosine that is phosphorylated by SPHK2 [196]. Phosphorylated fingolimod potently binds to S1PR₁ causing internalization and down-regulation of this receptor [197] FTY720 has been shown to reduce the emigration of lymphocytes from the lymphatic tissue [198]. B cell N,N-dimethyl sphingosine, is an inhibitor of SPHK and is able to reduce eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) to methacholine in a murine model of allergic asthma [199]. This inhibitory effect was further confirmed to be mediated by a reduction in Th2 cytokines [200]. S1P administered subcutaneously to mice also caused an increase in AHR upon acetylcholine challenge, and led to increased levels of IL-4 and IL-13 [201]. Fingolimod inhalation was able to prevent airway allergen challenge induced AHR and inflammation through the inhibition of dendritic cell induced T cell polarization [202]. Along these lines, T cells adoptively transferred from mice that had been previously treated with S1P had increased AHR to carbachol challenge [203].

In ASM cells, S1P has the ability to increase proliferation and cause calcium release through the activation of S1PR2/3 [204]. Besides driving remodeling, S1P may induce contraction and cause the assembly of stress fibers in these cells [205]. More studies regarding the regulation of ASM cell phenotype by S1P are necessary to understand the role of this sphingolipid in driving asthma

pathogenesis. Due to the role of S1P in promoting inflammatory processes, we examined how this lipid mediates the release of IL-8 from epithelial cells in chapter two.

Intracellular Targets of S1P

Recently, it has been demonstrated that S1P can act intracellularly as well. In the nucleus, S1P can bind to histone deacetylase 1 and 2, influencing the regulation of a variety of genes [206]. S1P may play a role in mitochondrial biogenesis, as it was discovered to bind to Prohibitin 2 [207]. The phospholipid also can act as a co-factor for the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of TNF receptor-associated factor 2 and could activate NF-κB through this intracellular target [208]. Future work in this emerging field may define novel implications of S1P and its role in disease.

S1P and Other Diseases

Due to its role in regulating proliferation and survival, S1P has been associated with a variety of cancers. One study demonstrated that the use of neutralizing S1P antibodies is able to inhibit tumour growth progression in a variety of murine xenograft and allograft models [209]. Patients suffering from ovarian cancer have presented with greater S1P levels in the serum which were reduced upon removal of the tumours [210]. Furthermore, mutant SPHK1 lacking serine 225 fibroblasts showed less Ras-dependent transformation, indicating that membrane trafficking of SPHK1 is a requirement in driving tumour generation [211]. In gastric cancer cells, S1P was found to transactivate the EGFR through signalling of S1PR2 and metalloproteinase activation [212]. Endothelial cell survival was mediated by SPHK1 regulation of B cell lymphoma gene 2 (Bcl-2) [213], an oncogene commonly associated with a variety cancers [214]. S1P has also been shown to activate eicosanoid biosynthesis through the activation of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) [215], and PGE₂ has been associated with prostate cancer [216]. Besides asthma, atherosclerosis

is another inflammatory condition with which S1P is associated. S1PR3-/- mice present with less macrophage recruitment to the peritoneum [217], a prominent driver of this disease [218]. Similarly, another murine model of atherosclerosis showed that S1PR2-/- mice possess less recruited monocytes due to reduced NF-κB driven monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) expression [219]. Diabetes has been linked to S1P. In a mouse model of this disease, plasma S1P levels were increased [220]. Furthermore, it appears that S1PR2 is involved in the apoptosis of pancreatic beta cells [221].

Clearly, S1P is an important lipid mediator associated with a variety of diseases. Future work exploring mechanisms by which this sphingolipid mediates its effects may prove useful in the identification of therapeutic targets.

1.6.2 Arachidonic Acid Metabolites

Arachidonic acid (AA) is a 20-carbon chain polyunsaturated fatty acid that is produced from phospholipid metabolism by phospholipase A2 in cellular membranes. Upon activation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2) by increased intracellular calcium levels, the enzyme migrates from the cytosol to the plasma membrane, producing AA [222]. Furthermore, ERK phosphorylation of cPLA2 mediates the enzyme's activation [223]. Metabolites of AA have been implicated in a variety of aspects of airway biology.

AA may be metabolized via a variety of bioactive products through one of two major pathways (**Figure 1**). These products include cyclooxygenase derived prostanoids or leukotrienes and lipoxins produced by 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO). 5-LO, together with an activating enzyme 5-LO activating protein (FLAP), 5-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (5-HPETE) or 8-HPETE are synthesized. 12-lipoxygenase products include lipoxins, which can resolve inflammation in

airways [224]. Lipoxin A₄ has been shown to be reduced in severe asthmatics, which may represent another mechanism by which inflammation persists in the airways [225]. 5-HPETE can also be converted into LTA₄, which can then give rise to either the cysteinyl leukotrienes (LTC₄, LTD₄, LTE₄), or LTB₄. LTB₄ can act upon the BLT GPCR. BLT receptor expression was found to be required for the recruitment of CD8+ T cells in a mouse model of allergic asthma [226]. LTB₄ can also promote neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells, increasing their ability to be recruited [227]. Several BLTR antagonists have been examined for their therapeutic potential to treat asthma [228]. The cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLTs) also drive airway inflammation and exert their biological effects by binding to either the CysLT receptor 1 (CysLTR₁) or 2 (CysLTR₂). CysLTs induce both airway smooth muscle proliferation and contraction and thus these lipid mediators can induce both airway remodeling and exacerbation [142]. Leukotrienes can also promote increases in vascular permeability that likely contributes to increased inflammation [229]. Goblet cell hyperplasia is also driven by CysLTs, leading to increased mucus production [230]. Aspirin-intolerant asthmatic-derived sputum possesses more CysLTs than healthy control subjects [231] and there is increased expression of CysLTR1 in the bronchial mucosa of asthmatic subjects that will further augment the effects of this potent remodeling factor [232]. Three CysLTR1 antagonists are used clinically for the treatment of asthma.

The other arm of the AA metabolite pathway gives rise to the prostanoids. The constitutively expressed COX-1 and the inducible COX-2 (targets of selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)) convert AA to prostaglandin endoperoxide H₂ (PGH₂), which can then be further processed by a variety of enzymes to form prostaglandin D₂ (PGD₂), PGI₂, PGE₂, or thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂). In some asthmatic patients, the administration of NSAIDs to inhibit

cyclooxygenases shunts AA metabolism to the 5-LO pathway, increasing the levels of cysLTs and causing exacerbation [233,234]. These aspirin sensitive patients must turn to other antiinflammatory drugs in order to prevent worsening symptoms. Prostanoids can elicit a myriad of signalling events in cells expressing GPCRs that recognize the ligands. In smooth muscle, PGE₂ can increase cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) via binding to PGE₂ receptors EP₂ or EP₄, where as EP₃ activation increases cytosolic calcium. PGI₂ can also increase cAMP, whereas PGD₂ and TXA₂ increase calcium levels. The respiratory epithelium can be a significant source of PGE₂ [235], as can smooth muscle cells [236]. PGE₂ can be both pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory, however it seems that it may protect against the asthmatic phenotype. Inhaled PGE_2 was shown to prevent the fall in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) in exercise-induced bronchoconstriction of asthmatic subjects [237], and this bronchodilation is mediated by EP2 receptors in the mouse [238]. Alternatively, TXA2 can induce airway constriction [239] as can PGF₂ α that likely does so through the activation of TXA2 receptors [240]. In an allergic model of asthma, it was shown that PGI_2 reduces bronchial infiltration by leukocytes and Th2 cytokine production, pointing towards a protective role of this lipid [241]. Novel inhibitors of these pathways are beginning to emerge and may lead to new treatments for this disease. In chapter three of this dissertation, we explored the role of COX activity and its products on influencing epithelial induced changes to ASM cell phenotype.



Figure 1. Overview of arachidonic acid metabolism. cPLA2 converts phospholipids into AA. AA is then processed into one of two pathways, the 5-LO/ FLAP to give rise to the leukotrienes (right), or through the COX-1/2 pathway synthesizing prostanoids (left) (figure from Korotkova, M et al. Nat Rev Rheumatol, 2014 (10)) [242].

1.8 Airway Smooth Muscle

Smooth muscle lines the walls of many tubular structures within the body. Smooth muscle differs from that of skeletal and cardiac muscle in two important ways. First, smooth muscle can undergo phenotypic de-differentiation from a well-differentiated contractile cell to a less

differentiated proliferative (synthetic) cell. Second, smooth muscle can maintain force for long periods of time with reduced consumption of ATP compared to non-sustained contraction, a phenomenon known as the "latch state" [243,244]. These cells are the target of one of the most common treatments of asthma. The administration of β -adrenergic agonists is a first-line therapeutic class that relaxes the airways to improve symptoms. ASM's main function is to control airway tone. Smooth muscle can maintain force for long periods of time by performing tonic contractions. It is also capable of performing faster contractions, termed phasic contractions. As the muscle contracts the airways narrow, causing increased airway resistance. Although there are other determinants of airway diameter, such as the elastic recoil of the lungs and the airway surface liquid, smooth muscle is by far the most important term in regards to asthma. As the role of ASM cells is to generate force, the molecular motor proteins actin and myosin are of crucial importance.

1.8.1 Contribution to sub-epithelial fibrosis

Thickening of the sub-epithelial layer through the deposition of extracellular matrix proteins is a hallmark feature of asthma and may occur by secretion of extracellular matrix proteins by myofibroblasts in the airways of asthmatic patients [245]. Stimulation of ASM cells from previously healthy subjects with asthmatic serum induced the secretion of a variety of extracellular matrix proteins, indicating a role for this cell type in driving sub-epithelial fibrosis [246]. Asthmatic ASM cells produced greater quantities of collagen I and perlecan than did those from healthy control subjects, and the extracellular matrix protein profile expressed by the asthmatic cells was able to augment the proliferation of both control and asthmatic ASM cells [247]. This indicates a potential role for these proteins in driving remodeling of the ASM layer. The story is not fully understood, as it has been shown that OVA induced matrix remodeling

actual prevented airway hyperresponsiveness in the rat when examining long exposures of the allergen, pointing towards a possible protective effect of these secreted proteins [248]. MMP modulation of extracellular matrix proteins may also play a role in asthma, and corticosteroid treatment was found to diminish collagen deposition in asthmatic airways via the up-regulation of MMP-9 and down-regulation of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase-1 expression [249]. Further work in this area is needed to truly understand the role of extracellular matrix proteins and their interaction with ASM cells in the asthmatic airway.

1.8.2 The Origins of New Airway Smooth Muscle

Airway smooth muscle is present underneath the basement membrane of the epithelial lining of the airways and is arranged in a helical fashion. (Figure 2)



Figure 2. Airway stained with TRITC-phalloidin to image filamentous actin in airway smooth muscle bundles of a healthy control airway (figure from Ijpma, G et al. Shortness of Breath, 2013 (3)) [250].

The angle at which the muscle wraps around the airways is likely greater in the peripheral airways compared to that of the central ones [251]. It is possible that muscle that is oriented more in the longitudinal axis may have less impact, when contracted, on the airway diameter. Whether there is a

difference in orientation of the muscle between asthmatic and control subjects needs to be evaluated. It is unclear where the excess smooth muscle mass originates from within the asthmatic airway, however several mechanisms have been postulated. New ASM cells could be generated from nearby precursors such as myofibroblasts that undergo differentiation in the presence of TGF- β [252]. It is also postulated that adjacent epithelial cells may undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) to generate AMS cell progenitor cells [253]. In support of this idea, asthmatic cultured bronchial epithelial cells were shown to be more likely to undergo EMT when stimulated with TGF- β than those derived from control subjects [254]. Another plausible mechanism for the origin of increased ASM mass is through the proliferation of the ASM cell itself, representing a popular area of asthma research. Alternatively, less apoptosis of existing ASM cells may promote the increase mass found in asthmatics [255]. Mesenchymal stem cells may have the potential to generate ASM cells as the number of these cells increases in an OVA model of allergic asthma [256]. Fibrocytes derived from peripheral blood could also be a source of ASM cells as these cells localize to the airways of asthmatic patients [257], although their numerical contribution seems unlikely to be large.

1.8.3 Phenotype Regulation of ASM

Cellular phenotype refers to the plasticity of an individual cell, or a subpopulation of cells, that can differ from their neighbors with respect to their specific function. Smooth muscle is unique from other muscle types in its ability to change phenotype. ASM cells can exist as either a proliferative or a contractile phenotype. Phenotype switching provides an explanation for airway wall remodeling such that the muscle layer can proliferate to increase in mass before converting to the contractile phenotype and contributing to airway narrowing. The term "modulation" is used to describe ASM cell phenotype switching [258]. Myogenic phenotype variation was first discovered in vascular smooth muscle where subsets of cells with differing potassium channels were associated with resistive or conduit arteries [259].

Transcriptional Regulation

ASM cell phenotype is transcriptionally regulated by many proteins and small molecules. The transcription factor serum response factor (SRF) can drive the expression of both proliferative and contractile genes [260]. To achieve specificity, the cell utilizes co-transcription factors. E26like protein 1 (Elk1) and kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) bind to SRF to drive the enzymes that contribute to cell cycle progression. Phosphorylated Elk1 induces the expression of c-fos [261] which is a well described oncogene [262]. JNK and p38 drive Elk1 phosphorylation to respond to cytokines and stress [263]. However, in an equine model of asthma, it was shown that ASM mass did not correlate with phosphorylation of Elk1[264]. It is possible Elk1 activity was indeed present prior to the examination of the equine airways in this study. Myocardin binds SRF to induce the expression of genes associated with the contractile apparatus. Furthermore, the contractile promoter contains two CArG boxes which respond to simian virus 40 protein 1 (Sp1), AP2 and TGF- β [265]. Elk1 over-expression has been shown to prevent the activation of smooth muscle specific genes driven by myocardin and is likely due to the competition for binding to SRF [266]. The activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling by growth factor receptors can lead to the phosphorylation of ELK-1 and binding to SRF, which represses SRF:myocardin binding [267], highlighting the pleiotropic role of SRF. In chapters three and four of this work, we explored the expression of these co-transcription factors in mediating the phenotype switch that occurs in ASM cells after co-culture with the epithelium.

Micro-RNA

The regulation of co-transcription factors can occur through the generation of micro-RNA (miRNA). miRNAs are small non-coding RNA molecules, 18-22 nucleotides in length [268].

miRNA are generated in the nucleus as primary miRNA which is processed by RNase III Drosha forming precursor miRNA [269] and exported from the nucleus via the pore channel exportin-5 [270]. Once present in the cytoplasm, miRNA is processed further by Dicer, and will be bound by proteins such as Argonaute to form the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). RISC bound to miRNA will cause the reduction of proteins in three ways. miRNA/RISC can bind to the 5' untranslated region of genes and prevent the progression of the translational machinery from translating the gene. MiRNA binding also utilizes the RISC complex to enzymatically degrade mRNA transcripts, or they can become destabilized through 5' decapping [271]. miR-143 and miR-145 form a complex that has been shown to inhibit the expression of ELK1 and KLF4, thus reducing proliferation and allowing the cell to become more contractile (Figure 3) [272]. Furthermore, miR-145 was up-regulated in an OVA model of allergic asthma and its antagonism reduced airway hyperresponsiveness to methacholine [273]. miR-21, through the repression of PTEN [274], and miR-25, through inhibition of KLF-4 [275], allow for a more contractile cell. In fact, the most highly expressed miRNA in human ASM cells, miR-10a, regulates proliferation by targeting the PI3K pathway [276]. Recent work in asthmatic airway smooth muscle cells has shown that asthmatic cells possess more miR-155 than controls after stimulation with a mixture of cytokines and that this mi-RNA positively correlated with the amount of COX-2 expression [277]. Since the discovery of miRNA 20 years ago, they have been implicated in a great number of biological processes and diseases. Further research in the field of airway remodeling may uncover novel therapeutic targets. We examined the expression of miRNA constructs in ASM cells after co-culture with epithelial cells in chapter four of this thesis.



Figure 3. miR143/145 regulate smooth muscle phenotype. The expression of miR-143 suppresses Elk-1 while the expression of miR-145 reduces Klf4. The removal of these proproliferative co-transcription factors allows for Myocd to bind to SRF, driving the expression of smooth muscle specific genes (figure from Cordes, K et al. Nature, 2009 (460)) [272].

1.8.4 ASM Proliferation

Since airway remodeling features increased smooth muscle mass, mechanisms of ASM cell proliferation are of great interest. ASM cells, like many other cell types, respond to serum by actively proliferating. In asthma, the vascularity of the airways is increased [278]. Furthermore, the vascular permeability may be increased in asthmatic subjects, allowing for the possibility of greater quantities of serum to stimulate ASM cell growth [279]. ASM cells also respond to an inflammatory milieu. CD4+ T cells co-localize with actively proliferating ASM cells [280] and these lymphocytes potentially drive the proliferation [153]. Eosinophils have also been shown to

induce ASM cell proliferation through production of eosinophil derived cysteinyl leukotrienes [281].

The molecular mechanisms of ASM cell proliferation complement those of many other cell types. Of relevance to airway biology are the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family, insulin growth factor, fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF). These ligands act upon tyrosine kinase receptors and GPCRs to elicit a variety of downstream signalling events. Tyrosine kinase receptor activation causes dimerization of the heterodimeric receptor, allowing autophosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues on the intracellular domains [282]. This phosphorylation event creates a site for effector proteins to dock. Protein tyrosine phosphatases such as SHP-1 can de-phosphorylate and negatively regulate EGFR signalling. Downstream signalling effectors are quite numerous, however some key pathways involved are the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and PKC/PI3K pathways [283-285]. GPCR signalling involves the activation of 7 transmembrane receptors. Upon ligand binding, the GPCR undergoes a conformational change between the third and sixth transmembrane domain [286]. Conversion of inactive GDP bound G protein, into active GTP bound G protein causes the α -subunit to dissociate from the β and γ subunits. Free Gα subunits are able to bind to other signalling proteins and allow for the activation of cascades [287]. Depending on the Ga subtype, different signalling cascades will be activated. Gas stimulates the production of cAMP in the ASM cell via the activation of adenylyl cyclase, and this is the mechanism of action for β -agonist therapy in asthma. G α_i on the contrary, inhibits the generation of cAMP by inhibiting adenylyl cyclase. $G\alpha_q$ activates phospholipase C (PLC) and $G\alpha_{12/13}$ interacts with Rho guanine exchange factors to regulate cytoskeletal rearrangement and proliferation. After activation, the GPCR will be endocytosed to facilitate the removal of the

signalling complex, a phenomenon that depends on the binding of arrestin to the GPCR [288]. Tyrosine kinase and GPCR downstream effectors can cross-talk and regulate one another. EGFR signalling can activate PLC- γ that can stimulate calcium entry, whereas the GPCR can also cause calcium influx via a PLC-β mechanism [289]. Both tyrosine kinase and GPCR signalling activate p21ras, which, when bound to GTP, recruits Raf-1 [290]. Active Ras can also activate the PI3K pathway [291], which can drive the proliferation of ASM cells [292]. ERK signalling is known to induce cyclin D1 expression as this cyclin contains ERK dependent transcription factor regulatory sites such as Sp1 and AP-1 (Figure 4) [293,294]. Activation of the PI3K pathway can activate p70^{S6} kinase, which drives DNA synthesis and induces ASM proliferation [295]. Furthermore, PI3K can induce Rac1 signalling [296], which has been shown to increase cyclin D1 expression in ASM cells [297]. The cyclin D1 promoter is also positively regulated by the Rho GTPase cdc42 in ASM cells [298]. This cyclin promoter contains binding sites for the transcription factors SP-1 and possesses a cAMP responsive element [299]. After cyclindependent kinase activation by cyclins such as cyclin D1, an important event in the proliferative cycle of ASM cells occurs. The phosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein occurs, causing the release of elongation E2F. The phosphorylation occurs by cyclin-dependent kinases and released E2F can go on to activate DNA polymerase [294]. Currently, there are no therapies targeting the prevention of smooth muscle proliferation in asthmatics. It has been shown that corticosteroid administration inhibits the growth of these cells in vitro, [300] however, in a follow-up study, it was shown that collagen prevents this beneficial effect and the extracellular matrix remodeling present in asthmatics may impair this therapeutic function [301]. Furthermore, some patients with severe asthma are candidates for a relatively new therapy known as bronchial thermoplasty, a treatment used to heat smooth muscle, inducing its apoptosis. It is likely however that the

prevention of muscle growth in patients with developing asthma would greatly improve future pathology and thus more knowledge regarding how these cells are stimulated to proliferate will be helpful in creating new therapies for the treatment of asthma.



Figure 4. RTKs, cytokine receptors and GPCRs lead to the activation of ASM cell proliferation through the MAPK and PI3K pathways. p21ras plays a central upstream role in the initiation of these signalling events. (figure from Ammit, A et al. J Appl Physiol, 2001 (3)) [294].

Receptor mediated activation of airway smooth muscle proliferation involves receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), cytokine receptor or GPCRs converging on p21ras. Downstream signalling through MAPK or the PI3K pathway signals nuclear events that drive cell cycle progression. RTK utilizes the effector proteins Shc, growth factor receptor-bound protein and Son of Sevenless to activate downstream p21ras. In chapter four of this dissertation, we explored the role of the EGFR in mediating epithelial induced proliferation of ASM cells.

1.8.5 ASM Contractility

Halayko et al. revealed that freshly isolated canine trachealis smooth muscle was comprised of distinct populations of cells, being either high or low in content of contractile apparatus proteins [302]. The same authors first noted that phenotypic changes occur when ASM cells are placed in primary culture. Namely, smooth muscle myosin heavy chain, calponin, sm- α -actin, and desmin protein all decreased by more than 75% [303]. ASM cell cultures demonstrated increases in vimentin, PKC, CD44, caldesmon and non-muscle myosin heavy chain [303]. Another marker of contractile ASM cell maturation is the expression of dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, a transmembrane protein that anchors the actin cytoskeleton to extracellular laminin [304,305]. Recently, caveolin proteins have been demonstrated as markers of contractile ASM cells, as muscarinic receptors co-localize with caveolin-1 proteins to mediate calcium mobilization [306]. Changes in ASM cell length upon electrical field stimulation revealed that cells isolated from more proximal airways were more reactive than those isolated from lower airways [307]. Due to the importance of contractility in driving exacerbations in asthma, we were interested in exploring the effects of co-culture with epithelial cells on contractile properties and relevant signalling pathways.

Cross Bridge Cycling

To generate force, the ASM cells employ a variant of the sliding filament theory. Thin filaments of actin and thick filaments of myosin interact with each other to shorten the cytoskeleton. Two articles published in 1954 demonstrated that muscle bands can re-arrange upon changes in length

and that the contractile components actin and myosin generate the differences observed in light refraction [308,309]. In the resting state, myosin does not interact with actin. Myosin protein contains a "tail" domain that interacts with other myosin tail domains to form an α -helical, thick filament. There is also a "head" region for interaction with actin, and a regulatory "neck" region connecting the other two domains. It is in the regulatory region where phosphorylation of serine 19 [310] and threonine 18 [311] occurs, which is considered a key event in the cross-bridge cycling theory. Upon phosphorylation of myosin, it binds ATP, releasing the myosin head from the actin filament. After release, the ATP is hydrolyzed by the intrinsic ATPase activity of myosin causing the head to displace. ADP-bound myosin can again interact with the actin filament and move the filament approximately 6nm [312]. This returns the myosin to the beginning of the cross-bridge cycle.

This cycling mechanism relies on the presence of intracellular free calcium. Calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum or influx from the extracellular space is considered to be a critical step in initiating cross-bridge cycling and ASM cell contraction. Calcium binds to four calcium-sensing domains of calmodulin that then activates myosin light chain kinase (MLCK). Calmodulin activity is a critical component for the initiation of cross bridge cycling [313]. Recent work points towards the importance of spontaneous calcium oscillations as the frequency of oscillations of cultured ASM cells correlated with asthma disease severity and therefore may play a role in AHR [314]. Calcium sensitization can occur such that the muscle will maintain contraction after the calcium levels are restored. This can be accomplished by the small GTPase protein Rho which phosphorylates CPI-17 and can inactivate myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP), allowing the myosin to remain phosphorylated even with low levels (100nM) of calcium [315].

Calcium Release in Smooth Muscle Cells

An increase in intracellular free calcium is critical for cross-bridge cycling. Calcium can be toxic for cells and so its concentration is tightly regulated. At basal levels, the ASM cell maintains free calcium at approximately 80-200nM $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ [316] by virtue of the actions of several proteins. The sarcoplasmic reticular protein (Sarcolemmal-endoplasmic reticular ATPase (SERCA) pump) actively transports intracellular calcium across the sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane while consuming ATP. On the plasma membrane, calcium/sodium exchangers remove calcium by allowing sodium ions to enter. Upon activation, the cells may release calcium from intracellular stores or allow entry from the extracellular space and increase levels towards 1µM. The release of calcium in ASM cells is biphasic comprising an initial peak followed by a sustained elevation above the resting state [317]. The initial peak is likely mediated by release of calcium from SR stores[318], whereas the sustained phase appears to be dependent on extracellular calcium influx [317]. Release of calcium in ASM cells occurs when extracellular ligands activate intracellular PLC signalling. PLC cleaves membrane bound PIP2 to inositol trisphospate (IP3) and diacyl glycerol. IP3 then activates IP3 receptors (IP3Rs) expressed on the SR allowing calcium to flow down a concentration gradient into the cytosol. Furthermore, CD38 can generate cyclic-ADPribose (cADPR), which can activate the ryanodine receptor on the SR and can allow calcium release [319]. CD38 is also associated with store-operated calcium entry (SOCE)[320]. SOCE is a mechanism that exists to allow extracellular calcium to enter the cell upon release of calcium from intracellular stores [321]. SOCE involves activation of plasma-membrane calcium releaseactivated channels (CRAC) [322] by calcium sensing stromal interaction molecules (STIMs) [323] expressed on the SR. Upon depletion of SR calcium, STIM proteins oligomerize and relocate within areas of proximity to the plasma membrane CRACs [324]. CRACs are made up of

olf186-F (Orai) proteins [325] and upon interaction with STIMs, the CRAC is activated, allowing calcium entry [326]. Recently it was shown that OVA challenged mice possess more ASM STIM1 and Orai1 and that these proteins mediate PDGF induced proliferation [327].

Calcium Sensitization

Due to the toxicity of calcium, after its release and activation of calmodulin, ASM cells actively pump the ion back into the SR. In order to maintain force, the smooth muscle actin-myosin interaction must continue to occur even without elevated calcium. In order to achieve this, the myosin must remain phosphorylated and in smooth muscle cells this sensitization occurs not by activation of myosin light-chain kinase but rather through the inhibition of myosin light-chain phosphatase [328]. Inhibition of the phosphatase occurs through the activation of the small GTPase Rho and Rho associated kinase, which phosphorylates the myosin [329]. This occurs in intact smooth muscle and has been shown to be involved in driving hypertension [330] and in an allergic model of asthma [331]. This latter study demonstrates a role of the immune system and its ability to influence structural cell excitability and will be described below.



Figure 5. Calcium signalling in smooth muscle cells. Agonist stimulation of GPCRs induces the activity of PLC, cleaving PIP2 into IP3 and DAG. IP3 acts as a ligand on the SR IP3R releasing calcium into the intracellular compartment. This elevated calcium binds to calmodulin, activating MLCK, phosphorylating myosin light chain allowing cross bridge cycling to occur. Rho-kinase phosphorylation of MLCP inactivates the enzyme, allowing calcium sensitization to occur (figure from Webb, C. Adv Physiol Educ, 2003 (27)) [332].

Contractility and Asthma

The contractile status of ASM may play a key role in mediating the constriction of the airways of asthmatic patients. Many biochemical pathways have been described to alter ASM contractility. Several conflicting studies have demonstrated that ASM is either more contractile in asthmatic subjects, or it is the same as that of control subjects. In these studies, the methodologies differ

and these differences could explain the discrepancies. One key issue with comparing the studies performed is the fact that force generation per cross sectional area is often not considered and needs to be due to the expectation that a greater mass of muscle will produce more force [333]. One study exploring ASM cells in suspension showed that cells derived from asthmatic subjects had increased shortening velocity, however in this study, the cells contracted against no external load, and such a situation would not occur in vivo. The cells in this study were freshly isolated from human tissues and placed in a Kreb's solution perfused chamber and then stimulated to contract using electric field stimulation and length changes were monitored by microscopy. Furthermore, this study was performed at room temperature [334]. Furthermore, two other studies demonstrated that ASM cells embedded in collagen gels induced greater deformation of the gel upon agonist stimulation [335,336]. The later study also implicated reactive oxygen species through the increased expression of NOX4 to mediate this increase in asthmatic ASM cell contractility [336]. Another explanation for the increased contractility of asthmatic ASM cells may be increased MLCK [337-339]. Along this line of evidence, mast cell-ASM cell coculture induced the up-regulation of smooth muscle α -actin in the ASM cell [340]. In a recent study examining eight asthmatics and 11 healthy control ASM tissue preparations, it was demonstrated that the tissues were not different in terms of contractility as measured through a variety of parameters with an array of stimuli [341]. This study was further confirmed in tracheal tissue of an equine model of asthma known as heaves, however in this study, the peripheral airway tissues of horses with heaves did demonstrate greater maximal shortening velocity [342]. This study adds evidence to the heterogeneity observed in airway diseases. More work should be conducted in this field to have a better understanding of whether or not asthmatic ASM is

different in terms of contractility. Several of these studies suffer from small numbers of subjects and the lack of uniform methodology.

Due to the importance of cytosolic calcium release in the initiation of cross-bridge cycling, researchers have explored calcium signalling in ASM cells derived from asthmatic subjects. It has been described that, in the presence of inflammatory cytokines, ASM cells up-regulate cADPR pathway of calcium release through the induction of the biphasic enzyme, CD38 [343,344]. It was also shown that there may be less mRNA and protein expression of SERCA, which could contribute to an accumulation of cytosolic calcium and contribute to cells being in a more excitable state [345]. Calcium sensitization may also be altered in asthmatic subjects' ASM. In hyperresponsive rats, increases in RhoA may contribute to a more contractile smooth muscle [331]. Finally, ORMDL3, a gene associated with asthma [34], was shown to inhibit SERCA and could lead to an increased cytosolic calcium concentration [346]. Although the verdict is not in, what is clear is that asthmatic patients do indeed experience exaggerated airway narrowing and that drugs such as β -agonists that relax the smooth muscle aid in reducing asthma symptoms.

1.8.6 ASM Immunologic Properties

The role of ASM cells is not limited to their structural and mechanical properties. These cells are known to synthesize and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cells synthesizing such cytokines do so when they are not in the contractile state, but rather can be secreted from cells that are actively proliferating [347]. ASM cells are able to release both Th1 and Th2 cytokines including IL-5, GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-12 and IFN- γ and the release of these cytokines increases after exposure of the ASM cells to human atopic asthma sensitized serum [348]. Upon stimulation of human

ASM cells with the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α , NF- κ B is activated and can drive the expression of IL-6 and CCL5 [349]. Furthermore, in the presence of the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, ASM cells release the eosinophil chemoattractant eotaxin [350]. Exposure of ASM cells to IFN- γ causes the release of the neutrophil chemoattractant IL-8, which was inhibited in the presence of Th2 cytokines [351]. S1P stimulation of ASM cells can also induce the release of IL-6 from these cells [352]. In a similar fashion to the epithelium, the role of smooth muscle cells in promoting airway inflammation is becoming more evident.

1.9 Airway Smooth Muscle – Epithelial Interaction

1.9.1 Epithelial Derived Relaxing Factor

In the early 1980s, it was determined that the vascular endothelium released a relaxing factor that reduced tension of the vascular smooth muscle after muscarinic agonist stimulation [353]. Many laboratories focused their attention on this field, which eventually led to a 1998 Nobel Prize awarded to three investigators for the discovery of the soluble gas, NO, as a critical regulator of vascular tone [354,355]. In the mid 1980s, researchers began exploring whether such an interaction existed in the airway. It was demonstrated that, indeed, removal of the airway epithelium augmented the contractile response to several agonists in the canine airway [356]. Another study explored this phenomenon in bovine trachealis preparations, but observed no change in the contractility of ASM tissue preparations that were lacking the epithelial layer [357]. However, these experiments revealed that the epithelium released measurable quantities of both NO and PGE₂ upon stimulation with histamine [357]. In rat detrusor smooth muscle, the urothelium also has the ability to prevent contractions to carbachol through an NO and COX dependent mechanism [358]. Furthermore, in guinea-pig airway preparations, arachidonic acid

induced contraction of the smooth muscle in epithelial denuded samples, but caused relaxation in those with the epithelium present [359]. Similarly, in guinea-pig airway preparations, histamine induced the release of PGE_2 in epithelial intact samples and caused a greater contraction in the denuded group [360]. Besides agonist-induced release of COX metabolites, mechanical irritation of the epithelium may also cause the secretion of PGE_2 [361]. Some researchers have postulated that the absence of the epithelium may allow for a greater quantity of contractile agonists to reach the smooth muscle and this could explain another mechanism by which the epithelium causes a less contractile smooth muscle [362].

However, this line of research has not produced clear results. One study demonstrated that epithelial cells can induce increases on contraction of tracheal rings in the presence of eosinophilic derived major basic protein [363]. Another group showed that cultured guinea-pig respiratory epithelial cells may cause the constriction of tracheal preparations *in vitro* [364]. Furthermore, tracheal contractions to capsaicin were augmented in guinea-pig preparations that contained intact epithelium [365].

Although the majority of publications point towards consensus that a relaxing factor is indeed secreted by the epithelium, the jury is still out with regards to what that factor(s) may be. Vanhoutte has extensively reviewed the possibilities [366], and will be briefly described here. Besides the role of arachidonic acid metabolites such as PGE₂, NO was the first candidate of an epithelial derived relaxing factor due to its importance as a relaxant of the vasculature [354]. NO can indeed cause relaxation of the airway [367]. Through the use of inhibitors of the NO producing enzyme NO synthase, Munakata et al demonstrated that NO was not responsible for the relaxing effect of the epithelium [368]. Another study showed that NO was responsible for

the ASM cell relaxing properties of brain natriuretic peptide, but that it was not epithelial derived, postulating the involvement of an intermediate cell [369].

Cytokines may play an important role in modulating the ASM cell tone and many are associated with asthma. Pro-inflammatory cytokines may activate COX-2 [370,371] or NOS [372] to modulate the smooth muscle contraction.

Finally, neurotransmitters have been postulated to modulate ASM cell contractility. Acetylcholine can be released by airway epithelial cells [373] and can cause bronchial relaxation at low doses on isolated bronchi that have been pre-contracted with histamine that is likely due to the release of NO from the epithelium [369].

1.9.2 Epithelial Induced Proliferation

The epithelium has the ability to produce a variety of mitogens including EGFR ligands amphiregulin, HB-EGF, EGF, transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α), epiregulin, β -cellulin and heregulin [374-377]. Furthermore, the airway epithelium has been shown to secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [378], PDGF [379], FGF [380] and insulin-like growth factor [381]. All of these ligands have the ability to induce proliferative responses of ASM cells and may be important drivers of asthma pathogenesis. VEGF expression is augmented in epithelial cells derived from asthmatic subjects [382]. In 2009 Malavia et al described the proliferative effect of epithelial cells on airway smooth muscle cells *in vitro*, demonstrating that injured bronchial epithelial cells further augment the rate of proliferation of ASM cells. The effect of injured epithelial induced ASM cell proliferation was dependent on IL-6, IL-8, MCP-1 and MMP-9 whereas uninjured epithelial cell induced proliferation was only sensitive to 10µM GM6001 (MMP inhibitor) [383]. However it is important to note that the inhibition constant for GM6001 against MMPs is in the low nanomolar range and that the dose utilized in this study is rather high [384]. Furthermore, the authors did not describe how the metalloproteinase caused an up-regulation in ASM cell proliferation [383]. Potential mechanisms by which this could occur are through the cleavage of growth factors from the plasma membrane by the MMP [385], or by direct activation of the protease activated receptor (PAR) [383,386]. It has been shown that chitinase-3-like protein 1 can be expressed by epithelial cells, it is increased in a model of airway exacerbation [387] and it can induce proliferation of ASM cells that is greater in myocytes derived from asthmatic subjects [388]. Another study that explored epithelial and ASM cell cocultures showed that if the epithelial cells received house dust mite (HDM) extract induced greater induction in ASM cell proliferation after co-culture if they were derived from severe asthmatic donors. This study also demonstrated that the evoked response to HDM stimulation was mediated by increased activation of the CysLTR₁ and the authors reported augmented CysLT producing enzyme 5-LO and FLAP in epithelial cells subjected to HDM stimulation [389]. To date, the mechanism by which epithelial cells induce ASM cell proliferation is largely unknown. Besides the secretion of soluble growth factors by the epithelium, it is possible that cargo within microvesicles and exosomes could induce smooth muscle proliferation. For example, tissue factor can induce PAR-2 activation and is secreted in exosomes derived from epithelial cells [390]. The role of miRNAs in epithelial induced proliferation of ASM cells has yet to be explored and represents a line of investigation that motivated experiments discussed later in this dissertation.

1.9.3 Endothelial : Smooth Muscle Interactions

Parallels can be drawn when comparing the vasculature and the airways. As discussed previously, the endothelium regulates vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) tone through the
release of NO [354]. Upon reacting with VSMCs, NO induced guarylate cyclase generates cGMP which is the effector molecule mediating relaxation [355]. cGMP activates protein kinase G which phosphorylates Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channels, causing membrane hyperpolarization and inactivation of voltage gated Ca^{2+} channels [391]. Interestingly, this relaxation step involved the release of sarcoplasmic reticulum intracellular calcium by ryanodine receptor activation, an event thought to trigger contraction in muscle cells. Besides inducing relaxation in VSMCs, NO can also reduce proliferation through decreased cyclin A and increased nuclear translocation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21 and p27 [392]. PKG can also attenuate proliferation through the induction of myocardin expression which may modulate the phenotype of the VSMC to be more contractile [393]. Besides NO, endothelin-1 (ET-1) is an important peptide that regulates VSMC contractility. VSMCs express both ET_A and ET_B receptors which are G-protein coupled and respond to the agonist by inducing contractions within the cell [394]. After release of ET-1, the protein can bind to ET_B receptors expressed on the endothelium itself, allowing internalization of the receptor representing a mechanism by which homeostasis is maintained after a release of ET-1 [395]. Work has been conducted exploring the interaction of NO and ET-1. In porcine blood vessels, NO induced cGMP reduced the secretion of ET-1 [396] and this likely occurs through a reduction in ET-1 mRNA production [397].

One important difference between the epithelial:ASM cell and the endothelial:VSMC is the anatomical relationship of the cell types. Endothelial cells have the ability to communicate with neighbouring VSMCs through myoendothelial junctions (MEJs). MEJs allow for small molecules of less than 1kDa to be transmitted from one cell to the other without the need for the molecule to be secreted [398]. Interestingly, MEJs have been examined in the context of endothelial regulation of VSMC phenotype. One group showed that the co-culture of endothelial

cells with pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells on opposing sides of a Transwell[®] permeable support allowed for the formation of direct contact between the two cell types. Furthermore, the cell contacts contained MEJs that were responsible for mediating TGF- β transfer from the endothelial cell, which skewed the myocytes towards a more contractile, differentiated cell [399]. In a similar study, serotonin was shown to travel through the MEJ, inducing the expression of contractile gene expression through TGF- β activity within the myocyte [400]. These studies provide insights regarding the importance of direct contact co-culture of the two cell types and may represent an important difference when considering culture models of tubular structures. In the airway, there is probably no direct contact between ASM cells and epithelial cells and so the importance of cellular junctions may not be of importance in this system. Finally, endothelial cells have been shown to communicate with VSMCs through the release of microvesicular bodies. Exosomes are endocyte-derived vesicles that can carry cargo including protein, mRNA and miRNA. VSMCs have been shown to secrete exosomes containing miR-143 that may drive angiogenesis in a model of pulmonary hypertension [401]. Due to the lack of direct contact of airway epithelial cells and ASM cells, the relative importance of exosomal communication is possibly greater in the airway structural cell communication.

1.10 Summary

Clearly, asthma is a diverse disease with a wide variety of cells and signalling molecules that have been implicated. Better understanding of this syndrome will lead to more personalized clinical approaches to improve symptoms and prevent exacerbations. Due to the limitations of experimentation on human subjects, researchers often turn to cell culture models to uncover insights into asthma pathogenesis.

In the work of this dissertation, we aimed to better understand airway epithelial cell cultures derived from human subjects in regards to how they signal and interact with other cell types. More specifically, the first part of the experimental work explores the bioactive signalling lipid S1P and how this molecule instructs the epithelium to release the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-8. This was of interest due to the fact that persistent neutrophilia in the airways of severe asthmatics likely plays a significant role in driving airway remodeling. This sub-set of asthma is poorly treated and can lead to mortality and thus new therapeutic targets are necessary to treat such patients. The experiments conducted were to examine the intracellular signalling events that occur within epithelial cells upon introduction of S1P, and to understand which receptors and downstream signalling targets are involved in releasing the neutrophil chemoattractant, IL-8. The second part of this dissertation has a two-fold purpose. We have continued to examine airway epithelial cells, but focused on their ability to alter smooth muscle properties. Of interest to asthma pathology, ASM is increased in mass and this may be due to proliferation of preexisting smooth muscle cells. All mitogens of ASM cells are therefore of great interest to the field of asthma research and we have explored how epithelial cells stimulate proliferation within these cells. The second aim of this work was to understand how the epithelium modulates smooth contractility. Regulating airway tone is the functional property of smooth muscle and in asthma it is possible that the contractility of this tissue is modified. We were therefore interested in understanding how epithelial cells modulate the force generating ability of these cells and we explored the phenotypic regulation after co-culture with epithelial cells.

1.11 Hypothesis

Airway epithelial cells contribute to the release of IL-8 through S1P activation of specific S1PRs and downstream signalling. Furthermore, epithelial cells modulate the phenotype of ASM cells away from the contractile, and towards the proliferative phenotype.

Figure 6. Epithelial cells contribute to inflammation and ASM cell structural and molecular remodeling.



CHAPTER 2:

Sphingosine 1-Phosphate (S1P) Induced Interleukin-8 (IL- 8) Release Is Mediated by S1P Receptor 2 and Nuclear Factor kB in BEAS-2B Cells

2.1 Prologue

The purpose of this study was to examine the molecular mechanisms by which S1P induces IL-8 release from airway epithelial cells. Specifically, we were interested in identifying S1PRs that mediate this process to explore the potential for novel antagonists as therapeutic agents for the treatment of asthma. We also wished to elucidate the transcription factors involved in this process as well as to understand the role of the ROS/MMP/EGFR transactivation signalling pathway in mediating this event. To do this, we utilized the bronchial epithelial cell line, BEAS-2B, and measured protein secretion into the cell culture supernatant as a model of epithelial derived cytokine release.

Hypothesis: S1P-induced IL-8 release involves the activation of specific S1PRs, transactivation of the EGFR and is mediated through transcription factor activity in BEAS-2B cells.

2.2 Abstract

The airway epithelium may release pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the asthmatic airway. Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) is a bioactive lipid, increased in the airways of asthmatics that may trigger the release of the potent neutrophil chemoattractant Interleukin-8 (IL-8) by epithelial cells. S1P is a ligand for 5 G protein-coupled receptors, S1PR1-5. We wished to explore the mechanisms of S1P induced IL-8 secretion with regard to the receptor(s) and downstream signalling events involved. Our results indicate that S1P induced IL-8 release is mediated by S1PR2 and the transcription factor NF- κ B. Since the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been implicated in IL-8 release in response to activation of other G protein-coupled receptors, we examined their importance in S1P induced IL-8 release and established that they are not involved. This study reveals S1PR2 and NF- κ B as potential therapeutic targets in neutrophilic airway diseases such as severe asthma.

2.3 Introduction

S1P is a bioactive lipid important in immune system regulation, angiogenesis, migration and proliferation [402-405]. S1P is produced when sphingosine, derived from ceramide, is phosphorylated by sphingosine kinase I or II. There are currently five known S1P receptors (S1PR1-5) and these are G protein-coupled. S1P binding to these receptors can elicit diverse signalling mechanisms owing to the heterogeneity of these receptors and their coupling to different G proteins. Synthesis of S1P occurs in many cell types including platelets and mast cells [406,407]. S1P has been shown to be increased in the bronchoalveolar lavage of asthmatics upon segmental allergen challenge when compared to healthy control subjects [352]. S1P has also been shown to induce contraction of airway smooth muscle cells, strengthening its potential role as an important lipid mediator in the asthmatic airway [205].

Neutrophils, among other leukocytes, play an important role in asthma pathogenesis. When compared to healthy control subjects, severe asthmatics possess more neutrophils in the induced sputum [10]. It is well established that neutrophils undergo chemotaxis towards an increasing gradient of the chemokine interleukin 8 (IL-8), as reviewed by Baggiolini et al. [63]. IL-8 release from structural cells in the lung is therefore a possible avenue by which neutrophil recruitment occurs in the asthmatic airway.

S1P has previously been shown to induce IL-8 release from airway epithelial cells in a phospholipase D dependent manner [53,54]. We wished to explore which S1P receptor(s) are involved in S1P induced IL-8 release from airway epithelial cells, as receptor inhibition could reveal novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of severe asthma. Transactivation of the EGFR

is a requirement for leukotriene D4 (LTD₄)-induced release of IL-8 from airway epithelial cells [408]. LTD₄ also induces transactivation of the EGFR in airway smooth muscle cells and this phenomenon is dependent on the generation of ROS [115]. Because LTD₄ is an agonist of the cysteinyl leukotriene Receptors 1 and 2 (CysLTR1/2) and these receptors are G protein-coupled, we hypothesized that S1P may mediate IL-8 release via ROS dependent transactivation of the EGFR and explored this hypothesis in the context of the airway epithelium. Finally we examined the role of IL-8 transcription factors in the process of S1P induced IL-8 release.

2.4 Materials and Methods

Reagents

W 123 (10 μ M), JTE 013 (1-10 μ M), CAY 10444 (10 μ M), specific inhibitors of S1PR1, S1PR2, S1PR3 respectively, S1P (0.1-10 μ M), and the EGFR inhibitor tryphostin AG-1478 (0.3-3 μ M) were all obtained from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Helenalin (1 μ M), inhibitor of NF- κ B, pEGFR antibody (p-Tyr-845 SC-23420-R) and total EGFR antibody (SC-03) were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). SR 11302 (1 μ M), inhibitor of activator protein-1 (AP-1) and SEW 2871 (10 μ m), agonist of S1PR1 were obtained from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK). Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) (10 μ M) and N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) (1mM) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Luciferase reporter lysis buffer was obtained from Promega (Madison, WI, USA). GM6001 (25 μ M), the broad-spectrum hydroxamic acid inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and TAPI-1 (10 μ M), inhibitor or MMPs and tumor necrosis factor- α converting enzyme (TACE) were obtained from Calbiochem (La Jolla, CA). Fura-2 AM (10 μ M), and pluronic F127 (0.02%) were obtained from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, Ca).

Cell Culture

Human BEAS-2B cells (ATCC, Manassas, VA) were grown in DMEM:F12 10%FBS 100 U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin and 2500ng/ml amphotericin B (PSA) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) in 75cm² tissue culture flasks at 37° C and 5% CO₂. Culture medium was changed every 2 days and cells were seeded into new flasks when approximately 80% confluent. Cells were detached by incubation with 0.25% trypsin (Sigma-Aldrich). For experimentation, cells were seeded in 6 well plates at a density of 50 000 cells per well and grown for 3 days in culture medium. Cells were serum-starved for 24 hours in DMEM:F12 0.1%BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) with

PSA. Starvation medium was changed prior to all experiments and culture supernatant was collected at the end of the incubation period.

For NF-κB luciferase reporter assays, cells were grown in DMEM 10%FBS 100 U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin and hygromycin B. Starvation medium (CnT-17 basal medium) (CellNTec, Bern, Switzerland) was not changed prior to S1P stimulation. For intracellular calcium measurements, primary human airway smooth muscle cells obtained from lung transplant donors were cultured in DMEM 10%FBS with PSA and used between passages 3 and 5.

Measurement of IL-8

IL-8 concentration in the culture supernatant was measured after a 4 hour incubation, with or without S1P, and respective inhibitors by ELISA using the CXCL8 Duoset (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA).

Measurement of ROS

Cells were seeded in dark-walled 96 well plates at a density of 10 000 cells per well in starvation medium for 24 hours. The cells were washed with Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (137mM NaCl, 4.2 mM NaHCO₃, 10mM glucose, 3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.4mM KH₂PO₄, 1.3mM CaCl₂, 0.5mM MgCl₂, 0.8 mM MgSO₄, 5mM HEPES) and incubated with fresh HBSS containing 10 μ M 2',7'-Dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes. Cells were washed with fresh HBSS and the baseline fluorescence intensity was read using a fluorescent plate reader (Tecan iControl, Männedorf, Schweiz, Switzerland) (Excitation = 485nm, Emission = 530nm). The cells were stimulated with S1P 1 μ M or vehicle and fluorescence intensity was read every 5 minutes for 1 hour.

EGFR Knockdown by siRNA Transfection

BEAS-2B cells were seeded in 6 well plates at a density of 25 000 cells per well in DMEM:F12 10%FBS (Invitrogen) without antibiotics. 12 hours later the medium was aspirated and 9pmols of scrambled (SC-37007) or EGFR specific (SC-29301) siRNA with 2µl of siRNA transfection reagent (SC-29528) in 1ml transfection medium (SC-36868) was added to the cells for 5 hours. (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) 1ml of DMEM:F12 20%FBS with PSA (Invitrogen) was added and the cells were incubated for another 18 hours. Medium was changed into DMEM:F12 10%FBS with PSA (Invitrogen) for 24 hours and cells were serum starved in DMEM:F12 0.1%BSA with PSA (Invitrogen) for 24 hours. Starvation medium was replaced and cells were stimulated with 1µM S1P or vehicle for 4 hours.

Western Blot

Cells were washed with ice-cold PBS (Invitrogen) following experimentation and lysed with icecold protein extraction buffer containing 50mM TrisHCl (pH 8), 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS. Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13 000 RPM for 3 minutes and total protein supernatant was collected for SDS-PAGE (8%). 20 to 30µg of protein diluted in distilled water and loading dye were boiled together for 6 minutes and equal volumes of sample were loaded onto the separating gel. After separation, proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA) for immunoblotting. The membrane was blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in a 2% BSA in Tris-buffered saline (TBS). Membranes were incubated with primary antibody (total-EGFR) diluted 1:2000 in TBS containing Tween-20 (TBST) overnight at 4°C. Membranes were incubated with secondary antibody (goat, anti-rabbit-HRP) diluted 1:5000 in TBST for 1 hour at room temperature. Western blots were quantified using the ECL Plus Western blotting detection system (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK).

NF-kB Luciferase reporter assay

BEAS-2B cells were stably transfected with a plasmid containing a κ B (GGGGACTTTCC) response element upstream of a hygromycin B resistance gene and a firefly luciferase construct. These cells were seeded into 24 well plates at a density of 50 000 cells per well in DMEM 10% FBS hygromycin B for 24 hours. Cells were serum starved overnight in CNT-17 basal medium (CellNTec) and stimulated with 1µM S1P for 4 hours. Other cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with 1µM JTE 013 and then stimulated with 1µM S1P for 4 hours. Reporter lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was used to lyse the cells. Whole cell lysates were collected and spun at 13 000 RPM for 3 minutes. 10µl of supernatant was transferred to a 96 well plate for reading in the Tecan iControl luciferase system.

Measurement of Intracellular Calcium

Human airway smooth muscle cells were seeded onto sterilized glass cover slips at a density of 25 000 cells per well in 6 well tissue culture plates in DMEM 10% FBS with PSA (Invitrogen). After one day, cells were serum deprived in DMEM 0.5% FBS 1%PSA medium for 3 days before analysis of intracellular calcium responses to 1µM S1P using 10µM Fura2-AM. To mediate loading of the Fura-2 AM, pluronic F127 (0.02%), along with the 10µM Fura-2 AM was dissolved in HBSS for 30 minutes at 37°C. Any unloaded Fura-2 AM was washed out with HBSS. Cover slips were loaded into a Leiden chamber (Medical Systems, Greenville, NY) and an inverted fluorescent microscope with a 40X oil-immersion objective (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) was used to measure signals emitted at 510nm using a CCD camera (CoolSnapPro; Media Cybernetics, Bethesda, MD) controlled by Image Master software (Photon Technology International, Birmingham, NJ). Data was acquired as previously described [409].

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out in the GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). All data are expressed as means + 1SE, with \geq 3 independent observations per experiment. To test for statistical differences, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test was applied to experiments with \geq 2 groups. For experiments with only 2 groups, we applied Student's unpaired T-test. For comparison of fluorescence intensity curves, baseline values were normalized prior to S1P stimulation and a repeated measures ANOVA was applied. P values < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

2.5 Results

S1P induces IL-8 release

To confirm that S1P induces IL-8 release from BEAS-2B cells, the cells were incubated with various concentrations of S1P for 4 hours. ELISA analysis of the culture supernatant showed a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 release with S1P stimulation that was significant at a concentration of 1μ M (Fig. 1). For subsequent experiments, 1μ M S1P was used to stimulate IL-8 release.

S1P induced IL-8 release is mediated by S1PR2

To determine if S1P induced IL-8 release from airway epithelial cells is mediated by a specific S1P receptor, or group of receptors, BEAS-2B cells were pre-treated with specific S1P receptor inhibitors for 30 minutes prior to stimulation with S1P. W123, a competitive antagonist of S1PR1 (K_i =0.69µM), JTE 013, a selective antagonist of S1PR2 (IC_{50} =17nM), and CAY10444, a selective antagonist of S1PR3 (IC_{50} =4.6µM) were used as inhibitors of their respective receptors. Pre-treatment with JTE 013, but not with W123 or CAY10444, significantly inhibited S1P induced IL-8 release (Fig. 2 A). To ensure that S1PR1 and S1PR3 were not involved in this pathway, we confirmed these results by further experimentation. SEW 2871, a selective agonist of S1PR1 (EC_{50} =13nM) failed to elicit an increase in IL-8 release above vehicle treated cells (Fig 2 A). To ensure that CAY 10444 was active as a S1PR3 inhibitor at 10µM, we cultured human airway smooth muscle cells on glass coverslips and measured their intracellular calcium responses to S1P (1µM) stimulation. Pre-treating the cells with CAY 10444 abolished the S1P induced calcium responses in these cells, suggesting that the inhibitor was indeed active at these concentrations (Fig. 2 E). CAY 10444 treatment appeared to cause an increase in resting

intracellular calcium levels in human airway smooth muscle cells, again indicating the biological effect of CAY 10444 at a concentration of $10\mu M$ (Fig 2 D).

NF-кВ Mediates S1P Induced IL-8 Release

IL-8 synthesis is driven primarily by the transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1. We wished to assess if pharmacological inhibition of these transcription factors affected IL-8 release. BEAS-2B cells were pre-treated for 30 minutes with Helenalin or SR11302, specific inhibitors of NF- κ B [410] and AP-1 [411] respectively, prior to S1P stimulation for 4 hours. Pre-treatment with Helenalin but not with SR11302 inhibited IL-8 release (Fig. 3 A-B). To further confirm that AP-1 is not involved in S1P induced IL-8 release, we pre-treated cells with a cell permeant peptide fragment of the AP-1 monomer c-JUN. The peptide fragment contained amino acids 33-57 of the JNK binding domain and disrupts the interaction of JNK and c-JUN, preventing c-JUN phosphorylation. The peptide inhibitor did not significantly reduce S1P induced IL-8 release (Fig. 3 C). However there was a trend towards a decrease in IL-8 secretion, raising the possibility that AP-1 may play a minor role in S1P induced IL-8 release. We conclude from these experiments that NF- κ B is the dominant transcription factor determining the magnitude of S1P induced IL-8 release.

SIP induced NF-*kB* activity is dependent on SIPR2

To further confirm that NF- κ B drives S1P induced IL-8 release, we used a BEAS-2B NF- κ B luciferase reporter cell line. Stimulation of the reporter cells with S1P for 4 hours induced a significant increase in luciferase activity (Fig 4). Since S1P induced IL-8 release was dependent on S1PR2, we evaluated whether S1P induced NF- κ B activation was also dependent on S1PR2. Pre-treatment of the BEAS-2B NF- κ B luciferase reporter cells with JTE 013 significantly

reduced the S1P induced luciferase activity (Fig 4). These results indicate that S1P mediates its activation of NF-κB via S1PR2.

S1P induced IL-8 release is not dependent on the epidermal growth factor receptor

Since activation of the EGFR can be upstream of IL-8 release [408] we wished to explore if EGFR transactivation is induced by S1P stimulation. Pretreatment with EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor AG1478 for 30 minutes prior to S1P stimulation failed to reduce S1P induced IL-8 release at reasonable concentrations for EGFR inhibition (Fig 5 A). To confirm these results we used siRNA against the EGFR and knocked down 54% of the constitutively expressed protein (Fig 5 B). Upon S1P stimulation, there was no difference in IL-8 release between siEGFR and scrambled siRNA groups (Fig 5 B). We conclude that the transactivation of the EGFR is not involved in mediating S1P induced IL-8 secretion from airway epithelial cells. In support of this conclusion, we failed to measure an increase in phosphorylation of tyrosine-845 by western blot after stimulation with S1P (data not shown).

We sought further supportive evidence that EGFR transactivation does not occur in S1P induced IL-8 release exists. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) often play a role in transactivating the EGFR by causing the release of pro-forms of EGFR ligands [408,412,413]. GM6001 and TAPI-1, inhibitors of MMPs did not inhibit S1P induced IL-8 release (Fig 5 D) pointing towards an EGFR-independent mechanism.

SIP induced IL-8 release is not mediated by reactive oxygen species

To determine if the generation of ROS mediates S1P induced IL-8 release, we measured the production of ROS in BEAS-2B cells using the fluorescent ROS probe DCFH, a non-specific probe for a variety of oxidants. S1P did not induce significant increases in fluorescence (Fig 6

A). To further confirm that S1P does not induce IL-8 release through the production of ROS, we incubated BEAS-2B cells with the ROS scavenger N-acetyl cysteine for 30 minutes and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours. N-acetyl cysteine can increase the intracellular levels of glutathione and thus act as an anti-oxidant [414]. ELISA analysis for IL-8 revealed that pretreatment with the antioxidant NAC is unable to decrease S1P induced IL-8 release (Fig 6 B). Pretreatment for 30 minutes with the general NADPH oxidase inhibitor DPI was also unable to inhibit S1P induced IL-8 release (Fig 6 C). Taken together, these results indicate that S1P induced IL-8 release is not dependent on the generation of ROS.

S1P induces IL-8 release in BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were stimulated with various concentrations of S1P for 4 hours. Culture supernatant was analyzed for concentration of IL-8 by ELISA (n=5). Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons. *P<0.05



S1P induced IL-8 release is mediated by S1PR2 in BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with (A) W 123 (n=5), (B) JTE 013 (n=5) or (C) CAY 10444 (n=8), specific inhibitors of S1PR1, S1PR2 and S1PR3 respectively and then stimulated with 1 μ M S1P or vehicle for 4 hours. Culture supernatant was analyzed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. Human airway smooth muscle cells were loaded with 10 μ M Fura 2-AM, then treated with CAY10444 or vehicle (n=5) for 30 minutes and intracellular calcium was measured by ratiometric fluorescence microscopy (E). Cells were stimulated with S1P (n=5) and increases in resting intracellular calcium were recorded (F). Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons. **P<0.01, ***P<0.001

(Figure on subsequent page):



S1P induced IL-8 release is mediated by NF- κ B in BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were pretreated with (A) Helenalin (n=3), (B) SR 11302 (n=3), or c-JUN peptide (n=3) inhibitors of NF- κ B, AP-1 and AP-1 respectively, for 30 minutes and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours. Culture supernatants were analyzed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons. *P<0.05, ***P<0.001



S1P induced Nf- κ B activity is mediated by S1PR2 in BEAS-2B cells. Nf- κ B luciferase reporter BEAS-2B cells were pretreated with S1PR2 inhibitor JTE 013 for 30 minutes before stimulation with S1P for 4 hours (n=3). Cell lysates were analyzed for luciferase activity by Tecan iControl plate reader. Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons. ***P<0.001



SIP induced IL-8 release is not dependent on the EGFR in BEAS-2B cells. (A) BEAS-2B cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with the specific EGFR inhibitor AG 1478 and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours (n=7). Culture medium was assessed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. (B) BEAS-2B cells transfected with control or EGFR specific siRNA were stimulated with S1P for 4 hours (n=3). Culture medium was assessed for concentrations of IL-8 by ELISA (left). Knock-down efficacy is shown by western blot for total EGFR (170kDa) with GAPDH loading control (37kDa) (right). Quantification of total EGFR bands is shown (n=4) (bottom left). (C) BEAS-2B cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with MMP inhibitors GM6001 or TAPI-1 and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours (n=3). Culture medium was assessed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.

(Figure on subsequent page):



S1P induced IL-8 release is not dependent on the production of reactive oxygen species in BEAS-2B cells. (A) BEAS-2B cells were incubated for 30 minutes with 10μM DCFH-DA. Free probe was washed with Hank's buffer and baseline fluorescence was measured at 530nm. Cells were then stimulated with S1P or vehicle and fluorescence intensity was measured every 5 minutes for one hour (n=3). Analysis using repeated measures ANOVA revealed no difference between the two curves. (B) BEAS-2B cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with the general antioxidant Nacetyl cysteine (NAC) and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours (n=5). Culture medium was assessed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. (C) BEAS-2B cells were pretreated for 30 minutes with the NADPH oxidase inhibitor DPI and then stimulated with S1P for 4 hours (n=5). Culture medium was assessed for IL-8 concentration by ELISA. (n=5). Data are representative of means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons *P<0.05, **P<0.01

(Figure on subsequent page):







2.6 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the potential role of various S1P receptors and the mechanisms of transduction of the pro-inflammatory response of the airway epithelium to S1P. S1P induced IL-8 secretion represents an important avenue for the recruitment of neutrophils to the airways, particularly in asthma. Inhibition of this phenomenon could lead to improvement of lung function in severe asthmatic patients, and improve their symptoms. We have identified S1PR2 as a receptor responsible for transducing the S1P signal from the cell exterior, causing IL-8 secretion from BEAS-2B cells.

S1P is an important lipid mediator that has been implicated in a number of biological processes. It has been shown to be present in increased concentrations in the airways of asthmatic subjects, where it may act on the lining epithelial cells. S1P has been shown previously to trigger IL-8 secretion by cultured epithelial cells [53,54]. To confirm these previous findings, we stimulated BEAS-2B cells with various concentrations of S1P to construct a concentration-response relationship. Our results demonstrate that 1µM S1P is sufficient to cause a significant increase in IL-8 secretion, consistent with previously published data [53].

A study by Milara et al. examined the effect of S1P on IL-8 secretion from another airway epithelial cell line, A549. Milara et al. demonstrated that S1P induced the release of IL-8 from A549 cells at later time points than we show here in BEAS-2B cells. Also, A549 cells secreted much more IL-8 at basal levels than did BEAS-2B cells in this study. The conditioned medium from A549 cells recruited neutrophils in a Boyden chamber assay [415]. Milara et al. also implicated phospholipase D signalling in S1P induced IL-8 release in A549 cells, which has been described in BEAS2-B cells by Wang et al [54].

Following identification of S1PR2 and NF- κ B as important mediators of S1P induced IL-8 release, the question of how this receptor signals to the transcription factor arises. Others have described the effect of S1PR2 blockade on various physiological processes; for example antagonizing S1PR2 in human bronchial epithelial cells inhibits the extrusion of apoptotic cells [416]. S1P receptor G protein coupling is complex, with S1PR2 coupling to a variety of $G\alpha$ subunits including $G\alpha_s$, $G\alpha_i$, $G\alpha_{12/13}$, $G\alpha_a$ and G_0 [417]. Increased cell survival mediated by NF- κB stimulation by S1P in HeLa cells is transduced through S1PR2 coupling with $G\alpha_i$ [418]. Furthermore, evidence exists that S1P induced IL-8 secretion is $G\alpha_i$ and Rho dependent which in turn drives phospholipase D activation [53]. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a ligand for toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), stimulates RhoA, which then activates NF-kB to release IL-8 in cervical stromal cells [419]. In the endothelium, activation of S1PR2 leads to activation of the small GTPase Rho [420]. Recently it was shown that LPS and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a)induced endothelial inflammation is mediated by S1PR2, coupling to the transcription factor NF- κB [421]. This literature supports the model that S1PR2 activation can drive NF- κB to upregulate IL-8 synthesis and secretion in airway epithelial cells.

S1P administration in vivo to mice has been shown to increase airway reactivity to methacholine challenge, increase airway eosinophil recruitment, and increase interleukin (IL)-4, IL-13 and IL-17 in the BAL. In this study, mice were treated with S1P subcutaneously before analysis of airway function [201]. This study did not examine the production of chemokines associated with airway neutrophil recruitment, but adds strength to the rationale for studying this molecule in the context of lung disease by demonstrating that S1P itself can induce airway hyperresponsiveness. Inhibition of mouse lung S1PR2 with JTE 013 inhibited S1P induced pulmonary vasoconstriction, another S1PR2/Rho kinase dependent phenomenon [422].

S1P can induce bronchial smooth muscle contraction which has been shown to be dependent on S1PR2 and rho kinase [423]. Rho kinase has also been implicated in airway smooth muscle contraction from ovalbumin challenged mice, linking rho kinase activity to an allergic model of asthma [424]. This literature provides evidence that S1PR2/Rho kinase signalling could drive asthma pathogenesis not only by augmenting neutrophilic inflammation, but also by increasing airway smooth muscle contractility. Inhibition of S1PR2 in the lung of severe asthmatics could therefore cause relaxation of the bronchial smooth muscle and resolve inflammation strengthening the rationale for the use of JTE 013 as a pharmacological tool for the treatment of non-eosinophilic asthma.

Oxidative stress is an important mediator of other GPCR pathways [425,426] and is involved in asthma pathogenesis [427,428]. The NADPH oxidase enzyme is a large producer of oxidative stress in airway epithelial cells. A functional NADPH oxidase has been demonstrated to be essential in NF-kB activation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infected mouse phagocytic leukocytes [429]. It has been previously shown that oxidative stress from NADPH oxidase activation can transactivate the EGFR [115]. ROS generation within the cell is able to inactivate protein tyrosine phosphatases by oxidation of cysteine residues, shifting the EGFR to a more activated state [430]. Specific inhibition of the NADPH oxidase, or use of a general anti-oxidant failed to inhibit S1P induced IL-8 secretion, nor did we measure any significant increase in cellular oxidative stress after S1P administration. In contrast hematopoietic progenitor cells egress the bone marrow under the influence of S1P in a ROS dependent manner via signalling through S1PR1 [431]. Similarly cardiac fibrosis is mediated by S1PR3 and oxidative stress in sphingosine kinase 1 transgenic mice [432]. Since the signal for IL-8 release in our experiments

was S1PR2-dependent, it suggests that the role of ROS in S1P receptor signalling may be receptor specific.

We have tested and rejected the hypothesis that EGFR transactivation mediates S1P induced IL-8 release in BEAS-B cells. Pharmacological inhibition of the EGFR with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor AG 1478 failed to inhibit S1P induced IL-8 secretion at concentrations appropriate for selective EGFR inhibition. The IC₅₀ of AG1478 for inhibition of the EGFR is 3nM [433] Knockdown of the EGFR using small interfering RNA failed inhibit IL-8 release despite a 54% reduction in EGFR protein. Other studies have noted that AG 1478 may have non-specific effects [434,435]. We also failed to detect any increases in phosphorylation of tyrosine 845 of the EGFR after stimulation with S1P, a further indication that transactivation of the EGFR by S1P does not occur. This demonstrates that there is not a common mechanism of IL-8 secretion induced by either S1P or LTD₄ in BEAS-2B cells.

This study has shown that, *in vitro*, pharmacological inhibition of S1PR2 decreases S1P induced IL-8 release from BEAS-2B cells, and that S1PR2 is upstream of NF-κB in this phenomenon. Future translational work *in vivo* using S1PR2 antagonists in animal models of asthma will be of great interest.

CHAPTER 3:

Airway Epithelial Cells Reduce the Contractile Phenotype of

Airway Smooth Muscle Cells

3.1 Prologue

Upon examining processes by which epithelial cells are stimulated to release pro-inflammatory cytokines, we wished to explore the effects that mediators derived from these cells may have on airway smooth muscle cell properties relevant to asthma. Muscle cells are important regulators of airway diameter and as such their contraction is linked to excessive airway narrowing in asthma and for the phenomenon of airway hyperresponsiveness to inhaled methacholine. Since the epithelium is the first tissue to experience the effects of inhaled airborne triggers of asthma, it is logical to address the interactions that this tissue has with ASM. To further this area of research, we turned to co-culture models in which ASM cells were cultured together with both the epithelial cell line BEAS-2B as well as with normal human bronchial epithelial cells. Since ASM cell force generation is a critical component of airway constriction, we were interested in examining the effect of epithelial co-culture on ASM cell contractile properties.

Hypothesis: ASM cells lose the contractile phenotype when co-cultured with airway epithelial cells.

3.2 Abstract

The airway epithelium is thought to participate in airway wall remodelling. Since asthma is associated with airway narrowing, the contractile status of airway smooth muscle (ASM) may be an important determinant in the susceptibility of exacerbation. ASM is likely phenotypically regulated, existing in either a proliferative or a contractile state. Epithelial cells are able to drive the proliferation of ASM cells and thus we hypothesized that the epithelium may reduce the contractile phenotype of these cells. We utilized in-vitro co-cultures of primary human ASM cells with epithelial cells deriving from primary bronchial epithelium or the cell line BEAS-2B. After co-culture or incubation with conditioned medium from epithelial cultures, we examined three markers of the contractile phenotype. We measured force production by traction microscopy, gene and protein expression by qPCR and western blot and calcium release by Fura-2 ratiometric imaging. After incubation with epithelial derived medium, we observed less force production after histamine stimulation than ASM cells that received control medium. There was a reduced expression of mRNA of myocardin, the master regulator of contractile apparatus proteins. Furthermore, we observed less α -smooth muscle actin mRNA and protein as well as reduced calponin mRNA. Finally, there was diminished peak calcium release upon histamine regulation that depended on cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) activity in ASM cells. Here we demonstrate the epithelial cells reduce the contractile phenotype of ASM cells *in-vitro*. The reduced peak calcium release is not transcriptionally regulated by altered calcium handling constructs, but rather depends on ASM cell COX-1 products. This demonstrates that epithelial derived relaxing factor may, in part, come from autocrine production of AMS cell products.

3.3 Introduction

Asthma is a chronic disease of which airway wall of which airway wall remodeling is a cardinal feature [436,437]. Excessive airway narrowing is mediated by airway smooth muscle (ASM) and motivates the treatment of asthma with β -adrenergic receptor agonists to relieve the tone generated by ASM contraction. A prominent element of the histopathology of asthma is increased mass of ASM [438]. How ASM mediates excessive airway narrowing remains controversial and consequently, mechanisms regulating ASM cell proliferative and contractile status are of great interest. One such mechanism involves the stimulation of proliferation by mediators derived from the nearby epithelial tissue [383]. The airway epithelium has been implicated as an important driving force of asthma pathogenesis [439] through the secretion of many pro-remodelling factors such as chemokines [440] and growth factors [374]. Maturation of smooth muscle generates cells expressing proteins of the contractile apparatus [441]. This differentiation is the result of nuclear translocation of the co-transcription factor myocardin, which acts by binding to the transcription factor serum response factor (SRF) [442,443]. Myocardin competes for SRF binding with the pro-proliferative co-transcription factors Elk-1 and KLF4[267,444]. Smooth muscle cells that are actively proliferating downregulate proteins of the contractile apparatus, such as α -smooth muscle actin (α SMA) and calponin [445]. ASM cells that are co-cultured with airway epithelial cells were previously shown to increase the rate of proliferation of the muscle [383]. Furthermore, in *ex-vivo* tissue assays, it has been demonstrated that the removal of the epithelium increases the responsiveness of isolated bronchi [356,446]. We therefore hypothesized that ASM cells lose the contractile phenotype when cultured with epithelial cells.

Due to the importance of ASM cell force generation in mediating airway narrowing, we set out to explore phenotypic regulation in the context of its ability to create tension *in-vitro*. It is well established that calcium ions play a critical role in regulating the initiation of cross bridge cycling. Therefore, we explored the role of epithelial co-culture on calcium release within ASM cells. To induce calcium transients, the agonist histamine was utilized due to its relevance in driving asthma exacerbations [447,448]. Intracellular calcium concentration is tightly regulated and the release of this ion upon histamine stimulation can depend on proteins regulating histamine receptor signal transduction [318], calcium handling proteins, or other mechanisms such as cAMP generation within the cell [449]. PGE₂ is known to induce cAMP in ASM cells [450]. Here, we examined the effect of epithelial-derived mediators on histamine induced calcium release and contraction of ASM cells. We questioned whether or not ASM cells release factors associated with relaxation in an autocrine manner after co-culture with epithelial cells.
3.4 Materials and Methods

Reagents

Histamine dihydrochloride (1 μ M), Collagenase type IV from *Clostridium histolyticum*, general COX inhibitor indomethacin (3 μ M) and the COX-2 specific inhibitor celecoxib (100nM) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MI, USA). The specific COX-1 inhibitor SC560 (100nM) was purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Fura 2-AM (10 μ M), Pluronic F-127 (0.02%) and qPCR primers were obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA).

Cell Culture

Primary human ASM cells were cultured from transplant grade lungs procured by the International Institute for the Advancement of Medicine. Protocols were approved by an Institutional Review Board. Dissected ASM tissue was digested overnight in collagenase (0.4mg/ml) dissolved in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing streptomycin, penicillin and amphotericin B (Anti-Anti) (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The next day, the tissue was suspended in the digestion medium by gentle agitation with a serological pipette. Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with Anti-Anti and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS)(growth medium)(Thermo Fisher Scientific). Medium was replaced every second day. For long term storage, cells were cryo-stored in 90% FBS:10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in liquid nitrogen. Prior to all experiments, medium was changed to DMEM supplemented with 0.5% FBS containing Anti-Anti overnight prior to epithelial co-culture or stimulation with conditioned medium. Cells were studied between passages 2 to 6.

Normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells were also obtained from lungs of donors. Micro-dissected tissue was digested overnight in Pronase (1.5mg/ml) (Sigma Aldrich) dissolved in DMEM containing Anti-Anti. The following day, tissues were rinsed with Ham's F12 medium (Thermo Fisher) supplemented with 20% FBS and Anti-Anti. After 3 washes, undigested tissue was discarded. Cell suspensions were pooled, and centrifuged. Resulting cells were cultured in Bronchial Epithelial Growth Medium (BEGM) (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) containing Anti-Anti and medium was changed every other day. Cells were cryo-stored in freezing medium and studied until passage 5. Prior to co-culture or medium conditioning, cells were deprived of growth factors in 50:50 medium containing DMEM 0.5%FBS Anti-Anti with Bronchial Epithelial Basal Medium (BEBM) (Lonza) containing Anti-Anti. In other experiments, the bronchial epithelial cell line BEAS-2B was utilized as a representative model of primary cells. For these experiments, BEAS-2B cells were maintained similarly to ASM cells, and serum deprived in DMEM containing 0.5% FBS with Anti-Anti.

For co-culture experiments, Transwell® permeable supports (Corning, Corning, NY, USA) were utilized. Confluent epithelial cultures were serum deprived for 24 hours prior to co-culture with ASM cells. For conditioned medium experiments, supernatant from serum deprived confluent cultures was collected after 24 hours of conditioning with fresh starvation medium (0.5% FBS, Anti-Anti, DMEM), centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 5 mins and stored at -80°C.

RT-qPCR

ASM cells were seeded at a density of 100 000 cells per well in 6 well plates in growth medium. The next day, ASM cells were serum deprived for 24 hours in starvation medium after which they were placed in co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. After 24 hours of co-culture, ASM cells were washed once with PBS (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and mRNA was extracted using an RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). Reverse transcription was performed on 100ng of total RNA with AffinityScript qPCR cDNA synthesis kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). qPCR was performed using iTaq SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Primer sequences are reported in Table 1. Amplification of cDNA was performed using a StepOnePlus realtime PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Relative mRNA expression was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method and all gene expression was normalized to S9.

Gene Array

mRNA was submitted to Genome Quebec for analysis by Illumina HT-12 Expression BeadChip Kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Data was analyzed by CyberT followed by Benjamani-Hochberg false discovery rate P value correction for multiple comparisons.

PGE_2 ELISA

After co-culture, supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 5 minutes at 4°C to remove any cell debris. Samples were analyzed using DetectX Prostaglandin E₂ Enzyme Immunoassay Kit (Arbor Assays, Ann-Arbor, MI, USA).

cAMP Assay

After stimulation of ASM cells for 24 hours with BEAS-2B conditioned medium, ASM cells were washed with ice-cold PBS, lysed and assayed for intracellular cAMP concentration as per manufacturer's protocol (Cyclic AMP XP Assay Kit, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA). To prevent the degradation of cAMP, cells were incubated with 0.5mM 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX) during the 24 hours of conditioned medium stimulation. Lysis buffer was also supplemented with 0.5mM IBMX.

Western Blot

After co-culture, AMSCs were washed with ice cold PBS, and protein extraction was performed using protein lysis buffer containing 50mM TrisHCl (pH 8), 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5%

sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% SDS. The lysis buffer was supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). Upon mechanical disruption, cell lysates were centrifuged at 13 000 RPM for 3 minutes and total protein within the supernatant was measured by Quick Start Bradford Protein Assay (Bio-Rad). 20µg of protein diluted in double distilled water was loaded per lane into a separating gel. After separation, protein was transferred to a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad). Membranes were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) for one hour at room temperature prior to antibody incubation overnight at 4°C. Primary antibodies included anti αSMA (1A4, Sigma-Aldrich, 1:1000) and anti GAPDH (6C5, EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA, 1:3000). Membranes were washed three times in Tris-buffered saline solution containing 0.1% TWEEN 20 (TBS-T). Membranes were incubated with secondary antibodies for one hour and room temperature. Membranes were washed 3 more times in TBS-T and then once with TBS prior to development with chemiluminescent techniques (ECL, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and imaging.

Measurement of Intracellular Calcium

Human ASM cells were seeded on #2 glass cover slips and cultured in growth medium for 24 hours. Medium was changed for starvation medium, after which the cells were co-cultured or stimulated with epithelial cells. For COX inhibitor experiments, ASM cells were treated with inhibitor during the starvation protocol and for the duration of conditioned medium stimulation. ASM cells were washed with Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and loaded with 10µM Fura 2-AM containing 0.1% Pluronic F-127 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 minutes. Cells were washed twice with fresh HBSS and after 15 minutes, coverslips were transferred to a Leiden chamber (Medical Systems, Greenville, NY, USA) and imaged using an Olympus IX71 inverted fluorescent microscope equipped with a 40X oil immersion objective

(Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). In some experiments, PGE₂ or its vehicle (0.1%DMSO) was added to the ASM cells during the 15 minute Fura 2-AM washout and to the Leiden chamber during the recording. Intracellular calcium concentration was measured as previously described [409]. Briefly, cells were illuminated using a DeltaRAM (Horiba Scientific, Kyoto, Japan) stimulating with 340nm and 380 nm alternatively. Emission at 510nm was measured through a CCD camera (CoolSnapPro, Media Cybernetics, Bethesda, MD) controlled with Image Master software (Photon Technology International, Birmingham, NJ, USA). 340/380 fluorescence intensity ratios were converted to calcium concentrations as previously describe using Grynkiewicz' equation [451].

Traction Microscopy

Cells were seeded at a density of 8,000 cells per well on collagen coated acrylamide (Young's modulus: 8kPa) gels in 96 well plates as previously described [452]. After 24 hours, ASM cells were serum deprived in 50:50 medium for 24 hours. Fresh starvation medium or starvation medium that had been incubated with HBE cells was added to the ASM cells for 24 hours after which baseline traction was recorded. Medium was replaced with HBSS for 1 hour and then cells were stimulated with 1 μ M histamine for 1 hour prior to measuring traction. Data are presented as a fold change in root mean square traction between baseline and post-histamine treatment.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Data are presented as mean +1SE with \geq 4 independent experiments. Independent experiments were considered ASM cells deriving from different patients, or from different passage numbers measured on a different day. In each experiment, a minimum of three independent patient's ASM cells were studied. In experiments where >2 groups were compared, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test was utilized. For experiments where only two groups were compared, a paired Student's T-test was employed. P values <0.05 were considered to be significant. Calcium data were analyzed for normality by Smirnov-Kolmogorov test and 16 of 18 groups were non-normally distributed. Calcium data were therefore compared with non-parametric Mann-Whitney or Kruskal Wallis with Dunn's post-hoc test as appropriate. Data are presented as box plots showing medians and with whiskers showing group maxima and minima.

Table 1

Primer sequences for qPCR ractions:

Gene	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
<i>S9</i>	CTGCTGACGCTTGATGAGAA	CAGCTTCATCTTGCCCTCA
CNNI	AGCAGGAGCTGAGAGAGTGG	AAAGCCAGGAGGGTGGACTG
ACTA2	TCATGATGCTGTTGTAGGTGGT	CTCTTCCAGCCATCCTTCAT
MYOCD	TCAGCAATTTCAGAGGTAACACA	TGACTCCGGGTCATTTGC
MYLK	TGGGGCTCTTATGACCTACAGT	CCTGAAGTTGCTCTGAACTGC
ITPRI	CCTTTTCCGTTTCAAGCATC	AGGCATTCTTCCTCAAAGTCAG
HIR	AAGTCACCATCCCAAACCCCCAAG	TCAGGCCCTGCTCATCTGTCTTGA
SERCA	TCGAACCCTTGCCAGTAAGT	CACACAGGGAAGACGTCTCA
CD38	CAGCAACAACCCTGTTTCAGT	CCATTGAGCATCACATGGAC
PLC-β	TCCAAGAAGAAGTGGCCAAG	ATGCATCCCTGGACATGTTT
PTGS2	CTTCACGCATCAGTTTTTC	TCACCGTAAATATGATTTAAGTCCAC
PTGES	CGCTGCTGGTCATCAAGA	TCCGTGTCTCAGGGATC

3.5 Results

Airway epithelial cells reduce histamine-induced contraction

To examine the force producing ability of ASM cells *in vitro*, we stimulated the cells with 1µM histamine. AMSCs that had been treated with conditioned medium derived from NHBE cells for 24 hours demonstrated less force-generation than those that had been incubated with control starvation medium (Fig 1).

Gene expression of contractile apparatus proteins is altered in epithelial co-cultured ASM cells To further investigate this force reduction after co-culture with epithelial cells, we explored a variety of proteins associated with the contractile phenotype. Myocardin, the master regulator of contractile apparatus proteins [453], had reduced transcript expression after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells (Fig 2A). We examined downstream targets of myocardin, observing a reduction in mRNA of α SMA (Fig 2B), calponin (Fig 2C) and a downward trend of myosin light chain kinase (Fig 2D). Primer sequences used to probe gene expression are presented in Table 1. Furthermore, α SMA protein was reduced after 96 hours of co-culture with BEAS-2B cells (Fig 2E). These results further confirm a phenotypic change of ASM cells after epithelial co-culture. *Co-culture reduces agonist induced calcium release*

Since intracellular calcium release is an important feature of the initiation of cross-bridge cycling in ASM cells, we examined the effect of epithelial co-culture on histamine induced calcium release. After 24 hours of co-culture with either BEAS-2B (Fig 3A) or NHBE cells (Fig 3B), peak calcium responses to stimulation with 1µM histamine were diminished.

Calcium release is not transcriptionally regulated

Calcium release may be regulated transcriptionally via calcium handling proteins. We hypothesized that ASM cells co-cultured with epithelial cells would have altered transcriptional

regulation of the mRNA of these enzymes. However, we observed no reduction in the expression of mRNA of the histamine receptor (H₁R) (Fig 4A), in the calcium handling proteins phospholipase C- β (*PLC* β)(Fig 4B), inositol trisphophate receptor (*IP*₃*R*)(Fig 4C), or an increase in the expression of the calcium reducing sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase pump (*SERCA*)(Fig 4D). There was an increase in cyclic ADP ribose hydrolase (*CD38*)(Fig 4E) mRNA after co-culture, a finding which cannot explain the reduction in intracellular calcium release as CD38 is associated with increased activation of the calcium releasing ryanodine receptor [319]. These data indicate that the reduction in histamine-stimulated calcium release is not transcriptionally regulated by calcium handling proteins.

Prostaglandin E_2 diminishes agonist-induced calcium release in ASM cells

Since the calcium reduction by co-culture with epithelial cells was not dependent on calcium handling proteins, we explored the role of arachidonic acid metabolites. Prostanoids are capable of generating cAMP within ASM cells that can be associated with both reduced calcium and diminished tone. Gene array data indicated an increase in the PGE₂ producing enzymes cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (Fig 5A) and membrane-associate prostaglandin E synthase-1(mPGES-1)(Fig 5B) after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. To confirm these gene array findings, PCR was conducted on ASM cells co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells, which also demonstrated increased expression of these arachidonic acid metabolizing enzymes (Fig 5C-D). Analysis of secreted PGE₂ into the cell culture medium demonstrated that co-culture supernatant from BEAS-2B cells alone did not produce detectable quantities of PGE₂. Furthermore, incubation of ASM cells for 24 hours with BEAS-2B conditioned medium increased the concentration of intracellular cAMP within the ASM cells (Fig 5F). To examine the role of PGE₂ in regulating

ASM cell calcium responses to histamine stimulation, we pre-treated the cells with 10μ M PGE₂ prior to stimulation with histamine. Preatment of ASM cells with PGE₂ diminished the agonist induced peak calcium concentration (Fig 5 G). These data indicate that epithelial cells cause ASM cells to up-regulate enzymes associated with PGE₂ synthesis as well as release this lipid mediator and its downstream effector molecule, cAMP.

Reduction in calcium release by epithelial cells is dependent on cyclooxygenase-1

ASM cells were pre-treated for 24 hours with the non-selective COX inhibitor indomethacin. COX inhibition restored the reduction in agonist-induced peak calcium release caused by BEAS-2B cell conditioned medium, indicating the role of a COX metabolite such as PGE₂ in reducing ASM cell excitability (Fig 6 A). To prevent the inhibition of COX within the epithelium, we utilized conditioned medium from epithelial cells rather than co-culture. This allowed the drug treatment to inhibit its target within the ASM cell alone. Next, we examined the inducible COX isoform, COX-2, by inhibition with the selective COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib. Pre-treatment of ASM cells with celecoxib did not restore the excitability after incubation with BEAS-2B conditioned medium, we hypothesized that this effect must be mediated by the non-inducible COX isoform, COX-1. Treatment with the COX-1 specific inhibitor SC560 restored ASM cell excitability after treatment with conditioned medium of BEAS-2B cells (Fig 6 C). These data indicate that airway epithelial cell-dependent reductions in ASM cell calcium release after agonist stimulation are mediated by ASM cell specific COX-1 products.

Airway epithelial cells reduce histamine-induced contraction. ASM cells were stimulated to ASM cells were stimulated to contract with 1µM histamine or vehicle (HBSS). Control cells were incubated for 24 hours with 50:50 medium that had not been conditioned with epithelial cells. Conditioned medium (C.M.) of NHBE cells was utilized to deliver epithelial derived mediators to the ASM cells. Average contractile forces of confluent ASM cells were measured using Traction Microscopy. Relative forces were defined as the fold change between baseline and post-histamine treatment. Data are presented as means + SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons were conducted and p values are reported.



Gene expression of contractile apparatus proteins is altered in epithelial co-cultured ASM cells. ASM cells were co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours. mRNA was extracted to perform RT-qPCR examining myocardin (*MYOCD*)(A), α -smooth muscle actin (*ACTA2*)(B), calponin (*CNN-1*)(C) and myosin light chain kinase (*MYLK*). White bars = control ASM cells, black bars = co-cultured ASM cells. Protein lysate was separated in a poly-acrylamide gel before transfer to PVDF membrane and blotted for α SMA protein (E). Pixel densitometry (F) of α SMA blotting. Data are presented as means + SE. Student's paried t-test was used to compare samples with p values reported above the bars.





E

Co-culture reduces agonist induced calcium release. ASM cells were cultured with BEAS-2B (A) or NHBE (B) cells for 24 hours prior to Fura-2 AM calcium imaging. Peak calcium release after 1µM histamine stimulation is reported. Data are presented as medians +/- maxima and minima. (A) Control=72 cells across 5 donors Co-Culture=128 cells across 5 donors, (B) Control=34 cells across 4 donors, Co-Culture=36 cells across 4 donors. Student's paried t-test was used to compare samples with p values reported above the bars.



Calcium release is not transcriptionally regulated. ASM cells were co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours. mRNA was extracted to perform RT-qPCR examining histamine receptor (H1R)(A), phospholipase C- β (*PLC* β)(B), inositol trisphosphate receptor 1 (*ITPR1*)(C), sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (*SERCA*)(D) and cyclic ADP ribose hydrolase (*CD38*)(E). White bars = control ASM cells, black bars = co-cultured ASM cells. Data are presented as means +SE. Student's paired t-test was used to compare samples with p values reported above the bars.



Prostaglandin E_2 *diminishes agonist-induced calcium release in* ASM cells.

ASM cells were co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours. Illumina HT-12 gene array was performed and raw signal intensity is plotted for COX-2 (*PTGS-2*) (A) and mPGES-1 (*PTGES*)(B). P values are adjusted for multiple comparisons (number of trancripts = 34 695). RT-qPCR was performed on the samples to confirm the increase (C-D). Cell culture supernatant was analyzed by enzyme immunoassay for PGE₂ concentration from ASM cells alone or those that had been co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours (E). ASM cells were treated with BEAS-2B conditioned medium for 24 hours prior to measurement of intracellular cAMP (F). ASM cells were incubated with 10 μ M PGE₂ or vehicle (0.1% DMSO) for 15 minutes prior to stimulation with 1 μ M histamine to induce intracellular calcium release (G). Data are presented as means +SE. Student's paired t-test was used to compare samples and p values are reported above the bars. Calcium data are presented as medians with whiskers showing group maxima and minima and the Mann-Whitney test was utilized.

(Figure on subsequent page):



Reduction in calcium release by epithelial cells is dependent on ASM cell cyclooxygenase-1. ASM cells were pre-treated for 24 hours with vehicle (0.1%DMSO) or inhibitors indomethacin (A), Celecoxib (B) or SC560 (C). Cells were then treated with conditioned medium from BEAS-2B cells with respective drug or vehicle present for 24 hours. Cells were loaded with 10 μM Fura 2-AM and peak intracellular calcium release in response to 1μM histamine was measured. Data are presented as medians with whiskers showing group maxima and minima and comparisons were made with the Kruskall Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc test with p values reported. Calcium was performed on 70-157 cells per group across 4-10 donors.



3.6 Discussion

ASM contraction contributes directly to airway narrowing and therefore mediates exacerbations of asthma. The purpose of this study was to examine the role of airway epithelial cells in modulating ASM cell phenotype. Due to the importance of ASM in mediating asthmatic exacerbations and the putative role of the epithelium in asthma [454], it is important to understand mechanisms by which the properties of ASM cells are altered by epithelial mediators. Our results demonstrate a potent down-regulation of calcium signals in ASM cells stimulated with histamine when co-cultured with epithelium. Furthermore, we identified COX-1 as a regulator of the loss of ASM cell excitability after co-culture with epithelial cells. PGE₂ increased in the medium of co-cultured cells and exogenous PGE₂ reduced histamine-induced calcium transients, suggesting that it may mediate the reduction in calcium signals attributable to co-culture of AMSC with epithelium.

Although asthma is often considered an epithelial disease, rather than augmenting the excitability of ASM cells, the epithelium reduced its responses to stimulation. The idea of an epithelial derived relaxing factor is not a novel concept. Others have shown that tissue preparations contract more when the airway is denuded of its epithelial layers [356]. Much of this work followed the discovery of endothelial derived nitric oxide and its role in vascular tone [455]. However, in the airway epithelial studies, it is difficult to separate the mechanical resistance to airway narrowing that the epithelium creates for smooth muscle force generation. The present study confirms that epithelial cells have the ability to reduce the contractile phenotype *in vitro*, and we present data suggesting that smooth muscle is the source of the products that exercise this relaxing function. While others have explored the concept of a direct

104

effect of an epithelial-derived relaxing factor on ASM, our data suggest that the epithelium secretes factors influencing the contractile phenotype of ASM and that the relaxing factor could be ASM-derived and acting in an autocrine fashion.

We explored the effect of epithelial mediators on ASM cell contractions using a traction microscopy as previously described [452]. The assay, which is based on measuring the displacement of elastic substrates by cellular contractile force, demonstrated a reduction in histamine-induced force generation by the ASM cells when treated with medium derived from primary NHBE cells. The effect of NHBE conditioned medium on baseline traction was negligible in our studies, however it may be of interest to examine the effect that medium derived from diseased NHBE cells has on both baseline and stimulated ASM cells.

The expression of contractile apparatus genes was also diminished after co-culture with epithelial cells. Myocardin is a previously described co-transcription factor and driver of the contractile phenotype in ASM cells [453]. In equine asthma, myocardin nuclear staining in ASM cells was associated with the disease [264]. Here we observe decreased expression of this gene, as well as myocardin dependent genes α SMA and calponin. Furthermore, α SMA protein content was diminished after co-culture with epithelial cells and the reduced expression of these genes may play a role in the lack of force production upon histamine stimulation.

We observed also that both BEAS-2B and NHBE cells reduced the excitability of ASM cells, as reflected in peak calcium release, when stimulated by histamine. Although the modulation of force can be mediated through a variety of pathways [330,456], the concentration of intracellular

calcium is considered to be coupled to the magnitude of force production in smooth muscle cells [457]. Due to reduced intracellular calcium release by agonist stimulation after co-culture, we anticipated a possible reduction in calcium handling proteins, which we hypothesized would have mediated this effect. However, we found no transcriptional change in several key enzymes, leading us to explore alternative mechanisms of smooth muscle cell relaxation. A transcriptomic analysis demonstrated an increase in expression of the eicosanoid producing enzymes COX-2 and mPGES-1. We therefore focussed on the potential role of eicosanoids as causes of functional antagonism of calcium release of ASM cells.

Human ASM cells have been shown to express $EP_{2.4}$ [458] and it is established that PGE_2 can induce relaxation of this tissue [459,460]. Furthermore, EP_2 has been demonstrated to mediate PGE_2 induced relaxation of ASM [461,462]. PGE_2 was recently shown to inhibit the transcription and protein expression of α SMA during myofibroblast differentiation through a reduction in SRF expression [463], which adds further evidence supporting the relaxing effect of this prostanoid. PGE_2 also increases cAMP production within these cells [464,465], a molecule that has been described to target the IP3R in ASM cells thereby causing a reduction in calcium mobilization [466]. β -agonist treatment for asthma exacerbation relies on GPCR generation of cAMP induced calcium inhibition. cAMP can also activate PKA in these cells, and may further reduce the contractile phenotype through calcium sensitization of the contractile apparatus [467]. Roscioni and colleagues recently reported that PKA regulates phenotype switching in ASM cells and it may play a role in modulating proliferation [468].

106

Besides exploring the molecular physiology of PGE₂ mediated effects on ASM cells, there have been clinical investigations examining the efficacy of this prostanoid as a therapeutic agent. The fall in FEV1 by allergen challenge in asthmatic patients was prevented by inhalation of PGE₂ prior to challenge [469]. Another study demonstrated that inhalation of this prostanoid can cause an initial bronchoconstriction, followed by potent dilation in healthy control subjects and the authors describe that this effect depends on the initial tone of the tissue, where previously dilated airways were less responsive the relaxation phase induced by the prostanoid [470]. In our present study, the ASM cells were not previously relaxed and thus the cells should be expected to respond to the relaxing effect of PGE₂. In the rat, PGE₂ has been shown to reduce cysteinylleukotriene production and Th2 activation after allergen challenge, demonstrating a role of this molecule as an immunomodulatory agent for the treatment of allergic asthma [471]. It was proposed by Delamere et al. that PGE₂ produced by bovine ASM cells could act as a regulatory mechanism to control airway inflammation [472]. Although the observed increase in PGE₂ release was modest, it is known that the half-life of this prostanoid is on the order of seconds [473]. 15-PGDH degrades PGE₂ in the airway [474] and we may observe larger increases in PGE₂ release in cells lacking this enzyme.

Here, we demonstrate that reduced excitability of ASM cells due to treatment with epithelial conditioned medium can be restored by inhibition of ASM cell specific COX-1, an enzyme known to produce PGE₂. More specifically, this constitutively expressed protein has been implicated in generating PGE₂ in human ASM cells [475]. Recently, it was demonstrated that COX-1 products mediate the relaxing effect of glucagon in tracheal tissue preparations [476]. Similarly, selective COX-1 inhibition prevented tracheal ring relaxation of murine airways by

proteinase-activated receptor-2 agonism [477]. Furthermore, The selective inhibitor of COX-1, SC-560 augmented histamine triggered tracheal ring contractions [478]. However, inhibition of COX-1 has also been shown to reduce the stretch-induced contraction of ASM [479] and therefore the outcome of blockade of this molecule may depend on the stimulus studied. Our data provide further evidence that SC-560 increases the responsiveness of ASM to a contractile agonist. Although the inducible isoform of COX-2 is often described to modulate inflammatory processes, others have provided evidence supporting a role of COX-1 in driving asthmatic responses [480]. Future exploration of this enzyme as a therapeutic target will be of great interest.

This study shows that the epithelium modulates ASM cells away from the contractile phenotype, a phenomena that likely accompanies the previously described increase in the proliferative phenotype [383]. The reduced excitability of these cells is not transcriptionally regulated, but rather depends on COX-1 products. We observed a transcriptional diminution in myocardin, the master regulator of transcriptional apparatus proteins that further represents a down-regulation of the contractile phenotype. We also observed that epithelial cells reduce transcripts of contractile apparatus genes as well as reduce α -SMA protein upon four days of co-culture. There are thus broad effects of epithelial-derived mediators on ASM phenotypic regulation. The exploration of this interaction will be important to extend to the examination of cells derived from asthmatic patients as these cells retain significant differences in properties ex vivo. ASM cells are therefore capable of producing PGE₂, a prostanoid capable of reducing peak calcium responses to histamine after co-culture with epithelial cells. This reduced excitability is mirrored by a

108

reduction in gene expression of contractile apparatus transcripts as well as diminished force production after agonist stimulation.

CHAPTER 4:

Airway Epithelial Cells Increase Airway Smooth Muscle Cell

Proliferation

4.1 Prologue

Due to the reduced contractility associated with co-culture of ASM cells with epithelial cells, we wished to explore the proliferative phenotype, hypothesizing an increase rate of proliferation in co-cultured ASM cells. We continued to utilize the BEAS-2B:ASM cell co-culture model, and examined the molecular mechanisms by which ASM cells are stimulated to proliferate by co-culture. We again probed the importance of the EGFR in mediating this effect and we explored the role of miRNA in this process. We examined phenotypic changes to the ASM cells after co-culture through gene and miRNA arrays and uncovered novel therapeutic targets for the inhibition of ASM cell proliferation.

Hypothesis: Epithelial co-culture induces the proliferative phenotype through EGFR signalling and miRNA modulation.

4.2 Abstract

Increased airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass in the airways of asthmatic patients may contribute to the pathobiology of this disease through its role in modulating airway caliber. The airway epithelium has a potential role in ASM remodeling. To investigate mechanisms by which airway epithelial cells induce ASM cell proliferation, we have employed a co-culture model, exploring markers of ASM proliferative phenotype. ASM incorporated increased quantities of the thymidine analogue bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), indicating augmented proliferation and these cells expressed increased mRNA of the pro-proliferative co-transcription factor Elk1. Although the mitogen heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) was augmented in ASM cells that had been co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) did not mediate epithelial-induced proliferation. Within this ASM cells, co-culture increased the expression of mRNA for the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 as well as the pro-proliferative micro-RNA miR-210. The transcriptional repressor Max-binding protein (Mnt), a putative target of miR-210, was transcriptionally repressed in co-cultured ASM cells. Together, these data indicate that the airway epithelium induced the proliferative phenotype within ASM cells is not driven by EGFR signalling, but rather may be dependent on miR210 targeting of tumor suppressor Mnt.

4.3 Introduction

Asthma is a chronic disease of the airways that is estimated to affect an estimated 300 million individuals globally [1]. The pathophysiology of this disease involves airway wall remodeling including increased mass of smooth muscle [5,481]. Airway smooth muscle (ASM) is the predominant mediator of airway constriction and is, therefore, a key tissue in driving exacerbation. Increased ASM mass may be the most important factor contributing to increased airway resistance in asthmatic airways [482]. One plausible source of increased ASM in the asthmatic airway is through increased proliferation of pre-existing ASM cells [438,481,483]. ASM cells are phenotypically regulated such that they may either exist in a proliferative state, or a contractile state, as serum deprivation induces the contractile phenotype [484,485]. The proliferative phenotype of ASM cells can be induced by the transcription factor serum response factor (SRF) binding to Elk1 to transcribe *c-fos* [267]. Furthermore, the interaction of SRF with Elk1 displaces SRF binding to myocardin, a smooth muscle specific co-transcription factor [267]. Induction of the pro-proliferative phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (Akt) or mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways both drive proliferation in ASM cells and their induction represses smooth muscle tissue tension generation by methacholine stimulation [486]. Akt signalling has additional effects such as the induction of the expression of the antiapoptotic protein B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) [487].

Micro-RNA (miRNA) are small (18-22 nucleotide), non-coding RNA that negatively regulate gene expression through binding to mRNA constructs preventing translation, or targeting the mRNA for degradation. Previously it has been shown that miRNA controls smooth muscle phenotype; miR-143 and miR-145 repress the expression of both Elk1 and Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), another pro-proliferative co-transcription factor [272]. Recently, miR-10a was

113

demonstrated to inhibit ASM cell proliferation through targeting the PI3K pathway, and this miRNA was shown to be the most abundantly expressed miR in ASM cells [276]. Furthermore, miR-138 has been shown to regulate ASM cell proliferation via inhibition of 3'-phophoinositide dependent kinase-1 (PDK1), a protein in the of PI3K/Akt signalling cascade [488]. MiR-25 was repressed in ASM by inflammatory cytokine stimulation, a miR that normally prevents KLF4 expression [275].

Myc is a proto-oncogene transcription factor that, along with its binding partner Max [489], drives the expression of genes associated with cell cycle progression. Myc induces proliferation in ASM cells [490] and may represent a therapeutic target in asthmatic myocytes. Max binding protein (Mnt) also binds to Max and antagonizes the activity of Myc:Max [491], thereby inhibiting proliferation. Finally, in airway derived fibroblast cultures, miR-210 has been shown to negatively regulate Mnt, leading to increased rates of proliferation [492].

Another category of stimuli for proliferation of ASM that is of relevance to asthma pathology is the pro-inflammatory cytokines. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α was shown to induce ASM cell methyl-[³H]thymidine incorporation in a PI3K/Akt dependent manner [493]. Another study demonstrated that ASM cell stimulation with the pro-inflammatory cytokines eotaxin, regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), interleukin (IL)-8, and macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α all increased DNA synthesis [494]. The dual role of pro-inflammatory cytokines as effector molecules for recruiting leukocytes and directly driving airway remodeling is beginning to emerge.

It is also becoming increasingly evident that the airway epithelium plays an important role in driving airway remodeling in asthma and has been extensively reviewed by Lambrecht et al [454]. Airway epithelial cells can release ligands of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)

114

as well as other mitogens, including heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) [374,495] and amphiregulin [496]. EGFR signalling also plays a role in driving the proliferative response of ASM in a rodent model of allergic asthma [497].

Recently it has been demonstrated that airway epithelial cells in culture can induce proliferation of ASM cells [383]. However the mechanism by which this occurs is largely unknown. Increased rate of proliferation may be due to secreted growth factors from the epithelium, however the possibility that ASM cells are phenotypically modulated and secrete mitogens that act in an autocrine manner is possible and un-explored. We wished to elucidate the molecular basis by which airway epithelial cells induce ASM cell proliferation *in vitro* by exploring their interaction in a co-culture model. Due to the involvement of growth factor receptor signalling, and the novel role of miRNA in governing ASM cell proliferation, we sought to examine the potential role of these molecules in epithelial-induced ASM cell growth.

4.4 Materials and Methods

Reagents

Collagenase type IV from *Clostridium histolyticum* was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MI, USA). EGFR inhibitor tryphostin AG1478 (0.3µM) was obtained from Cayman Chemical (Ann-Arbor, MI, USA). BrdU flow kit was obtained from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). The EGFR inhibitor afatinib (0.5µM) was obtained from Santa Cruz (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). qPCR primers for mRNA targets and lipofectamine 2000 were obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA). qPCR primers for miRNA targets and miR-210 mimic and inhibitors were obtained from Exiqon (Vedbaek, Denmark).

Cell Culture

Primary human airway smooth muscle cells (ASM cells) were obtained from lung transplant donors or bronchial biopsies. Protocols were approved by an Institutional Review Board. Microdissected tissue was digested overnight in collagenase (0.4mg/ml) dissolved in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing streptomycin, penicillin and amphotericin B (Anti-Anti,Thermo Fisher Scientific). The next day, the tissue was suspended in the digestion medium by gentle passing through a serological pipette several times. Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with Anti-Anti and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS)(Thermo Fisher Scientific). Medium was replaced every second day. For long-term storage, cells were cryostored in 90% FBS:10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in liquid nitrogen. Prior to all experiments, medium was changed to DMEM supplemented with 0.5% FBS containing Anti-Anti overnight prior to epithelial co-culture or stimulation with conditioned medium. Cells were studied between passage 2 and 6. Bronchial epithelial cell line BEAS-2B cells were maintained similarly to ASM cells, and serum deprived in DMEM containing 0.5% FBS with Anti-Anti.

For co-culture experiments, Transwell ® permeable supports obtained from Corning (Corning, NY, USA) were utilized. Confluent epithelial cultures were serum deprived for 24 hours prior to co-culture with ASM cells. For conditioned medium experiments, supernatant from serum deprived confluent cultures was collected after 24 hours of conditioning with fresh starvation medium, centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 5 mins and stored at -80°C.

RT-qPCR

ASM cells were seeded at a density of 100 000 cells per well in 6 well plates in growth medium. The next day, ASM cells were serum deprived for 24 hours in starvation medium after which they were placed in co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. After 24 hours of co-culture, ASM cells were washed once with PBS (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and mRNA was extracted using an RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). Reverse transcription was performed on 100ng of total RNA with AffinityScript qPCR cDNA synthesis kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). qPCR was performed using iTaq SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Primer sequences are reported in Table 1. Amplification of cDNA was performed using a StepOnePlus realtime PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Relative mRNA expression was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method and all gene expression was normalized to S9.

For experiments examining miRNA expression, total RNA was extracted using Exiqon's miRCURY RNA Isolation kit – Cell and Plant according to manufacturer's protocol (Exiqon). miRNA cDNA libraries were generated with 20ng RNA using Exiqon's Universal cDNA synthesis kit II and RT-qPCR was performed with miRCURY LNATM Universal RT microRNA

PCR kit according to manufacturer's protocol (Exiqon). Amplification of cDNA was performed using a StepOnePlus realtime PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Relative mRNA expression was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method and all miRNA expression was normalized to miR-103a-3p.

mRNA Gene Array

Co-cultured or control ASM cell derived mRNA was analyzed for gene expression by HumanHT-12 Expression BeadChip Kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Gene array was performed by Genome Quebec (Montreal, QC, Canada) and results were analyzed using FlexArray and cyber-T followed by Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate p-value correction for multiple comparisons.

miRNA Gene Array

Co-cultured or control ASM cell derived total RNA was analyzed for miRNA expression by miRCURY LNATM Array microRNA 7th generation profiling services (Exiqon). P value correction utilizing Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate was applied and data analysis was conducted by Exiqon.

Proliferation Assay

ASM cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 25 000 cells per well in growth medium. The following day, medium was changed for starvation medium. 24 hours later, ASM cells were either co-cultured with confluent BEAS-2B cultures that had been serum deprived for 24 hours or not co-cultured. Six hours after the initiation of co-culture, BrdU was added to the culture medium according to manufacturers protocol (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). 24 hours after the initiation of co-culture, ASM cells were rinsed with PBS and collected using trypsin to fix and permeabilize for analysis of BrdU incorporation by anti-FITC-BrdU staining and flow cytometry according to manufacturer's protocol (BD Biosciences). As negative controls, ASM cells received growth medium to induce proliferation but did not receive BrdU. As positive controls, ASM cells received growth medium along with BrdU. Viable smooth muscle populations were selected for and gates were established based on negative and positive controls.

MiR-210-3p Mimic

ASM cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 25 000 cells per well in growth medium. The following day, cells were transfected with 50 nM of miR-210-3p mimic (Exiqon), along with 2µl of Lipofectamine® 2000 in 1ml Opti-MEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific). As a control transfection for miR-210-3p mimic, cel-miR-39-3p (Exiqon) was utilized. After one hour, one ml of starvation medium without antibiotics was added to all wells. Six hours later, medium was changed for fresh starvation medium containing antibiotics. BrdU assays were performed from 72 hours post-transfection.

HB-EGF Enzyme Linked Immunosorbant Assay

Cell culture supernatant was collected from ASM cells that had either been co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells or had not been co-cultured (control). Supernatant was centrifuged at 1500 RPM for 5 minutes to remove any potential cells and the culture medium was assayed for the presence of HB-EGF with the Human HB-EGF DuoSet ELISA kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA).

Western Blot

After stimulation with epithelial derived conditioned medium, AMS cells were washed with ice cold PBS and protein extraction was performed using protein lysis buffer containing 50mM TrisHCl (pH 8), 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% SDS. The lysis buffer was supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). Upon mechanical disruption, cell lysates were centrifued at 13 000 RPM for 3 minutes and total protein within the supernatant was measured by Quick Start Bradford Protein Assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). 5µg of protein diluted in double distilled water was loaded per lane into a separating gel. After separation, protein was transferred to a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad). Membranes were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) in TBS-T for one hour at room temperature prior to antibody incubation overnight at 4°C. Primary antibody dilutions included: pEGFR (12A3, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, 1:3000) and pAKT, (D9E, Cell Signaling Technology, 1:2000) in 5%BSA TBS-T overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed three times with TBS-T prior to one-hour incubation with HRP -linked secondary antibody (7074, Cell Signaling Technology, 1:1000). Membranes were washed three more times in TBS-T and then once with TBS prior to development with chemiluminescent techniqes (ECL, Bio-Rad) and imaging.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). All data are presented as mean +1SE with \geq 4 independent experiments. Independent experiments were considered as ASM cells derived from different patients, or from different passage numbers measured on a different day. Each experiment included data deriving from at least three independent patients' ASM cells. In experiments where >2 groups were compared, one way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test was utilized. For experiments where

120

only two groups are compared, a paired Student's T-test was employed. P values <0.05 were considered to be significant.
4.5 Results

Co-Culture with epithelial cells induces the proliferative phenotype in airway smooth muscle cells

To determine if BEAS-2B cells increased the proliferation of ASM cells, the two cell types were co-cultured for 24 hours prior to assessment of incorporation of the thymidine analogue BrdU. After treatment with BEAS-2B cells, ASM cells demonstrated increased rates of proliferation (Fig 1A). Due to the role of the pleiotropic transcription factor SRF in regulating ASM phenotype, we examined its expression and observed no change after co-culture (Fig 1B). However, the pro-proliferative co-transcription factor and binding partner of SRF, Elk1 was increased after co-culture (Fig 1C). KLF4 was unchanged (Fig 1D). These results indicate that ASM cells are not only stimulated to proliferate by the epithelial co-culture, but also differentially express a transcription factor associated with driving this phenotype.

Co-culture induced proliferation is not mediated by an EGFR ligand

Due to the importance of mitogen stimulation in ASM cell proliferation, we explored the EGFR as a potential target mediating co-culture induced proliferation. Within the ASM cells after co-culture, we examined the expression of the EGFR ligand HB-EGF, observing increases in this construct (Fig 2A). Furthermore, we observed a trend towards an increase in the concentration of this EGFR ligand in the supernatant of co-cultured ASM cells (Fig 2B). However, pre-treatment with the tyrosine kinase inhibitors tryphostin AG1478 (3µM) (Fig 2C) or afatinib (0.5µM) (Fig 2D) did not prevent the induction in proliferation by co-culture as assessed by BrdU incorporation. Finally, stimulation of ASM cells with conditioned medium derived from BEAS-2B cells for 15 minutes did not appear to activate phosphorylation of the EGFR at tyrosine 1068 although this medium did activate AKT (Fig 2E). These data indicate that although the ASM

cells express HB-EGF, it does not appear to activate the receptor to drive the increased proliferation rate.

Co-culture induces the expression of inflammatory cytokines

To have a more complete understanding of how airway epithelial cells may augment ASM cell proliferation, we ran a gene array (Illumina HT-12 version 4) exploring the differential expression of genes by ASM cells that had either been co-cultured with BEAS-2B cells or had not (control). We observed significant increases in the expression of CXCL1, IL-6 and IL-8 (Fig 3). These results indicate that the phenotypic skewing towards a more proliferative state is also accompanied by the expression of pro-inflammatory molecules after co-culture. For a complete list of genes that are two-fold differentially expressed after co-culture see supplement S1.

Co-culture with epithelial cells increases the expression of miR-210-3p

To assess the expression of miRNAs previously described to regulate ASM cell phenotype, we co-cultured ASM cells with BEAS-2B cells and performed RT-qPCR. We observed no change in miR-143-3p/145-5p (Fig 4A,B). To further study differential miR expression in co-cultured ASM cells, we performed a miRNA microarray (Exiqon). After Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate p-value correction for multiple comparisons, three candidate miRNAs were close to significant up-regulation (Fig 4C). To further examine these miRNAs, we performed RT-qPCR on co-cultured ASM cells, and observed a significant increases in miR-210-3p (Fig 4D), but not in miR-1246 (Fig 4E). MiR-4732-5p primers did not amplify a product (data not shown). *MiR-210 regulates tumour suppressive Mnt and can drive proliferation in vitro*

Because of miR-210's role in driving fibroblast proliferation [492], we explored the functional role of this miRNA in ASM. In co-cultured ASM cells, expression of miR-210's putative target

Max-binding protein (Mnt), a Myc inhibitor, was reduced (Fig 5A). Furthermore, transfection of ASM cells with miR-210 mimic increased the rate of proliferation of ASM cells, indicating a potential role for this miR in driving airway remodeling (Fig 5B). These results imply, for the first time, that miRNA-210 expression can modulate ASM cell proliferation.

Co-culture with epithelial cells induces a proliferative phenotype in airway smooth muscle cells.

(A) ASM cells were cultured with (co-culture) or without (control) BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours. 6 hours after the initiation of co-culture, cells were pulsed with BrdU. BrdU incorporation by flow cytometry was then performed to mark ASM cells that had entered into S-phase (n=19). (B,C,D) RT-qPCR was performed on ASM cells to assess the expression of Elk1 (n=7), KLF4 (n=6) and SRF (n=4) after 24 hours of co-culture with BEAS-2B cells, or without co-culture (control). Data are presented as means +SE. Student's paired T-test was utilized to compare groups. P values are reported, N.D.=not different



Co-culture induced proliferation is not mediated by an EGFR ligand. (A) ASM cell expression of HB-EGF was examined by RT-qPCR 24 hours after co-culture with or without (control) BEAS-2B cells (n=4). (B) HB-EGF protein concentration was assayed for in the cell culture supernatant of control or co-cultured ASM cells by ELISA after 24 hours (n=4). (C, D) Pretreatment of ASM cells with 0.3µM tryphostin AG1478 (C, n=4) or 0.5µM afatinib (D, n=5) did not prevent BEAS-2B induced proliferation of ASM cells. Vehicle utilized was 0.1% DMSO (E) Treatment for 15 minutes with conditioned medium (C.M.) of BEAS-2B cells did not induce phosphorylation of EGFR tyrosine 1068 however Akt was phosphorylated by C.M. treatment. Cells were pre-treated with afatinib or vehicle (DMSO) for 1 hour prior to C.M. stimulation. Data are presented as means +SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons was employed for comparisons with more than two groups, otherwise Student's paired T-test was utilized. P values are reported.

(Figure on subsequent page):



Е



Co-culture induces the expression of inflammatory cytokines. Messenger RNA was extracted from co-cultured or not co-cultured (control) ASM cells and gene array analysis was performed by Illumina HT-12 version 4 Expression BeadChip (Illumina) (n=6). Gene array analysis was performed using FlexArray software and a Cyber-T test followed by a Benjamini-Hochberg p-value correction for multiple comparisons. Genes that were up or down-regulated two-fold or more and possessed corrected P values<0.05 were labelled on the volcano plot. Data are presented as mean log fold change.



Co-culture of epithelial cells increases the expression of miR-210-3p without affecting miR-143/145. Total RNA was extracted from co-cultured or not co-cultured (control) ASM cells and RT-qPCR was performed to examine the expression of (A) miR-143 (n=5) (B) miR-145 (n=4). MiR-103a-3p was used to normalize the data. MiRNA microarray was performed by Exiqon miRCURY LNATM Array microRNA 7th generation profiling services. (C) Volcano plot analysis demonstrates 5 miRNAs that may be differentially expressed (n=6). RT-qPCR was performed and expression of (D) miR-210-3p (n=9), (E) miR-1246 (n=9) is presented with P values reported. Data are presented as means +SE. For RT-qPCR, Student's paired T-test was utilized. P values are reported.

(Figure on subsequent page):



MiR-210s role in co-culture induced proliferation. (A) RT-qPCR was performed on mRNA of ASM cells that had been co-cultured or not (control) with BEAS-2B cells for 24 hours to assess the expression of Max-binding protein (Mnt) (n=9). (B) ASM cells were transfected with a mimic of miR-210-3p or cel-miR-39-3p (control) prior to BrdU assay to assess the role of miR-210-3p in proliferation (n=5). Data are presented as means +SE. ANOVA with Tukey post hoc pairwise comparisons was employed for comparisons with more than two groups, otherwise Student's paired T-test was utilized. P values are reported.



4.6 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine mechanisms by which airway epithelial cells induce the proliferation of ASM. ASM growth may represent an important mechanism by which the airway is remodelled in asthma and understanding the mitogenesis of this tissue is an important area of research. We have identified that ASM cells undergo increased rates of proliferation after culture with epithelial cells. The proliferation was accompanied by the appearance of a proinflammatory phenotype with expression of several chemokines and cytokines. The proliferation was associated with expression of miR-210, not previously associated with ASM proliferation and providing a potential mechanism for this observation.

Smooth muscle cells differ from other muscle in their ability to de-differentiate towards a less contractile, more proliferative state [498]. This ability to revert back into a proliferative cell provides a potential explanation for the source of increased mass of muscle surrounding the asthmatic airway. The proliferation of ASM cells derived from asthmatic patients is indeed increased [438] and the mass of this tissue surrounding the airways is augmented [339,499]. Although the presumed functional consequence of asthmatic ASM is increased airway reactivity, it has been observed that ASM cells may exist in discrete populations, where there are cells actively proliferating at the same time as others that are expressing proteins of the contractile apparatus [302]. If the smooth muscle remodeling that occurs in the asthmatic airway does so inwards towards the epithelium, the proximity of pro-proliferative factors released by epithelial cells may have an impact on driving further remodeling. Janssen proposed that inwardly growing muscle would not only contribute to the increased mass observed in asthma, but may also contribute to decreased luminal area [500]. However, it is unclear at this time as to which direction the muscle grows, or whether there is directionality at all.

Due to the potential of airway epithelial cells to secrete EGFR ligands [374,496], we explored the possibility that this tyrosine kinase receptor is responsible for mediating co-culture induced proliferation. Although there was increased expression of mRNA for HB-EGF in ASM cells after co-culture as well as augmented protein in the supernatant, inhibition of the receptor with appropriate concentrations of AG1478 and afatinib did not limit the induced proliferation. The increase in expression of this EGFR ligand without an obvious functional role may imply that HB-EGF could act as a marker of the proliferative phenotype, but does not necessarily drive proliferation itself. HB-EGF has been previously proposed as a biomarker of proliferating ASM, and the expression of this ligand in the muscle was associated with asthma severity [501].

It has been previously demonstrated that co-culture with epithelial cells drives the proliferation of ASM [383]. Malavia et al explored the hypothesis that injury to epithelial cells may drive the proliferation of ASM cells. Asthmatic airway epithelial cells are likely more fragile than those cells derived from healthy controls [502]. Injured epithelial cells induced a further increase in ASM cell proliferation than epithelial cells alone, and may depend on matrix metalloproteinases [383]. The mechanism by which un-injured epithelial cells drive increased proliferation has remained elusive. Although treatment of the co-cultures with the anti-inflammatory steroid dexamethasone prevented co-culture induced proliferation of ASM cells, it also significantly reduced the rate of proliferation in non co-cultured ASM cells [383]. Furthermore, the possibility of ASM cells participating in driving this proliferation in an autocrine manner has not been explored and it has been demonstrated that this phenomenon is an important driver of proliferation [247,503].

Other recent work has indicated a role for miRNA in regulating ASM cell proliferation [276]. We observed increased miR-210-3p within ASM cells after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. Previous work demonstrating a role of miR-210 in driving proliferation of fibroblasts in a Mnt specific manner [492] led us to explore this mechanism. Indeed, we observed reduced expression of Mnt in co-cultured ASM cells. Furthermore, other miRNAs have been associated with ASM cell phenotype regulation. MiR143 and miR145 target the pro-proliferative co-transcription factor Elk1 [272] and thus we tested the hypothesis that these miRs were reduced after co-culture. However we did not observe diminished expression of these two miRs. MiR-25 targets KLF4 in ASM cells therefore regulates the proliferative phenotype [275] but was not differentially expressed by co-culture, which was consistent with the lack of change in KLF4 mRNA in co-cultured cells.

Motivated by previous literature that miR-210 can negatively regulate the tumour suppressive Mnt [492], we explored its expression after co-culture of ASM cells with epithelial cells. The reduction we observed in ASM cell Mnt mRNA construct is consistent with the notion that this tumour-suppressor may regulate proliferation of this cell type.

Examination of models that drive the growth of ASM may help to uncover therapeutic targets for the treatment of this disease. This study has demonstrated that, *in-vitro*, co-culture with epithelial cells increases the rate of proliferation and expression of the pro-proliferative co-transcription factor Elk1 in ASM cells. Although this was accompanied with augmented expression of HB-EGF within the ASM cells, the EGFR did not appear to mediate the induced proliferative response. We observed increased expression of the pro-proliferative miRNA-210, and reduction of its target tumour suppressive protein Mnt. Furthermore, overexpression of miR-210 in ASM cells increased the rate of proliferation, implicating this miRNA as a candidate mediator of airway wall remodeling. Others have successfully administered miRNA antagonists to *in vivo* models of allergic asthma, indicating promise for the use of miRNA antagonists for the treatment

of asthma [273,504]. Future *in-vivo* work exploring this miRNA in models of asthma will be necessary to further understand the importance of this miR in driving pathogenesis of this disease.

Supplemental S1

IFI27 2.37

Upregulated				Downregulated	
Gene	Fold Change	Gene	Fold Change	Gene	Fold Change
IL6	7.49	PTGES	2.37	ADH1A	0.45
CCL8	5.49	BDKRB1	2.34	EGR1	0.47
CXCL1	4.61	G0S2	2.33	HMOX1	0.49
IL8	4.16	C15ORF48	2.33	CTGF	0.49
CXCL6	4.07	NAMPT	2.27		
CCL7	3.34	ECGF1	2.26		
PTGS2	3.23	C1QTNF1	2.25		
STC1	3.06	SOD2	2.2		
CXCL5	3.04	TMEM158	2.19		
ISG15	2.75	MT1G	2.18		
BNIP3	2.68	NFKBIZ	2.15		
MTE	2.67	MX2	2.15		
HSD11B1	2.67	LOC644774	2.14		
MT1X	2.61	TPI1	2.11		
CCL2	2.6	OAS3	2.09		
CXCL2	2.58	MXRA5	2.08		
SLC39A14	2.53	SLC11A2	2.06		
IFI44L	2.53	SLC15A3	2.06		
MX1	2.51	CLDN1	2.05		
CA12	2.47	CFB	2.05		
CXCL10	2.46	ISG20	2.04		
IFITM1	2.45	MMP1	2.04		
LOC441019	2.45	MT1E	2.02		
SLC16A3	2.44	MT1A	2.02		
NFKBIA	2.4	SLC39A8	2		
TNFAIP6	2.39	EPSTI1	2		

CHAPTER 5:

General Discussion and Conclusions

5.1 Discussion and Conclusions

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the role of the airway epithelial cells in coordinating specific aspects of airway remodeling. It has become increasingly evident that airway epithelial cells play a critical role in modulating airway inflammation and structural cell remodeling. More specifically, the work conducted in this dissertation aimed to understand how epithelial cells respond to the lipid mediator S1P, as well as to increase knowledge regarding the role of epithelial cells in modulating airway smooth muscle cell phenotype.

In the first chapter of experimental work presented here, the airway epithelial cell line, BEAS-2B, was stimulated with the asthma-associated lipid mediator S1P. S1P was of interest due to its potent properties as a ligand of GPCRs and its role in innate immunity. We confirmed that stimulation of epithelial cells with S1P generates the release of the pro-inflammatory chemokine IL-8 in a dose-dependent manner. IL-8 and neutrophils have been extensively associated with certain asthma subsets and therefore, this finding represents a potential mechanism in the airway for which neutrophils are recruited to the airway. Corticosteroids are used clinically for the treatment of asthma, however in some patients, the disease is poorly controlled, and thus novel mechanisms to inhibit inflammation may be of great interest in understanding how to treat asthma. S1P is bioactive signalling lipid produced by platelets and mast cells [406,407]. S1P has a prominent role in regulating vascular permeability [505]. Since we demonstrate a role for S1P in driving a pro-inflammatory response from the epithelium, we were interested in potential targets of this molecule, and to better understand the molecular pathways by which S1P induces IL-8 release. S1Ps previously described role as a regulator of airway inflammation [53,54] and its presence in the asthmatic sputum [352] makes it an attractive mediator to study. Since S1P is a GPCR ligand, and GPCR inhibition is an avenue that has generated great promise in the

treatment of many diseases, we were interested in better understanding which S1P receptor(s) mediated this phenomenon. We observed that specific inhibition of S1PR2, but not S1PR1 or S1PR3, inhibited IL-8 release by BEAS-2B cells. Furthermore, we confirmed that S1PR3 antagonist was indeed functionally active by examining the inhibition of calcium responses in airway smooth muscle cells after stimulating these cells with S1P. Cells that were pre-treated with the same concentration of the inhibitor CAY10444 that was used on the epithelial cells released significantly less calcium, indicating that the drug was active. To be sure that the S1PR1 antagonist W123 was active, we utilized an agonist of this receptor, stimulating the BEAS-2B cells with SEW2871. Stimulation with this specific agonist did not induce the release of IL-8, indicating no role of this receptor in mediating this process.

To better understand the transcriptional activation of IL-8 after S1P stimulation, we explored the sensitivity of this pathway to pre-treatment with the NF- κ B inhibitor helenalin or the AP-1 inhibitor SR 11302. Inhibition of NF- κ B but not AP-1 prevented the release of S1P induced IL-8. We therefore examined the translocation of NF- κ B to the nucleus through the use of luciferase reporter BEAS-2B cells and we observed increased luciferase activity in cells that were stimulated with S1P. Furthermore, inhibition of S1PR2 prior to stimulation with S1P prevented the translocation of NF- κ B, adding more evidence that this receptor does indeed initiate this signalling process.

Examination of transactivation of the EGFR revealed that this receptor was not important in mediating S1P induced IL-8 release. Using siRNA against this tyrosine kinase receptor, or inhibitors at reasonable concentrations did not prevent IL-8 release. Furthermore, inhibition of the metalloproteinases with either GM6001 or TAP-1 also did not prevent IL-8 secretion. Since MMPs cleave EGFR ligands, this further indicates no role of the EGFR in mediating this event.

Finally, due to the potential of ROS to mediate GPCR signalling, we explored the generation of ROS in BEAS-2B cells with the oxidative sensitive dye DCFH-DA and we observed no significant increase in the production of such species. We also did not observe the inhibition of IL-8 release with pre-treatment of the BEAS-2B cells with the antioxidants N-acetylcysteine or DPI.

With this knowledge, the use of the S1PR2 inhibitor JTE-013 may now be applied to understand if there may be a functional role of this receptor in driving neutrophilia in animal models of asthma. This will help to elucidate the clinical potential of JTE-013.

In the next chapter of experimental work, the potential role of the airway epithelium in modulating airway smooth muscle phenotype was examined. ASM cells are critical cells in regulating the diameter of the airways and are important contributors to airway narrowing in asthmatic patients. It is well established that this tissue is remodelled in asthmatic airways and thus understanding mitogenic stimuli of these cells is an important task for respiratory researchers. Furthermore, it is known that ASM cells are phenotypically regulated to be either contractile or proliferative and so we explored both of these phenotypes.

On the contractile side, we showed for the first time, that ASM cells placed in co-culture with epithelial cells demonstrate a reduced contractile phenotype. We observed less force generation of these cells by histamine stimulation after incubation with medium conditioned by primary human bronchial epithelial cells as well as less excitability as demonstrated through calcium responses to histamine. It is possible that asthmatic epithelial cells reduce the contractile phenotype of ASM cells less than that of epithelial cells deriving from healthy control subjects. Perhaps the property of the epithelium as a mitogenic source to drive the increase in mass of this tissue is the major mechanism by which it induces disease. Alternatively asthmatic epithelium

may have different properties and we have explored only epithelium derived from the lungs of previously healthy subjects.

Due to the importance of intracellular calcium release in mediating the initiation of cross bridge cycling of the actinomysosin machinery, we hypothesized that proteins related to the handling of calcium may be transcriptionally modified after co-culture with epithelial cells. After examination of several of these proteins, we concluded that co-culture does not transcriptionally regulate calcium handling.

Prostanoids may also modulate calcium signalling in ASM cells and so we sought to determine whether or not these lipid mediators had a role in co-cultured reduced excitability and force generating ability after stimulation with histamine. Indeed, we observed augmented PGE_2 producing enzymes COX-2 and mPGES-1. We also observed augmented production of PGE₂ in the co-cultured supernatant compared to either BEAS-2B cells or ASM cells alone. Pre-treatment of the ASM cells with the general COX inhibitor indomethacin prior to incubation with medium conditioned by BEAS-2B cells restored the calcium release back to levels similar to cells that received no treatment with conditioned medium. COX-1 inhibition with SC-560, but no COX-2 inhibition with Celecoxib, also restored the release of calcium after stimulation with histamine in cells that had been incubated with conditioned medium. This indicates a functional role of COX-1 in mediating epithelial modulation of ASM cell excitability and points towards ASM cell derived PGE₂ as the mediator of this phenomenon. This is of interest due to the lack of literature examining the constitutively active COX-1 enzyme in mediating biological processes. It is much more common that the inducible isoform COX-2 is utilized by cell signalling systems and this data builds on a somewhat small body of literature indicating that COX-1 may be of greater relevance in such systems than was previously thought.

The co-culture system explored in these assays was of great interest to understand airway biology. However, it is true that *in vivo* the smooth muscle tissue always resides nearby the epithelium. It is possible in asthma and other lung diseases where the ASM layer is remodelled that this remodeling occurs in the direction away from the airway lumen. This could imply that any epithelial derived mediators that modulate the phenotype of ASM cells are less active due to the greater distance required to diffuse to the added ASM. This is one explanation as to the clinical significance of these findings. Another interesting discovery was that COX-1 plays a role in ASM cell excitability. Inhibition of COX-1 led to a more contractile cell, and so it may be possible that selective activation of this enzyme could lead to a more relaxed tissue and represents a possible area for follow up studies to demonstrate clinical potential. This could have implications for aspirin-sensitive asthmatics who are intolerant to NSAIDs as the inhibition of COX-1 may further augment the excitability of the ASM cells. Indeed, aerosol administration of PGE₂ to aspirin-sensitive asthmatic patients prevented the reduction in FEV₁ after aspirin challenge [506].

On the proliferative side of the second part of this dissertation, we observed augmented mitogenesis of ASM cells after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. This was determined by examining DNA synthesis after co-culture and demonstrating that co-cultured ASM cells incorporate more BrdU than do those that were not co-cultured. Furthermore, co-cultured ASM cells possessed more mRNA for the pro-proliferative co-transcription factor Elk1. We observed no change in the expression of the pleiotropic transcription factor SRF, nor KLF4.

Due to the previously established importance of the EGFR in mediating the mitogenesis of ASM cells, we determined the role that this tyrosine kinase receptor had in mediating co-culture induced proliferation. Although we observed increased mRNA for HB-EGF within the ASM

cells, as well as increased protein in the cell culture supernatant of the co-cultured cells, the amount of BrdU incorporation after co-culture was not reduced after pre-treatment with two EGFR inhibitors. Furthermore, stimulation of the ASM cells with BEAS-2B conditioned medium did not activate phosphorylation of the EGFR, however it did induce AKT phosphorylation. AKT phosphorylation was not sensitive to pre-treatment of the ASM cells with the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor Afatinib.

We did observe augmented quantities of mRNA for several pro-inflammatory proteins including IL-6 and IL-8 within the ASM cells after co-culture ASM cells have been well described to synthesize pro-inflammatory chemokines [507]. Gene array data indicated a pro-inflammatory phenotype implying regulation of genes associated with the NF-κB system and other cytokines such as CXCL-1, CXCL5, CCL2, and COX-2. Cytokines have the ability to induce proliferation of ASM cells and this therefore represents an avenue by which the tissue is remodelled. Furthermore, IL-8 secretion from asthmatic ASM cells is increased due to augmented NF-κB [508]. The effect of co-culture induced pro-inflammatory chemokine release by asthmatic ASM cells remains to be determined.

The regulation of miRNA in ASM cells has emerged as a novel mechanism by which ASM cell phenotype can be modulated. We examined the expression of previously established miRNAs that regulate ASM cell phenotype, observing no changes in miR-143/145. We next explored the expression of global miRNAs after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells through miRNA array analysis and observed near-significant increases in miR-210-3p, miR-1246 and miR-4732-5p. However, by qPCR analysis, only miR-210-3p was significantly increased by co-culture. One of miR-210's putative target proteins, Mnt, was reduced after co-culture with BEAS-2B cells. miR-210's inhibition of this protein has been previously described to augment the

proliferation of airway fibroblasts. We determined the ability of miR-210 to increase ASM cell proliferation by transfection with a mimic of miR-210-3p. Cells given exogenous miR-210 mimic were indeed more proliferative, demonstrating for the first time that this miRNA may play a role in ASM cell remodeling. Future work exploring miR-210 as a target for therapeutic efficacy in the treatment of asthma disease will be of great interest. It will also be of interest to examine the expression of miR-210 in asthmatic ASM cells as well as in epithelial tissue. It may be possible that the miRNA is delivered to ASM cells by the epithelium. This trans-cellular delivery, if true, would represent a novel mechanism by which these two cells communicate and should be explored in future work.

Again, the airway epithelium is always present *in vivo* and so the relative importance of epithelial derived proliferative signals may depend on the direction in which airway smooth muscle remodeling occurs. For example, if the ASM growth occurs towards the lumen of the airway in asthmatic patients, it may be expected that these cells receive greater concentrations of epithelial derived mitogenic factors. The directionality of the growth in asthmatic patients has not been well characterized but is of great interest.

In experiments throughout this thesis, BEAS-2B cells were utilized as a model of the airway epithelium. BEAS-2B cells are widely used as a representative culture of the airway epithelium. These cells possess anti-oxidant capacity similar to that of primary cells [509], and possess many of the same surface molecules that are also expressed on primary bronchial epithelial cells [510]. In comparison to our quantities of IL-8 released from BEAS-2B cells, it was shown that NHBE cells cultured at an air-liquid interface produced between 700-1500 pg/ml IL-8 [511], which is similar to what was observed in chapter two. Furthermore, in chapter three, we observed a larger reduction in calcium release after histamine stimulation in ASM cells that were co-cultured with

NHBE cells compared to BEAS-2B cells. However, the BEAS-2B model has its limitations. BEAS-2B cells do not form the same increase in trans-epithelial electrical resistance when compared to primary epithelial cells [512]. As research moves forward, the use of primary epithelial cells cultured at an air –liquid interface is becoming more widely utilized. Further work examining primary cells cultured at the air-liquid interface and the relationships between S1P-induced IL-8 release and epithelial modulation of ASM cell phenotype will be of interest. In summary, data presented in this thesis provides support for the growing awareness of the role of the airway epithelium in governing airway processes related to the asthmatic phenotype. We have observed a molecular target in S1PR2 as a receptor that mediates S1P induced IL-8 release, a process that likely occurs in the asthmatic airway. We have also explored the effect of epithelial cell co-culture with ASM cells, and observed decreased contractility and increased proliferation.

5.2 Future Directions

Given the efficacy of S1PR2 antagonism for the prevention of IL-8 release by the epithelium after stimulation with S1P, it is of great interest to test the JTE 013 compound in animal models of asthma with the aim of preventing neutrophilia. The prevention of the release of this proinflammatory chemokine could have therapeutic benefit given the impact of airway inflammation of driving exacerbation. In fact, a recent study has demonstrated that systemic pretreatment with JTE 013 in an IgE induced model of allergic lung inflammation reversed serum CCL5 concentration and prevented T cell migration [513]. Furthermore, a monoclonal antibody diminished mast cell derived IL-6 release after allergen challenge [513]. Alternatively, the administration of aerosolized helanalin as an anti-inflammatory agent may prove useful as a drug treatment for these asthmatic patients. However NF-κB, the target of helenalin, is involved in a myriad of signalling pathways and it would likely be safer to target more upstream proteins such as the S1PR2. To bridge the gap between the findings reported here and the use of JTE 013 in the clinic, it would be useful to examine primary airway epithelial cells cultured at an air-liquid interface and the role that this drug plays in the prevention of cytokine release. Additionally, other cytokines such as IL-6 should be explored to further understand the capabilities of this treatment. Neutrophil migration measurements towards the conditioned medium of S1P stimulated air-liquid interface primary epithelial cells will uncover more information regarding the biological significance of the reduced quantities of IL-8 secretion. Finally, a vehicle to specifically deliver JTE 013 to the airway epithelium would be useful due to the variety of cell types that express the S1PR2 receptors. Aerosolization may be the most appropriate mechanism for such delivery.

Future work examining the reduction of the contractile phenotype in ASM cells that derive from asthmatic donors will be of great interest. It is possible that the relaxing effects of the epithelium may be reduced in cells deriving from diseased subjects however this remains to be explored. It is also possible that asthmatic derived epithelial cells may be less effective at reducing the contractility of the ASM. Further examination of the role of COX-1 in mediating this phenotype should be explored *in vivo*, potentially through the use of an inducible knock-out mouse lacking the COX-1 gene specifically in ASM. These animals may be expected to have greater airway hyperresponsiveness to challenge with contractile agonists. If this were true, it would be anticipated that overexpression of COX-1 may further augment the ability of the epithelium to induce a relaxed phenotype of the muscle. Delivery of recombinant COX-1 could also

recapitulate these results and may become an attractive area to explore in using next-generation gene editing techniques.

Due to the results indicating that epithelial co-culture stimulates ASM proliferation, future work should be conducted examining the quantity of miR-210 as a pro-remodelling molecule. It would be interesting to evaluate the ability to suppress this miR through the use of complementary RNA *in vivo* and also to explore the effect of this treatment on the expression of Mnt and rate of proliferation. Given the ability to use miRNAs as biomarkers, it may be interesting to examine miR-210 expression in a variety of asthmatic endotypes to examine the potential of this small non-coding RNA as such an indicator of disease. It would also be useful to explore the role of miR-210 in other tissues such as the vasculature or other diseases such as cystic fibrosis to better understand the role of this miRNA. Furthermore, if this miRNA is indeed epithelial derived as discussed above, it would be of great interest to examine the effect of epithelial injury and repair on the release of miR-210, given that the asthmatic epithelium appears to be more fragile.

References

1. (1998) Worldwide variations in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Eur Respir J 12: 315-335.

2. Holgate ST (2007) Epithelium dysfunction in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120: 1233-1244; quiz 1245-1236.

3. Akinbami LJ, Moorman JE, Bailey C, Zahran HS, King M, et al. (2012) Trends in asthma prevalence, health care use, and mortality in the United States, 2001-2010. NCHS Data Brief: 1-8.

4. Reddel HK, Taylor DR, Bateman ED, Boulet LP, Boushey HA, et al. (2009) An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: asthma control and exacerbations: standardizing endpoints for clinical asthma trials and clinical practice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180: 59-99.

5. Dunnill MS, Massarella GR, Anderson JA (1969) A comparison of the quantitative anatomy of the bronchi in normal subjects, in status asthmaticus, in chronic bronchitis, and in emphysema. Thorax 24: 176-179.

6. Dunnill MS (1960) The pathology of asthma, with special reference to changes in the bronchial mucosa. J Clin Pathol 13: 27-33.

7. Hoshino M, Takahashi M, Aoike N (2001) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor, and angiogenin immunoreactivity in asthmatic airways and its relationship to angiogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107: 295-301.

8. Homer RJ, Elias JA (2000) Consequences of long-term inflammation. Airway remodeling. Clin Chest Med 21: 331-343, ix.

9. Borish L, Culp JA (2008) Asthma: a syndrome composed of heterogeneous diseases. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 101: 1-8; quiz 8-11, 50.

10. Jatakanon A, Uasuf C, Maziak W, Lim S, Chung KF, et al. (1999) Neutrophilic inflammation in severe persistent asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160: 1532-1539.

11. Burrows B, Martinez FD, Halonen M, Barbee RA, Cline MG (1989) Association of asthma with serum IgE levels and skin-test reactivity to allergens. N Engl J Med 320: 271-277.

12. Barnes PJ (2001) Th2 cytokines and asthma: an introduction. Respir Res 2: 64-65.

13. Chang YJ, Dekruyff RH, Umetsu DT (2013) The role of type 2 innate lymphoid cells in asthma. J Leukoc Biol.

14. Adcock IM, Shirasaki H, Gelder CM, Peters MJ, Brown CR, et al. (1994) The effects of glucocorticoids on phorbol ester and cytokine stimulated transcription factor activation in human lung. Life Sci 55: 1147-1153.

15. Yasumoto K, Okamoto S, Mukaida N, Murakami S, Mai M, et al. (1992) Tumor necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma synergistically induce interleukin 8 production in a human gastric cancer cell line through acting concurrently on AP-1 and NF-kB-like binding sites of the interleukin 8 gene. J Biol Chem 267: 22506-22511.

16. Barlow JL, Bellosi A, Hardman CS, Drynan LF, Wong SH, et al. (2012) Innate IL-13-producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 129: 191-198 e191-194.

17. Bentley AM, Menz G, Storz C, Robinson DS, Bradley B, et al. (1992) Identification of T lymphocytes, macrophages, and activated eosinophils in the bronchial mucosa in intrinsic asthma. Relationship to symptoms and bronchial responsiveness. Am Rev Respir Dis 146: 500-506.

18. Humbert M, Menz G, Ying S, Corrigan CJ, Robinson DS, et al. (1999) The immunopathology of extrinsic (atopic) and intrinsic (non-atopic) asthma: more similarities than differences. Immunol Today 20: 528-533.

19. Kotsimbos AT, Humbert M, Minshall E, Durham S, Pfister R, et al. (1997) Upregulation of alpha GM-CSF-receptor in nonatopic asthma but not in atopic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 99: 666-672.

20. von Moltke J, Ji M, Liang HE, Locksley RM (2016) Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. Nature 529: 221-225.

21. McKinley L, Alcorn JF, Peterson A, Dupont RB, Kapadia S, et al. (2008) TH17 cells mediate steroid-resistant airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Immunol 181: 4089-4097.

22. Kim HY, Lee HJ, Chang YJ, Pichavant M, Shore SA, et al. (2014) Interleukin-17producing innate lymphoid cells and the NLRP3 inflammasome facilitate obesityassociated airway hyperreactivity. Nat Med 20: 54-61.

23. Pearce N, Douwes J (2006) The global epidemiology of asthma in children. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 10: 125-132.

24. Strachan DP (2000) Family size, infection and atopy: the first decade of the "hygiene hypothesis". Thorax 55 Suppl 1: S2-10.

25. Strachan DP (1989) Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ 299: 1259-1260.

26. von Mutius E, Martinez FD, Fritzsch C, Nicolai T, Reitmeir P, et al. (1994) Skin test reactivity and number of siblings. BMJ 308: 692-695.

27. Kramer U, Heinrich J, Wjst M, Wichmann HE (1999) Age of entry to day nursery and allergy in later childhood. Lancet 353: 450-454.

28. Leynaert B, Neukirch C, Jarvis D, Chinn S, Burney P, et al. (2001) Does living on a farm during childhood protect against asthma, allergic rhinitis, and atopy in adulthood? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164: 1829-1834.

29. von Mutius E, Braun-Fahrlander C, Schierl R, Riedler J, Ehlermann S, et al. (2000) Exposure to endotoxin or other bacterial components might protect against the development of atopy. Clin Exp Allergy 30: 1230-1234.

30. Eder W, Klimecki W, Yu L, von Mutius E, Riedler J, et al. (2004) Toll-like receptor 2 as a major gene for asthma in children of European farmers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113: 482-488.

31. Fujimaki H, Saneyoshi K, Shiraishi F, Imai T, Endo T (1997) Inhalation of diesel exhaust enhances antigen-specific IgE antibody production in mice. Toxicology 116: 227-233.

32. (1997) Genes for asthma? An analysis of the European Community Respiratory Health Survey. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156: 1773-1780.

33. Ferreira MA, Matheson MC, Duffy DL, Marks GB, Hui J, et al. (2011) Identification of IL6R and chromosome 11q13.5 as risk loci for asthma. Lancet 378: 1006-1014.

34. Moffatt MF, Kabesch M, Liang L, Dixon AL, Strachan D, et al. (2007) Genetic variants regulating ORMDL3 expression contribute to the risk of childhood asthma. Nature 448: 470-473.

35. Miller M, Tam AB, Cho JY, Doherty TA, Pham A, et al. (2012) ORMDL3 is an inducible lung epithelial gene regulating metalloproteases, chemokines, OAS, and ATF6. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: 16648-16653.

36. Moffatt MF, Gut IG, Demenais F, Strachan DP, Bouzigon E, et al. (2010) A largescale, consortium-based genomewide association study of asthma. N Engl J Med 363: 1211-1221.

37. Gudbjartsson DF, Bjornsdottir US, Halapi E, Helgadottir A, Sulem P, et al. (2009) Sequence variants affecting eosinophil numbers associate with asthma and myocardial infarction. Nat Genet 41: 342-347.

38. Niessen CM (2007) Tight junctions/adherens junctions: basic structure and function. J Invest Dermatol 127: 2525-2532.

39. Rodriguez-Boulan E, Nelson WJ (1989) Morphogenesis of the polarized epithelial cell phenotype. Science 245: 718-725.

40. MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17: 9-26.

41. Hartsock A, Nelson WJ (2008) Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778: 660-669.

42. Lawrence T (2009) The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1: a001651.

43. Sorrentino R, de Souza PM, Sriskandan S, Duffin C, Paul-Clark MJ, et al. (2008) Pattern recognition receptors and interleukin-8 mediate effects of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria on lung epithelial cell function. Br J Pharmacol 154: 864-871.

44. Kunkel SL, Standiford T, Kasahara K, Strieter RM (1991) Interleukin-8 (IL-8): the major neutrophil chemotactic factor in the lung. Exp Lung Res 17: 17-23.

45. Xiao C, Puddicombe SM, Field S, Haywood J, Broughton-Head V, et al. (2011) Defective epithelial barrier function in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128: 549-556 e541-512.

46. Hackett TL, de Bruin HG, Shaheen F, van den Berge M, van Oosterhout AJ, et al. (2013) Caveolin-1 controls airway epithelial barrier function. Implications for asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 49: 662-671.

47. Wan H, Winton HL, Soeller C, Gruenert DC, Thompson PJ, et al. (2000) Quantitative structural and biochemical analyses of tight junction dynamics following exposure of epithelial cells to house dust mite allergen Der p 1. Clin Exp Allergy 30: 685-698.

48. Hackett TL, Singhera GK, Shaheen F, Hayden P, Jackson GR, et al. (2011) Intrinsic phenotypic differences of asthmatic epithelium and its inflammatory responses to respiratory syncytial virus and air pollution. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45: 1090-1100.

49. Sidhu SS, Yuan S, Innes AL, Kerr S, Woodruff PG, et al. (2010) Roles of epithelial cell-derived periostin in TGF-beta activation, collagen production, and collagen gel elasticity in asthma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 14170-14175.

50. Sehra S, Yao W, Nguyen ET, Ahyi AN, Tuana FM, et al. (2011) Periostin regulates goblet cell metaplasia in a model of allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol 186: 4959-4966.

51. Puddicombe SM, Polosa R, Richter A, Krishna MT, Howarth PH, et al. (2000) Involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor in epithelial repair in asthma. FASEB J 14: 1362-1374.

52. Wang Q, Li H, Yao Y, Xia D, Zhou J (2010) The overexpression of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor is responsible for Th17-induced airway remodeling in an experimental asthma model. J Immunol 185: 834-841.

53. Cummings RJ, Parinandi NL, Zaiman A, Wang L, Usatyuk PV, et al. (2002) Phospholipase D activation by sphingosine 1-phosphate regulates interleukin-8 secretion in human bronchial epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 277: 30227-30235.

54. Wang L, Cummings R, Usatyuk P, Morris A, Irani K, et al. (2002) Involvement of phospholipases D1 and D2 in sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced ERK (extracellular-signal-regulated kinase) activation and interleukin-8 secretion in human bronchial epithelial cells. Biochem J 367: 751-760.

55. Bleck B, Tse DB, Jaspers I, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Reibman J (2006) Diesel exhaust particle-exposed human bronchial epithelial cells induce dendritic cell maturation. J Immunol 176: 7431-7437.

56. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H (2012) Lung dendritic cells in respiratory viral infection and asthma: from protection to immunopathology. Annu Rev Immunol 30: 243-270.

57. Jahnsen FL, Strickland DH, Thomas JA, Tobagus IT, Napoli S, et al. (2006) Accelerated antigen sampling and transport by airway mucosal dendritic cells following inhalation of a bacterial stimulus. J Immunol 177: 5861-5867.

58. Hammad H, Lambrecht BN (2008) Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 193-204.

59. Otero K, Vecchi A, Hirsch E, Kearley J, Vermi W, et al. (2010) Nonredundant role of CCRL2 in lung dendritic cell trafficking. Blood 116: 2942-2949.

60. Sammani S, Park KS, Zaidi SR, Mathew B, Wang T, et al. (2011) A sphingosine 1-phosphate 1 receptor agonist modulates brain death-induced neurogenic pulmonary injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45: 1022-1027.

61. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, et al. (2002) Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. Nat Immunol 3: 673-680.

62. Ito T, Wang YH, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, et al. (2005) TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J Exp Med 202: 1213-1223.

63. Baggiolini M, Walz A, Kunkel SL (1989) Neutrophil-activating peptide-1/interleukin 8, a novel cytokine that activates neutrophils. J Clin Invest 84: 1045-1049.

64. Semerad CL, Liu F, Gregory AD, Stumpf K, Link DC (2002) G-CSF is an essential regulator of neutrophil trafficking from the bone marrow to the blood. Immunity 17: 413-423.

65. Summers C, Rankin SM, Condliffe AM, Singh N, Peters AM, et al. (2010) Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease. Trends Immunol 31: 318-324. 66. Sadik CD, Kim ND, Luster AD (2011) Neutrophils cascading their way to inflammation. Trends Immunol 32: 452-460.

67. Pittman K, Kubes P (2013) Damage-associated molecular patterns control neutrophil recruitment. J Innate Immun 5: 315-323.

68. Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL (2003) Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. Nature 425: 516-521.

69. Seys SF, Hox V, Van Gerven L, Dilissen E, Marijsse G, et al. (2015) Damageassociated molecular pattern and innate cytokine release in the airways of competitive swimmers. Allergy 70: 187-194.

70. Murphy PM, Tiffany HL (1991) Cloning of complementary DNA encoding a functional human interleukin-8 receptor. Science 253: 1280-1283.

71. Iijima M, Devreotes P (2002) Tumor suppressor PTEN mediates sensing of chemoattractant gradients. Cell 109: 599-610.

72. Baldridge CW, Gerard RW (1933) The extra respiration of phagocytosis. American Journal of Physiology 103: 235-236.

73. Selvaraj RJ, Sbarra AJ (1966) Relationship of glycolytic and oxidative metabolism to particle entry and destruction in phagocytosing cells. Nature 211: 1272-1276.

74. Holmes B, Page AR, Good RA (1967) Studies of the metabolic activity of leukocytes from patients with a genetic abnormality of phagocytic function. J Clin Invest 46: 1422-1432.

75. Dang PM, Cross AR, Quinn MT, Babior BM (2002) Assembly of the neutrophil respiratory burst oxidase: a direct interaction between p67PHOX and cytochrome b558 II. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 4262-4265.

76. Ohtsuka T, Okamura N, Ishibashi S (1986) Involvement of protein kinase C in the phosphorylation of 46 kDa proteins which are phosphorylated in parallel with activation of NADPH oxidase in intact guinea-pig polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 888: 332-337.

77. Nadeem A, Chhabra SK, Masood A, Raj HG (2003) Increased oxidative stress and altered levels of antioxidants in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111: 72-78.

78. Guo Y, Krumwiede M, White JG, Wangensteen OD (1996) HOCl effects on the tight junctions of rabbit tracheal epithelium. Am J Physiol 270: L224-231.

79. Monteseirin J, Bonilla I, Camacho J, Conde J, Sobrino F (2001) Elevated secretion of myeloperoxidase by neutrophils from asthmatic patients: the effect of immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107: 623-626.

80. Helenius IJ, Tikkanen HO, Haahtela T (1997) Association between type of training and risk of asthma in elite athletes. Thorax 52: 157-160.

81. Bernard A, Carbonnelle S, Michel O, Higuet S, De Burbure C, et al. (2003) Lung hyperpermeability and asthma prevalence in schoolchildren: unexpected associations with the attendance at indoor chlorinated swimming pools. Occup Environ Med 60: 385-394.

82. Calhoun WJ, Reed HE, Moest DR, Stevens CA (1992) Enhanced superoxide production by alveolar macrophages and air-space cells, airway inflammation, and alveolar macrophage density changes after segmental antigen bronchoprovocation in allergic subjects. Am Rev Respir Dis 145: 317-325.

83. Montuschi P, Corradi M, Ciabattoni G, Nightingale J, Kharitonov SA, et al. (1999) Increased 8-isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, in exhaled condensate of asthma patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160: 216-220.

84. Antczak A, Nowak D, Shariati B, Krol M, Piasecka G, et al. (1997) Increased hydrogen peroxide and thiobarbituric acid-reactive products in expired breath condensate of asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 10: 1235-1241.

85. Crapo JD, Oury T, Rabouille C, Slot JW, Chang LY (1992) Copper,zinc superoxide dismutase is primarily a cytosolic protein in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89: 10405-10409.

86. Weisiger RA, Fridovich I (1973) Superoxide dismutase. Organelle specificity. J Biol Chem 248: 3582-3592.

87. Marklund SL (1984) Extracellular superoxide dismutase and other superoxide dismutase isoenzymes in tissues from nine mammalian species. Biochem J 222: 649-655.

88. De Raeve HR, Thunnissen FB, Kaneko FT, Guo FH, Lewis M, et al. (1997) Decreased Cu,Zn-SOD activity in asthmatic airway epithelium: correction by inhaled corticosteroid in vivo. Am J Physiol 272: L148-154.

89. Kelly FJ, Mudway I, Blomberg A, Frew A, Sandstrom T (1999) Altered lung antioxidant status in patients with mild asthma. Lancet 354: 482-483.

90. Itoh K, Wakabayashi N, Katoh Y, Ishii T, Igarashi K, et al. (1999) Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. Genes Dev 13: 76-86.

91. McMahon M, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Hayes JD (2003) Keap1-dependent proteasomal degradation of transcription factor Nrf2 contributes to the negative regulation of antioxidant response element-driven gene expression. J Biol Chem 278: 21592-21600.

92. Velichkova M, Hasson T (2005) Keap1 regulates the oxidation-sensitive shuttling of Nrf2 into and out of the nucleus via a Crm1-dependent nuclear export mechanism. Mol Cell Biol 25: 4501-4513.

93. Jain AK, Bloom DA, Jaiswal AK (2005) Nuclear import and export signals in control of Nrf2. J Biol Chem 280: 29158-29168.

94. Zhang DD, Hannink M (2003) Distinct cysteine residues in Keap1 are required for Keap1-dependent ubiquitination of Nrf2 and for stabilization of Nrf2 by chemopreventive agents and oxidative stress. Mol Cell Biol 23: 8137-8151.

95. Rushmore TH, King RG, Paulson KE, Pickett CB (1990) Regulation of glutathione Stransferase Ya subunit gene expression: identification of a unique xenobiotic-responsive element controlling inducible expression by planar aromatic compounds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 3826-3830.

96. Rangasamy T, Guo J, Mitzner WA, Roman J, Singh A, et al. (2005) Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. J Exp Med 202: 47-59.

97. Ueda S, Nakamura H, Masutani H, Sasada T, Yonehara S, et al. (1998) Redox regulation of caspase-3(-like) protease activity: regulatory roles of thioredoxin and cytochrome c. J Immunol 161: 6689-6695.

98. Hampton MB, Orrenius S (1997) Dual regulation of caspase activity by hydrogen peroxide: implications for apoptosis. FEBS Lett 414: 552-556.

99. Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Aikawa M, Nakamura S, Ogawa H, et al. (2004) Hypochlorous acid, a macrophage product, induces endothelial apoptosis and tissue factor expression: involvement of myeloperoxidase-mediated oxidant in plaque erosion and thrombogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24: 1309-1314.

100. Yang YT, Whiteman M, Gieseg SP (2012) HOCl causes necrotic cell death in human monocyte derived macrophages through calcium dependent calpain activation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823: 420-429.

101. Yap YW, Whiteman M, Bay BH, Li Y, Sheu FS, et al. (2006) Hypochlorous acid induces apoptosis of cultured cortical neurons through activation of calpains and rupture of lysosomes. J Neurochem 98: 1597-1609.

102. Leustik M, Doran S, Bracher A, Williams S, Squadrito GL, et al. (2008) Mitigation of chlorine-induced lung injury by low-molecular-weight antioxidants. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295: L733-743.

103. McGovern TK, Powell WS, Day BJ, White CW, Govindaraju K, et al. (2010) Dimethylthiourea protects against chlorine induced changes in airway function in a murine model of irritant induced asthma. Respir Res 11: 138.

104. Smith LJ, Houston M, Anderson J (1993) Increased levels of glutathione in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 147: 1461-1464.

105. Finkel T (2000) Redox-dependent signal transduction. FEBS Lett 476: 52-54.

106. Kinnula VL, Adler KB, Ackley NJ, Crapo JD (1992) Release of reactive oxygen species by guinea pig tracheal epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Physiol 262: L708-712.

107. Kazzaz JA, Xu J, Palaia TA, Mantell L, Fein AM, et al. (1996) Cellular oxygen toxicity. Oxidant injury without apoptosis. J Biol Chem 271: 15182-15186.

108. Wright DT, Fischer BM, Li C, Rochelle LG, Akley NJ, et al. (1996) Oxidant stress stimulates mucin secretion and PLC in airway epithelium via a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. Am J Physiol 271: L854-861.

109. Bae YS, Kang SW, Seo MS, Baines IC, Tekle E, et al. (1997) Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced generation of hydrogen peroxide. Role in EGF receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 272: 217-221.

110. Van Wart HE, Birkedal-Hansen H (1990) The cysteine switch: a principle of regulation of metalloproteinase activity with potential applicability to the entire matrix metalloproteinase gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 5578-5582.

111. Fu X, Kassim SY, Parks WC, Heinecke JW (2001) Hypochlorous acid oxygenates the cysteine switch domain of pro-matrilysin (MMP-7). A mechanism for matrix metalloproteinase activation and atherosclerotic plaque rupture by myeloperoxidase. J Biol Chem 276: 41279-41287.

112. Nakanaga T, Nadel JA, Ueki IF, Koff JL, Shao MX (2007) Regulation of interleukin-8 via an airway epithelial signaling cascade. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292: L1289-1296.

113. Galter D, Mihm S, Droge W (1994) Distinct effects of glutathione disulphide on the nuclear transcription factor kappa B and the activator protein-1. Eur J Biochem 221: 639-648.

114. Shao MX, Nakanaga T, Nadel JA (2004) Cigarette smoke induces MUC5AC mucin overproduction via tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme in human airway epithelial (NCI-H292) cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287: L420-427.

115. Ravasi S, Citro S, Viviani B, Capra V, Rovati GE (2006) CysLT1 receptor-induced human airway smooth muscle cells proliferation requires ROS generation, EGF receptor transactivation and ERK1/2 phosphorylation. Respir Res 7: 42.

116. Donko A, Peterfi Z, Sum A, Leto T, Geiszt M (2005) Dual oxidases. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 360: 2301-2308.

117. Ameziane-El-Hassani R, Morand S, Boucher JL, Frapart YM, Apostolou D, et al. (2005) Dual oxidase-2 has an intrinsic Ca2+-dependent H2O2-generating activity. J Biol Chem 280: 30046-30054.

118. Persechini A, Moncrief ND, Kretsinger RH (1989) The EF-hand family of calciummodulated proteins. Trends Neurosci 12: 462-467.

119. Chin D, Means AR (2000) Calmodulin: a prototypical calcium sensor. Trends Cell Biol 10: 322-328.

120. Morris JB, Wilkie WS, Shusterman DJ (2005) Acute respiratory responses of the mouse to chlorine. Toxicol Sci 83: 380-387.

121. Payan DG, Brewster DR, Goetzl EJ (1983) Specific stimulation of human T lymphocytes by substance P. J Immunol 131: 1613-1615.

122. Lundberg JM, Saria A, Brodin E, Rosell S, Folkers K (1983) A substance P antagonist inhibits vagally induced increase in vascular permeability and bronchial smooth muscle contraction in the guinea pig. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80: 1120-1124.

123. Trevisani M, Siemens J, Materazzi S, Bautista DM, Nassini R, et al. (2007) 4-Hydroxynonenal, an endogenous aldehyde, causes pain and neurogenic inflammation through activation of the irritant receptor TRPA1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 13519-13524.

124. Nassini R, Pedretti P, Moretto N, Fusi C, Carnini C, et al. (2012) Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 channel localized to non-neuronal airway cells promotes non-neurogenic inflammation. PLoS One 7: e42454.

125. Mills CD, Kincaid K, Alt JM, Heilman MJ, Hill AM (2000) M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm. J Immunol 164: 6166-6173.

126. Mosser DM, Edwards JP (2008) Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 958-969.

127. Stein M, Keshav S, Harris N, Gordon S (1992) Interleukin 4 potently enhances murine macrophage mannose receptor activity: a marker of alternative immunologic macrophage activation. J Exp Med 176: 287-292.

128. Gratchev A, Guillot P, Hakiy N, Politz O, Orfanos CE, et al. (2001) Alternatively activated macrophages differentially express fibronectin and its splice variants and the extracellular matrix protein betaIG-H3. Scand J Immunol 53: 386-392.

129. Munder M, Eichmann K, Modolell M (1998) Alternative metabolic states in murine macrophages reflected by the nitric oxide synthase/arginase balance: competitive regulation by CD4+ T cells correlates with Th1/Th2 phenotype. J Immunol 160: 5347-5354.
130. Adler H, Beland JL, Del-Pan NC, Kobzik L, Brewer JP, et al. (1997) Suppression of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1)-induced pneumonia in mice by inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS, NOS2). J Exp Med 185: 1533-1540.

131. Tang C, Inman MD, van Rooijen N, Yang P, Shen H, et al. (2001) Th type 1stimulating activity of lung macrophages inhibits Th2-mediated allergic airway inflammation by an IFN-gamma-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 166: 1471-1481.

132. Draijer C, Robbe P, Boorsma CE, Hylkema MN, Melgert BN (2013) Characterization of macrophage phenotypes in three murine models of house-dust-miteinduced asthma. Mediators Inflamm 2013: 632049.

133. Boorsma CE, Draijer C, Melgert BN (2013) Macrophage heterogeneity in respiratory diseases. Mediators Inflamm 2013: 769214.

134. Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, et al. (1990) Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 323: 1033-1039.

135. O'Byrne PM, Inman MD, Parameswaran K (2001) The trials and tribulations of IL-5, eosinophils, and allergic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108: 503-508.

136. Louahed J, Zhou Y, Maloy WL, Rani PU, Weiss C, et al. (2001) Interleukin 9 promotes influx and local maturation of eosinophils. Blood 97: 1035-1042.

137. Matsukura S, Stellato C, Georas SN, Casolaro V, Plitt JR, et al. (2001) Interleukin-13 upregulates eotaxin expression in airway epithelial cells by a STAT6-dependent mechanism. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24: 755-761.

138. Frigas E, Loegering DA, Solley GO, Farrow GM, Gleich GJ (1981) Elevated levels of the eosinophil granule major basic protein in the sputum of patients with bronchial asthma. Mayo Clin Proc 56: 345-353.

139. Flavahan NA, Slifman NR, Gleich GJ, Vanhoutte PM (1988) Human eosinophil major basic protein causes hyperreactivity of respiratory smooth muscle. Role of the epithelium. Am Rev Respir Dis 138: 685-688.

140. Fryer AD, Jacoby DB (1998) Muscarinic receptors and control of airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158: S154-160.

141. Weller PF, Lee CW, Foster DW, Corey EJ, Austen KF, et al. (1983) Generation and metabolism of 5-lipoxygenase pathway leukotrienes by human eosinophils: predominant production of leukotriene C4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80: 7626-7630.

142. Panettieri RA, Tan EM, Ciocca V, Luttmann MA, Leonard TB, et al. (1998) Effects of LTD4 on human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation, matrix expression, and contraction In vitro: differential sensitivity to cysteinyl leukotriene receptor antagonists. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 19: 453-461.

143. Nonaka M, Nonaka R, Woolley K, Adelroth E, Miura K, et al. (1995) Distinct immunohistochemical localization of IL-4 in human inflamed airway tissues. IL-4 is localized to eosinophils in vivo and is released by peripheral blood eosinophils. J Immunol 155: 3234-3244.

144. Schmid-Grendelmeier P, Altznauer F, Fischer B, Bizer C, Straumann A, et al. (2002) Eosinophils express functional IL-13 in eosinophilic inflammatory diseases. J Immunol 169: 1021-1027.

145. Nakajima T, Yamada H, Iikura M, Miyamasu M, Izumi S, et al. (1998) Intracellular localization and release of eotaxin from normal eosinophils. FEBS Lett 434: 226-230.

146. Ayars GH, Altman LC, McManus MM, Agosti JM, Baker C, et al. (1989) Injurious effect of the eosinophil peroxide-hydrogen peroxide-halide system and major basic protein on human nasal epithelium in vitro. Am Rev Respir Dis 140: 125-131.

147. Moqbel R, Macdonald AJ, Cromwell O, Kay AB (1990) Release of leukotriene C4 (LTC4) from human eosinophils following adherence to IgE- and IgG-coated schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. Immunology 69: 435-442.

148. Pavord ID, Korn S, Howarth P, Bleecker ER, Buhl R, et al. (2012) Mepolizumab for severe eosinophilic asthma (DREAM): a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 380: 651-659.

149. Barnes PJ (2008) Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 183-192.

150. Dabbagh K, Takeyama K, Lee HM, Ueki IF, Lausier JA, et al. (1999) IL-4 induces mucin gene expression and goblet cell metaplasia in vitro and in vivo. J Immunol 162: 6233-6237.

151. Lopez AF, Sanderson CJ, Gamble JR, Campbell HD, Young IG, et al. (1988) Recombinant human interleukin 5 is a selective activator of human eosinophil function. J Exp Med 167: 219-224.

152. Wang JM, Rambaldi A, Biondi A, Chen ZG, Sanderson CJ, et al. (1989) Recombinant human interleukin 5 is a selective eosinophil chemoattractant. Eur J Immunol 19: 701-705.

153. Ramos-Barbon D, Presley JF, Hamid QA, Fixman ED, Martin JG (2005) Antigenspecific CD4+ T cells drive airway smooth muscle remodeling in experimental asthma. J Clin Invest 115: 1580-1589.

154. Striz I, Mio T, Adachi Y, Robbins RA, Romberger DJ, et al. (1999) IL-4 and IL-13 stimulate human bronchial epithelial cells to release IL-8. Inflammation 23: 545-555.

155. Hanania NA, Noonan M, Corren J, Korenblat P, Zheng Y, et al. (2015) Lebrikizumab in moderate-to-severe asthma: pooled data from two randomised placebocontrolled studies. Thorax 70: 748-756.

156. Rogers DF (2004) Airway mucus hypersecretion in asthma: an undervalued pathology? Curr Opin Pharmacol 4: 241-250.

157. Kuperman DA, Huang X, Koth LL, Chang GH, Dolganov GM, et al. (2002) Direct effects of interleukin-13 on epithelial cells cause airway hyperreactivity and mucus overproduction in asthma. Nat Med 8: 885-889.

158. Iwakura Y, Ishigame H (2006) The IL-23/IL-17 axis in inflammation. J Clin Invest 116: 1218-1222.

159. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, et al. (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441: 235-238.

160. Molet S, Hamid Q, Davoine F, Nutku E, Taha R, et al. (2001) IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108: 430-438.

161. Kearley J, Barker JE, Robinson DS, Lloyd CM (2005) Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. J Exp Med 202: 1539-1547.

162. Del Prete G, Maggi E, Parronchi P, Chretien I, Tiri A, et al. (1988) IL-4 is an essential factor for the IgE synthesis induced in vitro by human T cell clones and their supernatants. J Immunol 140: 4193-4198.

163. Coffman RL, Ohara J, Bond MW, Carty J, Zlotnik A, et al. (1986) B cell stimulatory factor-1 enhances the IgE response of lipopolysaccharide-activated B cells. J Immunol 136: 4538-4541.

164. Segal DM, Taurog JD, Metzger H (1977) Dimeric immunoglobulin E serves as a unit signal for mast cell degranulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74: 2993-2997.

165. Hart PH (2001) Regulation of the inflammatory response in asthma by mast cell products. Immunol Cell Biol 79: 149-153.

166. Busse W, Corren J, Lanier BQ, McAlary M, Fowler-Taylor A, et al. (2001) Omalizumab, anti-IgE recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of severe allergic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108: 184-190.

167. Snider DP, Segal DM (1989) Efficiency of antigen presentation after antigen targeting to surface IgD, IgM, MHC, Fc gamma RII, and B220 molecules on murine splenic B cells. J Immunol 143: 59-65.

168. Gray D, Skarvall H (1988) B-cell memory is short-lived in the absence of antigen. Nature 336: 70-73.

169. Luger EO, Fokuhl V, Wegmann M, Abram M, Tillack K, et al. (2009) Induction of long-lived allergen-specific plasma cells by mucosal allergen challenge. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124: 819-826 e814.

170. Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Takedatsu H, Blumberg RS, Bhan AK (2002) Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10-producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation. Immunity 16: 219-230.

171. Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Vieira P, Mosmann TR, Howard M, et al. (1991) IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. J Immunol 146: 3444-3451.

172. Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A (1991) IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J Immunol 147: 3815-3822.

173. Wilson MS, Elnekave E, Mentink-Kane MM, Hodges MG, Pesce JT, et al. (2007) IL-13Ralpha2 and IL-10 coordinately suppress airway inflammation, airway-hyperreactivity, and fibrosis in mice. J Clin Invest 117: 2941-2951.

174. Lundy SK, Berlin AA, Martens TF, Lukacs NW (2005) Deficiency of regulatory B cells increases allergic airway inflammation. Inflamm Res 54: 514-521.

175. Lee KM, Stott RT, Zhao G, SooHoo J, Xiong W, et al. (2014) TGF-beta-producing regulatory B cells induce regulatory T cells and promote transplantation tolerance. Eur J Immunol 44: 1728-1736.

176. van de Veen W, Stanic B, Yaman G, Wawrzyniak M, Sollner S, et al. (2013) IgG4 production is confined to human IL-10-producing regulatory B cells that suppress antigen-specific immune responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131: 1204-1212.

177. Lee JH, Noh J, Noh G, Choi WS, Cho S, et al. (2011) Allergen-specific transforming growth factor-beta-producing CD19+CD5+ regulatory B-cell (Br3) responses in human late eczematous allergic reactions to cow's milk. J Interferon Cytokine Res 31: 441-449.

178. Noh J, Choi WS, Noh G, Lee JH (2010) Presence of Foxp3-expressing CD19(+)CD5(+) B Cells in Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells: Human CD19(+)CD5(+)Foxp3(+) Regulatory B Cell (Breg). Immune Netw 10: 247-249.

179. Spiegel S, Milstien S (2003) Sphingosine-1-phosphate: an enigmatic signalling lipid. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4: 397-407.

180. Pralhada Rao R, Vaidyanathan N, Rengasamy M, Mammen Oommen A, Somaiya N, et al. (2013) Sphingolipid metabolic pathway: an overview of major roles played in human diseases. J Lipids 2013: 178910.

181. Sutherland CM, Moretti PA, Hewitt NM, Bagley CJ, Vadas MA, et al. (2006) The calmodulin-binding site of sphingosine kinase and its role in agonist-dependent translocation of sphingosine kinase 1 to the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 281: 11693-11701.

182. Pitson SM, Moretti PA, Zebol JR, Lynn HE, Xia P, et al. (2003) Activation of sphingosine kinase 1 by ERK1/2-mediated phosphorylation. EMBO J 22: 5491-5500.

183. Haimovitz-Friedman A, Kolesnick RN, Fuks Z (1997) Ceramide signaling in apoptosis. Br Med Bull 53: 539-553.

184. Chalfant CE, Spiegel S (2005) Sphingosine 1-phosphate and ceramide 1-phosphate: expanding roles in cell signaling. J Cell Sci 118: 4605-4612.

185. Cuvillier O, Pirianov G, Kleuser B, Vanek PG, Coso OA, et al. (1996) Suppression of ceramide-mediated programmed cell death by sphingosine-1-phosphate. Nature 381: 800-803.

186. Mao C, Wadleigh M, Jenkins GM, Hannun YA, Obeid LM (1997) Identification and characterization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae dihydrosphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase. J Biol Chem 272: 28690-28694.

187. Saba JD, Nara F, Bielawska A, Garrett S, Hannun YA (1997) The BST1 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is the sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase. J Biol Chem 272: 26087-26090.

188. Meissner A, Yang J, Kroetsch JT, Sauve M, Dax H, et al. (2012) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-mediated downregulation of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator drives pathological sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling in a mouse model of heart failure. Circulation 125: 2739-2750.

189. Mitra P, Oskeritzian CA, Payne SG, Beaven MA, Milstien S, et al. (2006) Role of ABCC1 in export of sphingosine-1-phosphate from mast cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 16394-16399.

190. Hisano Y, Kobayashi N, Kawahara A, Yamaguchi A, Nishi T (2011) The sphingosine 1-phosphate transporter, SPNS2, functions as a transporter of the phosphorylated form of the immunomodulating agent FTY720. J Biol Chem 286: 1758-1766.

191. Christoffersen C, Obinata H, Kumaraswamy SB, Galvani S, Ahnstrom J, et al. (2011) Endothelium-protective sphingosine-1-phosphate provided by HDL-associated apolipoprotein M. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 9613-9618.

192. Aoki S, Yatomi Y, Ohta M, Osada M, Kazama F, et al. (2005) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-related metabolism in the blood vessel. J Biochem 138: 47-55.

193. Benechet AP, Menon M, Xu D, Samji T, Maher L, et al. (2016) T cell-intrinsic S1PR1 regulates endogenous effector T-cell egress dynamics from lymph nodes during infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113: 2182-2187.

194. Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cinamon G, Lesneski MJ, Xu Y, et al. (2004) Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. Nature 427: 355-360.

195. Schwab SR, Pereira JP, Matloubian M, Xu Y, Huang Y, et al. (2005) Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S1P gradients. Science 309: 1735-1739.

196. Billich A, Bornancin F, Devay P, Mechtcheriakova D, Urtz N, et al. (2003) Phosphorylation of the immunomodulatory drug FTY720 by sphingosine kinases. J Biol Chem 278: 47408-47415.

197. Graler MH, Goetzl EJ (2004) The immunosuppressant FTY720 down-regulates sphingosine 1-phosphate G-protein-coupled receptors. FASEB J 18: 551-553.

198. Mandala S, Hajdu R, Bergstrom J, Quackenbush E, Xie J, et al. (2002) Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists. Science 296: 346-349.

199. Nishiuma T, Nishimura Y, Okada T, Kuramoto E, Kotani Y, et al. (2008) Inhalation of sphingosine kinase inhibitor attenuates airway inflammation in asthmatic mouse model. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294: L1085-1093.

200. Lai WQ, Goh HH, Bao Z, Wong WS, Melendez AJ, et al. (2008) The role of sphingosine kinase in a murine model of allergic asthma. J Immunol 180: 4323-4329.

201. Roviezzo F, D'Agostino B, Brancaleone V, De Gruttola L, Bucci M, et al. (2010) Systemic administration of sphingosine-1-phosphate increases bronchial hyperresponsiveness in the mouse. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42: 572-577.

202. Idzko M, Hammad H, van Nimwegen M, Kool M, Muller T, et al. (2006) Local application of FTY720 to the lung abrogates experimental asthma by altering dendritic cell function. J Clin Invest 116: 2935-2944.

203. Roviezzo F, Sorrentino R, Bertolino A, De Gruttola L, Terlizzi M, et al. (2015) S1Pinduced airway smooth muscle hyperresponsiveness and lung inflammation in vivo: molecular and cellular mechanisms. Br J Pharmacol 172: 1882-1893.

204. Fuerst E, Foster HR, Ward JP, Corrigan CJ, Cousins DJ, et al. (2014) Sphingosine-1-phosphate induces pro-remodelling response in airway smooth muscle cells. Allergy 69: 1531-1539. 205. Rosenfeldt HM, Amrani Y, Watterson KR, Murthy KS, Panettieri RA, Jr., et al. (2003) Sphingosine-1-phosphate stimulates contraction of human airway smooth muscle cells. FASEB J 17: 1789-1799.

206. Hait NC, Allegood J, Maceyka M, Strub GM, Harikumar KB, et al. (2009) Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate. Science 325: 1254-1257.

207. Strub GM, Paillard M, Liang J, Gomez L, Allegood JC, et al. (2011) Sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase 2 in mitochondria interacts with prohibitin 2 to regulate complex IV assembly and respiration. FASEB J 25: 600-612.

208. Alvarez SE, Harikumar KB, Hait NC, Allegood J, Strub GM, et al. (2010) Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a missing cofactor for the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF2. Nature 465: 1084-1088.

209. Visentin B, Vekich JA, Sibbald BJ, Cavalli AL, Moreno KM, et al. (2006) Validation of an anti-sphingosine-1-phosphate antibody as a potential therapeutic in reducing growth, invasion, and angiogenesis in multiple tumor lineages. Cancer Cell 9: 225-238.

210. Sutphen R, Xu Y, Wilbanks GD, Fiorica J, Grendys EC, Jr., et al. (2004) Lysophospholipids are potential biomarkers of ovarian cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 13: 1185-1191.

211. Pitson SM, Xia P, Leclercq TM, Moretti PA, Zebol JR, et al. (2005) Phosphorylation-dependent translocation of sphingosine kinase to the plasma membrane drives its oncogenic signalling. J Exp Med 201: 49-54.

212. Shida D, Kitayama J, Yamaguchi H, Yamashita H, Mori K, et al. (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate transactivates c-Met as well as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in human gastric cancer cells. FEBS Lett 577: 333-338.

213. Limaye V, Li X, Hahn C, Xia P, Berndt MC, et al. (2005) Sphingosine kinase-1 enhances endothelial cell survival through a PECAM-1-dependent activation of PI-3K/Akt and regulation of Bcl-2 family members. Blood 105: 3169-3177.

214. Yip KW, Reed JC (2008) Bcl-2 family proteins and cancer. Oncogene 27: 6398-6406.

215. Pettus BJ, Bielawski J, Porcelli AM, Reames DL, Johnson KR, et al. (2003) The sphingosine kinase 1/sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway mediates COX-2 induction and PGE2 production in response to TNF-alpha. FASEB J 17: 1411-1421.

216. Wang X, Klein RD (2007) Prostaglandin E2 induces vascular endothelial growth factor secretion in prostate cancer cells through EP2 receptor-mediated cAMP pathway. Mol Carcinog 46: 912-923.

217. Keul P, Lucke S, von Wnuck Lipinski K, Bode C, Graler M, et al. (2011) Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 3 promotes recruitment of monocyte/macrophages in inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circ Res 108: 314-323.

218. Dickhout JG, Basseri S, Austin RC (2008) Macrophage function and its impact on atherosclerotic lesion composition, progression, and stability: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28: 1413-1415.

219. Wang F, Okamoto Y, Inoki I, Yoshioka K, Du W, et al. (2010) Sphingosine-1phosphate receptor-2 deficiency leads to inhibition of macrophage proinflammatory activities and atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 120: 3979-3995.

220. Fox TE, Bewley MC, Unrath KA, Pedersen MM, Anderson RE, et al. (2011) Circulating sphingolipid biomarkers in models of type 1 diabetes. J Lipid Res 52: 509-517.

221. Imasawa T, Koike K, Ishii I, Chun J, Yatomi Y (2010) Blockade of sphingosine 1phosphate receptor 2 signaling attenuates streptozotocin-induced apoptosis of pancreatic beta-cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 392: 207-211.

222. Channon JY, Leslie CC (1990) A calcium-dependent mechanism for associating a soluble arachidonoyl-hydrolyzing phospholipase A2 with membrane in the macrophage cell line RAW 264.7. J Biol Chem 265: 5409-5413.

223. Lin LL, Wartmann M, Lin AY, Knopf JL, Seth A, et al. (1993) cPLA2 is phosphorylated and activated by MAP kinase. Cell 72: 269-278.

224. Haworth O, Cernadas M, Yang R, Serhan CN, Levy BD (2008) Resolvin E1 regulates interleukin 23, interferon-gamma and lipoxin A4 to promote the resolution of allergic airway inflammation. Nat Immunol 9: 873-879.

225. Celik GE, Erkekol FO, Misirligil Z, Melli M (2007) Lipoxin A4 levels in asthma: relation with disease severity and aspirin sensitivity. Clin Exp Allergy 37: 1494-1501.

226. Miyahara N, Takeda K, Miyahara S, Taube C, Joetham A, et al. (2005) Leukotriene B4 receptor-1 is essential for allergen-mediated recruitment of CD8+ T cells and airway hyperresponsiveness. J Immunol 174: 4979-4984.

227. Gimbrone MA, Jr., Brock AF, Schafer AI (1984) Leukotriene B4 stimulates polymorphonuclear leukocyte adhesion to cultured vascular endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 74: 1552-1555.

228. Hicks A, Monkarsh SP, Hoffman AF, Goodnow R, Jr. (2007) Leukotriene B4 receptor antagonists as therapeutics for inflammatory disease: preclinical and clinical developments. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 16: 1909-1920.

229. Dahlen SE, Bjork J, Hedqvist P, Arfors KE, Hammarstrom S, et al. (1981) Leukotrienes promote plasma leakage and leukocyte adhesion in postcapillary venules: in vivo effects with relevance to the acute inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78: 3887-3891.

230. Henderson WR, Jr., Tang LO, Chu SJ, Tsao SM, Chiang GK, et al. (2002) A role for cysteinyl leukotrienes in airway remodeling in a mouse asthma model. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165: 108-116.

231. Gaber F, Daham K, Higashi A, Higashi N, Gulich A, et al. (2008) Increased levels of cysteinyl-leukotrienes in saliva, induced sputum, urine and blood from patients with aspirin-intolerant asthma. Thorax 63: 1076-1082.

232. Zhu J, Qiu YS, Figueroa DJ, Bandi V, Galczenski H, et al. (2005) Localization and upregulation of cysteinyl leukotriene-1 receptor in asthmatic bronchial mucosa. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 33: 531-540.

233. Dahlen B, Kumlin M, Margolskee DJ, Larsson C, Blomqvist H, et al. (1993) The leukotriene-receptor antagonist MK-0679 blocks airway obstruction induced by inhaled lysine-aspirin in aspirin-sensitive asthmatics. Eur Respir J 6: 1018-1026.

234. Antczak A, Montuschi P, Kharitonov S, Gorski P, Barnes PJ (2002) Increased exhaled cysteinyl-leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in aspirin-induced asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166: 301-306.

235. Schmidt LM, Belvisi MG, Bode KA, Bauer J, Schmidt C, et al. (2011) Bronchial epithelial cell-derived prostaglandin E2 dampens the reactivity of dendritic cells. J Immunol 186: 2095-2105.

236. Barry T, Delamere F, Holland E, Pavord I, Knox A (1995) Production of PGE2 by bovine cultured airway smooth muscle cells: regulation by cAMP. J Appl Physiol (1985) 78: 623-628.

237. Melillo E, Woolley KL, Manning PJ, Watson RM, O'Byrne PM (1994) Effect of inhaled PGE2 on exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149: 1138-1141.

238. Sheller JR, Mitchell D, Meyrick B, Oates J, Breyer R (2000) EP(2) receptor mediates bronchodilation by PGE(2) in mice. J Appl Physiol (1985) 88: 2214-2218.

239. Bureau MF, De Clerck F, Lefort J, Arreto CD, Vargaftig BB (1992) Thromboxane A2 accounts for bronchoconstriction but not for platelet sequestration and microvascular albumin exchanges induced by fMLP in the guinea pig lung. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 260: 832-840.

240. Arakawa H, Lotvall J, Kawikova I, Lofdahl CG, Skoogh BE (1993) Leukotriene D4and prostaglandin F2 alpha-induced airflow obstruction and airway plasma exudation in guinea-pig: role of thromboxane and its receptor. Br J Pharmacol 110: 127-132. 241. Nagao K, Tanaka H, Komai M, Masuda T, Narumiya S, et al. (2003) Role of prostaglandin I2 in airway remodeling induced by repeated allergen challenge in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29: 314-320.

242. Korotkova M, Lundberg IE (2014) The skeletal muscle arachidonic acid cascade in health and inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol 10: 295-303.

243. Dillon PF, Aksoy MO, Driska SP, Murphy RA (1981) Myosin phosphorylation and the cross-bridge cycle in arterial smooth muscle. Science 211: 495-497.

244. Murphy RA, Rembold CM (2005) The latch-bridge hypothesis of smooth muscle contraction. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 83: 857-864.

245. Brewster CE, Howarth PH, Djukanovic R, Wilson J, Holgate ST, et al. (1990) Myofibroblasts and subepithelial fibrosis in bronchial asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 3: 507-511.

246. Johnson PR, Black JL, Carlin S, Ge Q, Underwood PA (2000) The production of extracellular matrix proteins by human passively sensitized airway smooth-muscle cells in culture: the effect of beclomethasone. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162: 2145-2151.

247. Johnson PR, Burgess JK, Underwood PA, Au W, Poniris MH, et al. (2004) Extracellular matrix proteins modulate asthmatic airway smooth muscle cell proliferation via an autocrine mechanism. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113: 690-696.

248. Palmans E, Kips JC, Pauwels RA (2000) Prolonged allergen exposure induces structural airway changes in sensitized rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161: 627-635.

249. Hoshino M, Takahashi M, Takai Y, Sim J (1999) Inhaled corticosteroids decrease subepithelial collagen deposition by modulation of the balance between matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 expression in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 104: 356-363.

250. Ijpma G, Lauzon AM, Martin JG (2013) Airway remodeling: the clinical significance. Shortness of Breath 2: 111-118.

251. Ebina M, Yaegashi H, Takahashi T, Motomiya M, Tanemura M (1990) Distribution of smooth muscles along the bronchial tree. A morphometric study of ordinary autopsy lungs. Am Rev Respir Dis 141: 1322-1326.

252. Hautmann MB, Madsen CS, Owens GK (1997) A transforming growth factor beta (TGFbeta) control element drives TGFbeta-induced stimulation of smooth muscle alphaactin gene expression in concert with two CArG elements. J Biol Chem 272: 10948-10956.

253. Berair R, Saunders R, Brightling CE (2013) Origins of increased airway smooth muscle mass in asthma. BMC Med 11: 145.

254. Hackett TL, Warner SM, Stefanowicz D, Shaheen F, Pechkovsky DV, et al. (2009) Induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in primary airway epithelial cells from patients with asthma by transforming growth factor-beta1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180: 122-133.

255. Ding MJ, Wang LX, Dai YR (2008) [Changes of airway smooth muscle cell apoptosis in asthmatic airway remodeling and the effect of dexamethasone in rats]. Zhonghua Jie He Hu Xi Za Zhi 31: 607-610.

256. Bentley JK, Popova AP, Bozyk PD, Linn MJ, Baek AE, et al. (2010) Ovalbumin sensitization and challenge increases the number of lung cells possessing a mesenchymal stromal cell phenotype. Respir Res 11: 127.

257. Saunders R, Siddiqui S, Kaur D, Doe C, Sutcliffe A, et al. (2009) Fibrocyte localization to the airway smooth muscle is a feature of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123: 376-384.

258. Chamley-Campbell J, Campbell GR, Ross R (1979) The smooth muscle cell in culture. Physiol Rev 59: 1-61.

259. Green DJ, Walsh JH, Maiorana A, Burke V, Taylor RR, et al. (2004) Comparison of resistance and conduit vessel nitric oxide-mediated vascular function in vivo: effects of exercise training. J Appl Physiol (1985) 97: 749-755; discussion 748.

260. Soulez M, Rouviere CG, Chafey P, Hentzen D, Vandromme M, et al. (1996) Growth and differentiation of C2 myogenic cells are dependent on serum response factor. Mol Cell Biol 16: 6065-6074.

261. Babu GJ, Lalli MJ, Sussman MA, Sadoshima J, Periasamy M (2000) Phosphorylation of elk-1 by MEK/ERK pathway is necessary for c-fos gene activation during cardiac myocyte hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol 32: 1447-1457.

262. Miller AD, Curran T, Verma IM (1984) c-fos protein can induce cellular transformation: a novel mechanism of activation of a cellular oncogene. Cell 36: 51-60.

263. Besnard A, Galan-Rodriguez B, Vanhoutte P, Caboche J (2011) Elk-1 a transcription factor with multiple facets in the brain. Front Neurosci 5: 35.

264. Chevigny M, Guerin-Montpetit K, Vargas A, Lefebvre-Lavoie J, Lavoie JP (2015) Contribution of SRF, Elk-1, and myocardin to airway smooth muscle remodeling in heaves, an asthma-like disease of horses. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 309: L37-45.

265. Solway J, Forsythe SM, Halayko AJ, Vieira JE, Hershenson MB, et al. (1998) Transcriptional regulation of smooth muscle contractile apparatus expression. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158: S100-108. 266. Zhou J, Hu G, Herring BP (2005) Smooth muscle-specific genes are differentially sensitive to inhibition by Elk-1. Mol Cell Biol 25: 9874-9885.

267. Wang Z, Wang DZ, Hockemeyer D, McAnally J, Nordheim A, et al. (2004) Myocardin and ternary complex factors compete for SRF to control smooth muscle gene expression. Nature 428: 185-189.

268. Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116: 281-297.

269. Lee Y, Ahn C, Han J, Choi H, Kim J, et al. (2003) The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. Nature 425: 415-419.

270. Yi R, Qin Y, Macara IG, Cullen BR (2003) Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 17: 3011-3016.

271. Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E (2011) Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. Nat Rev Genet 12: 99-110.

272. Cordes KR, Sheehy NT, White MP, Berry EC, Morton SU, et al. (2009) miR-145 and miR-143 regulate smooth muscle cell fate and plasticity. Nature 460: 705-710.

273. Collison A, Mattes J, Plank M, Foster PS (2011) Inhibition of house dust miteinduced allergic airways disease by antagonism of microRNA-145 is comparable to glucocorticoid treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128: 160-167 e164.

274. Liu Y, Yang K, Shi H, Xu J, Zhang D, et al. (2015) MiR-21 modulates human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration in asthma through regulation of PTEN expression. Exp Lung Res 41: 535-545.

275. Kuhn AR, Schlauch K, Lao R, Halayko AJ, Gerthoffer WT, et al. (2010) MicroRNA expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of miR-25 in regulation of airway smooth muscle phenotype. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42: 506-513.

276. Hu R, Pan W, Fedulov AV, Jester W, Jones MR, et al. (2014) MicroRNA-10a controls airway smooth muscle cell proliferation via direct targeting of the PI3 kinase pathway. FASEB J 28: 2347-2357.

277. Comer BS, Camoretti-Mercado B, Kogut PC, Halayko AJ, Solway J, et al. (2015) Cyclooxygenase-2 and microRNA-155 expression are elevated in asthmatic airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 52: 438-447.

278. Li X, Wilson JW (1997) Increased vascularity of the bronchial mucosa in mild asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156: 229-233.

279. Khor YH, Teoh AK, Lam SM, Mo DC, Weston S, et al. (2009) Increased vascular permeability precedes cellular inflammation as asthma control deteriorates. Clin Exp Allergy 39: 1659-1667.

280. Ramos-Barbon D, Fraga-Iriso R, Brienza NS, Montero-Martinez C, Verea-Hernando H, et al. (2010) T Cells localize with proliferating smooth muscle alpha-actin+ cell compartments in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182: 317-324.

281. Halwani R, Vazquez-Tello A, Sumi Y, Pureza MA, Bahammam A, et al. (2013) Eosinophils induce airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. J Clin Immunol 33: 595-604.

282. Qian X, LeVea CM, Freeman JK, Dougall WC, Greene MI (1994) Heterodimerization of epidermal growth factor receptor and wild-type or kinase-deficient Neu: a mechanism of interreceptor kinase activation and transphosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 1500-1504.

283. Chong CR, Janne PA (2013) The quest to overcome resistance to EGFR-targeted therapies in cancer. Nat Med 19: 1389-1400.

284. Krymskaya VP, Hoffman R, Eszterhas A, Kane S, Ciocca V, et al. (1999) EGF activates ErbB-2 and stimulates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 276: L246-255.

285. Ediger TL, Schulte NA, Murphy TJ, Toews ML (2003) Transcription factor activation and mitogenic synergism in airway smooth muscle cells. Eur Respir J 21: 759-769.

286. AQszwe (ZAA) Activation of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor involves disruption of an ionic lock between the cytoplasmic ends of transmembrane segments 3 and 6. J Biol Chem 276: 29171-29177.

287. Skiba NP, Bae H, Hamm HE (1996) Mapping of effector binding sites of transducin alpha-subunit using G alpha t/G alpha i1 chimeras. J Biol Chem 271: 413-424.

288. Ferguson SS (2001) Evolving concepts in G protein-coupled receptor endocytosis: the role in receptor desensitization and signaling. Pharmacol Rev 53: 1-24.

289. Oda K, Matsuoka Y, Funahashi A, Kitano H (2005) A comprehensive pathway map of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling. Mol Syst Biol 1: 2005 0010.

290. Ammit AJ, Kane SA, Panettieri RA, Jr. (1999) Activation of K-p21ras and N-p21ras, but not H-p21ras, is necessary for mitogen-induced human airway smooth-muscle proliferation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 21: 719-727.

291. Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Dhand R, Vanhaesebroeck B, Gout I, et al. (1994) Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase as a direct target of Ras. Nature 370: 527-532.

292. Krymskaya VP, Penn RB, Orsini MJ, Scott PH, Plevin RJ, et al. (1999) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase mediates mitogen-induced human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. Am J Physiol 277: L65-78. 293. Ravenhall C, Guida E, Harris T, Koutsoubos V, Stewart A (2000) The importance of ERK activity in the regulation of cyclin D1 levels and DNA synthesis in human cultured airway smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 131: 17-28.

294. Ammit AJ, Panettieri RA, Jr. (2001) Invited review: the circle of life: cell cycle regulation in airway smooth muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985) 91: 1431-1437.

295. Scott PH, Belham CM, al-Hafidh J, Chilvers ER, Peacock AJ, et al. (1996) A regulatory role for cAMP in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/p70 ribosomal S6 kinase-mediated DNA synthesis in platelet-derived-growth-factor-stimulated bovine airway smooth-muscle cells. Biochem J 318 (Pt 3): 965-971.

296. Hawkins PT, Eguinoa A, Qiu RG, Stokoe D, Cooke FT, et al. (1995) PDGF stimulates an increase in GTP-Rac via activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. Curr Biol 5: 393-403.

297. Page K, Li J, Hodge JA, Liu PT, Vanden Hoek TL, et al. (1999) Characterization of a Rac1 signaling pathway to cyclin D(1) expression in airway smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 274: 22065-22071.

298. Bauerfeld CP, Hershenson MB, Page K (2001) Cdc42, but not RhoA, regulates cyclin D1 expression in bovine tracheal myocytes. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 280: L974-982.

299. Nagata D, Suzuki E, Nishimatsu H, Satonaka H, Goto A, et al. (2001) Transcriptional activation of the cyclin D1 gene is mediated by multiple cis-elements, including SP1 sites and a cAMP-responsive element in vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 276: 662-669.

300. Fernandes D, Guida E, Koutsoubos V, Harris T, Vadiveloo P, et al. (1999) Glucocorticoids inhibit proliferation, cyclin D1 expression, and retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation, but not activity of the extracellular-regulated kinases in human cultured airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 21: 77-88.

301. Bonacci JV, Schuliga M, Harris T, Stewart AG (2006) Collagen impairs glucocorticoid actions in airway smooth muscle through integrin signalling. Br J Pharmacol 149: 365-373.

302. Halayko AJ, Rector E, Stephens NL (1997) Characterization of molecular determinants of smooth muscle cell heterogeneity. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 75: 917-929.

303. Halayko AJ, Salari H, Ma X, Stephens NL (1996) Markers of airway smooth muscle cell phenotype. Am J Physiol 270: L1040-1051.

304. Ervasti JM, Campbell KP (1993) A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. J Cell Biol 122: 809-823.

305. Sharma P, Tran T, Stelmack GL, McNeill K, Gosens R, et al. (2008) Expression of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex is a marker for human airway smooth muscle phenotype maturation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294: L57-68.

306. Gosens R, Stelmack GL, Dueck G, Mutawe MM, Hinton M, et al. (2007) Caveolae facilitate muscarinic receptor-mediated intracellular Ca2+ mobilization and contraction in airway smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293: L1406-1418.

307. Ma X, Li W, Stephens NL (1997) Heterogeneity of airway smooth muscle at tissue and cellular levels. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 75: 930-935.

308. Huxley AF, Niedergerke R (1954) Structural changes in muscle during contraction; interference microscopy of living muscle fibres. Nature 173: 971-973.

309. Huxley H, Hanson J (1954) Changes in the cross-striations of muscle during contraction and stretch and their structural interpretation. Nature 173: 973-976.

310. Pearson RB, Jakes R, John M, Kendrick-Jones J, Kemp BE (1984) Phosphorylation site sequence of smooth muscle myosin light chain ($Mr = 20\ 000$). FEBS Lett 168: 108-112.

311. Ikebe M, Hartshorne DJ, Elzinga M (1986) Identification, phosphorylation, and dephosphorylation of a second site for myosin light chain kinase on the 20,000-dalton light chain of smooth muscle myosin. J Biol Chem 261: 36-39.

312. Tyska MJ, Dupuis DE, Guilford WH, Patlak JB, Waller GS, et al. (1999) Two heads of myosin are better than one for generating force and motion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 4402-4407.

313. Stull JT, Kamm KE, Taylor DA (1988) Calcium control of smooth muscle contractility. Am J Med Sci 296: 241-245.

314. Sweeney D, Hollins F, Gomez E, Saunders R, Challiss RA, et al. (2014) [Ca2+]i oscillations in ASM: relationship with persistent airflow obstruction in asthma. Respirology 19: 763-766.

315. Eto M, Ohmori T, Suzuki M, Furuya K, Morita F (1995) A novel protein phosphatase-1 inhibitory protein potentiated by protein kinase C. Isolation from porcine aorta media and characterization. J Biochem 118: 1104-1107.

316. Somlyo AP, Himpens B (1989) Cell calcium and its regulation in smooth muscle. FASEB J 3: 2266-2276.

317. Murray RK, Kotlikoff MI (1991) Receptor-activated calcium influx in human airway smooth muscle cells. J Physiol 435: 123-144.

318. Kotlikoff MI, Murray RK, Reynolds EE (1987) Histamine-induced calcium release and phorbol antagonism in cultured airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 253: C561-566.

319. Prakash YS, Kannan MS, Walseth TF, Sieck GC (1998) Role of cyclic ADP-ribose in the regulation of [Ca2+]i in porcine tracheal smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 274: C1653-1660.

320. Sieck GC, White TA, Thompson MA, Pabelick CM, Wylam ME, et al. (2008) Regulation of store-operated Ca2+ entry by CD38 in human airway smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294: L378-385.

321. Takemura H, Hughes AR, Thastrup O, Putney JW, Jr. (1989) Activation of calcium entry by the tumor promoter thapsigargin in parotid acinar cells. Evidence that an intracellular calcium pool and not an inositol phosphate regulates calcium fluxes at the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 264: 12266-12271.

322. Vig M, Peinelt C, Beck A, Koomoa DL, Rabah D, et al. (2006) CRACM1 is a plasma membrane protein essential for store-operated Ca2+ entry. Science 312: 1220-1223.

323. Roos J, DiGregorio PJ, Yeromin AV, Ohlsen K, Lioudyno M, et al. (2005) STIM1, an essential and conserved component of store-operated Ca2+ channel function. J Cell Biol 169: 435-445.

324. Liou J, Fivaz M, Inoue T, Meyer T (2007) Live-cell imaging reveals sequential oligomerization and local plasma membrane targeting of stromal interaction molecule 1 after Ca2+ store depletion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 9301-9306.

325. Feske S, Gwack Y, Prakriya M, Srikanth S, Puppel SH, et al. (2006) A mutation in Orail causes immune deficiency by abrogating CRAC channel function. Nature 441: 179-185.

326. Muik M, Frischauf I, Derler I, Fahrner M, Bergsmann J, et al. (2008) Dynamic coupling of the putative coiled-coil domain of ORAI1 with STIM1 mediates ORAI1 channel activation. J Biol Chem 283: 8014-8022.

327. Spinelli AM, Gonzalez-Cobos JC, Zhang X, Motiani RK, Rowan S, et al. (2012) Airway smooth muscle STIM1 and Orai1 are upregulated in asthmatic mice and mediate PDGF-activated SOCE, CRAC currents, proliferation, and migration. Pflugers Arch 464: 481-492.

328. Kitazawa T, Gaylinn BD, Denney GH, Somlyo AP (1991) G-protein-mediated Ca2+ sensitization of smooth muscle contraction through myosin light chain phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 266: 1708-1715.

329. Kimura K, Ito M, Amano M, Chihara K, Fukata Y, et al. (1996) Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). Science 273: 245-248.

330. Uehata M, Ishizaki T, Satoh H, Ono T, Kawahara T, et al. (1997) Calcium sensitization of smooth muscle mediated by a Rho-associated protein kinase in hypertension. Nature 389: 990-994.

331. Chiba Y, Takada Y, Miyamoto S, MitsuiSaito M, Karaki H, et al. (1999) Augmented acetylcholine-induced, Rho-mediated Ca2+ sensitization of bronchial smooth muscle contraction in antigen-induced airway hyperresponsive rats. Br J Pharmacol 127: 597-600.

332. Webb RC (2003) Smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Adv Physiol Educ 27: 201-206.

333. Seow CY, Schellenberg RR, Pare PD (1998) Structural and functional changes in the airway smooth muscle of asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158: S179-186.

334. Ma X, Cheng Z, Kong H, Wang Y, Unruh H, et al. (2002) Changes in biophysical and biochemical properties of single bronchial smooth muscle cells from asthmatic subjects. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283: L1181-1189.

335. Matsumoto H, Moir LM, Oliver BG, Burgess JK, Roth M, et al. (2007) Comparison of gel contraction mediated by airway smooth muscle cells from patients with and without asthma. Thorax 62: 848-854.

336. Sutcliffe A, Hollins F, Gomez E, Saunders R, Doe C, et al. (2012) Increased nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase 4 expression mediates intrinsic airway smooth muscle hypercontractility in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185: 267-274.

337. Ammit AJ, Armour CL, Black JL (2000) Smooth-muscle myosin light-chain kinase content is increased in human sensitized airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161: 257-263.

338. Kong SK, Halayko AJ, Stephens NL (1990) Increased myosin phosphorylation in sensitized canine tracheal smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 259: L53-56.

339. Benayoun L, Druilhe A, Dombret MC, Aubier M, Pretolani M (2003) Airway structural alterations selectively associated with severe asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167: 1360-1368.

340. Woodman L, Siddiqui S, Cruse G, Sutcliffe A, Saunders R, et al. (2008) Mast cells promote airway smooth muscle cell differentiation via autocrine up-regulation of TGF-beta 1. J Immunol 181: 5001-5007.

341. Ijpma G, Kachmar L, Matusovsky OS, Bates JH, Benedetti A, et al. (2015) Human trachealis and main bronchi smooth muscle are normoresponsive in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 191: 884-893.

342. Matusovsky OS, Kachmar L, Ijpma G, Bates G, Zitouni N, et al. (2015) Peripheral Airway Smooth Muscle but not the Trachealis is Hypercontractile in an Equine Model of Asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.

343. Deshpande DA, Walseth TF, Panettieri RA, Kannan MS (2003) CD38/cyclic ADPribose-mediated Ca2+ signaling contributes to airway smooth muscle hyperresponsiveness. FASEB J 17: 452-454.

344. Deshpande DA, Dogan S, Walseth TF, Miller SM, Amrani Y, et al. (2004) Modulation of calcium signaling by interleukin-13 in human airway smooth muscle: role of CD38/cyclic adenosine diphosphate ribose pathway. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 31: 36-42.

345. Mahn K, Hirst SJ, Ying S, Holt MR, Lavender P, et al. (2009) Diminished sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ ATPase (SERCA) expression contributes to airway remodelling in bronchial asthma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 10775-10780.

346. Cantero-Recasens G, Fandos C, Rubio-Moscardo F, Valverde MA, Vicente R (2010) The asthma-associated ORMDL3 gene product regulates endoplasmic reticulummediated calcium signaling and cellular stress. Hum Mol Genet 19: 111-121.

347. Sukkar MB, Stanley AJ, Blake AE, Hodgkin PD, Johnson PR, et al. (2004) 'Proliferative' and 'synthetic' airway smooth muscle cells are overlapping populations. Immunol Cell Biol 82: 471-478.

348. Hakonarson H, Maskeri N, Carter C, Grunstein MM (1999) Regulation of TH1- and TH2-type cytokine expression and action in atopic asthmatic sensitized airway smooth muscle. J Clin Invest 103: 1077-1087.

349. Ammit AJ, Hoffman RK, Amrani Y, Lazaar AL, Hay DW, et al. (2000) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced secretion of RANTES and interleukin-6 from human airway smooth-muscle cells. Modulation by cyclic adenosine monophosphate. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 23: 794-802.

350. Hirst SJ, Hallsworth MP, Peng Q, Lee TH (2002) Selective induction of eotaxin release by interleukin-13 or interleukin-4 in human airway smooth muscle cells is synergistic with interleukin-1beta and is mediated by the interleukin-4 receptor alpha-chain. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165: 1161-1171.

351. John M, Au BT, Jose PJ, Lim S, Saunders M, et al. (1998) Expression and release of interleukin-8 by human airway smooth muscle cells: inhibition by Th-2 cytokines and corticosteroids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 18: 84-90.

352. Ammit AJ, Hastie AT, Edsall LC, Hoffman RK, Amrani Y, et al. (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate modulates human airway smooth muscle cell functions that promote inflammation and airway remodeling in asthma. FASEB J 15: 1212-1214.

353. Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV (1980) The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 288: 373-376.

354. Ignarro LJ, Buga GM, Wood KS, Byrns RE, Chaudhuri G (1987) Endotheliumderived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84: 9265-9269.

355. Arnold WP, Mittal CK, Katsuki S, Murad F (1977) Nitric oxide activates guanylate cyclase and increases guanosine 3':5'-cyclic monophosphate levels in various tissue preparations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74: 3203-3207.

356. Flavahan NA, Aarhus LL, Rimele TJ, Vanhoutte PM (1985) Respiratory epithelium inhibits bronchial smooth muscle tone. J Appl Physiol (1985) 58: 834-838.

357. Sadeghi-Hashjin G, Henricks PA, Folkerts G, Verheyen AK, van der Linde HJ, et al. (1996) Bovine tracheal responsiveness in vitro: role of the epithelium and nitric oxide. Eur Respir J 9: 2286-2293.

358. Santoso AG, Lo WN, Liang W (2011) Urothelium-dependent and urotheliumindependent detrusor contractility mediated by nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase inhibition. Neurourol Urodyn 30: 619-625.

359. Nijkamp FP, Folkerts G (1986) Reversal of arachidonic acid-induced guinea-pig tracheal relaxation into contraction after epithelium removal. Eur J Pharmacol 131: 315-316.

360. Braunstein G, Labat C, Brunelleschi S, Benveniste J, Marsac J, et al. (1988) Evidence that the histamine sensitivity and responsiveness of guinea-pig isolated trachea are modulated by epithelial prostaglandin E2 production. Br J Pharmacol 95: 300-308.

361. Orehek J, Douglas JS, Bouhuys A (1975) Contractile responses of the guinea-pig trachea in vitro: modification by prostaglandin synthesis-inhibiting drugs. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 194: 554-564.

362. Gao Y, Vanhoutte PM (1994) Epithelium acts as a modulator and a diffusion barrier in the responses of canine airway smooth muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985) 76: 1843-1847.

363. Brofman JD, White SR, Blake JS, Munoz NM, Gleich GJ, et al. (1989) Epithelial augmentation of trachealis contraction caused by major basic protein of eosinophils. J Appl Physiol (1985) 66: 1867-1873.

364. Wilkens JH, Becker A, Wilkens H, Emura M, Riebe-Imre M, et al. (1992) Bioassay of a tracheal smooth muscle-constricting factor released by respiratory epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 263: L137-141.

365. Tschirhart E, Bertrand C, Theodorsson E, Landry Y (1990) Evidence for the involvement of calcitonin gene-related peptide in the epithelium-dependent contraction of guinea-pig trachea in response to capsaicin. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 342: 177-181.

366. Vanhoutte PM (2013) Airway epithelium-derived relaxing factor: myth, reality, or naivety? Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 304: C813-820.

367. Yoshihara S, Nadel JA, Figini M, Emanueli C, Pradelles P, et al. (1998) Endogenous nitric oxide inhibits bronchoconstriction induced by cold-air inhalation in guinea pigs: role of kinins. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157: 547-552.

368. Munakata M, Masaki Y, Sakuma I, Ukita H, Otsuka Y, et al. (1990) Pharmacological differentiation of epithelium-derived relaxing factor from nitric oxide. J Appl Physiol (1985) 69: 665-670.

369. Matera MG, Calzetta L, Passeri D, Facciolo F, Rendina EA, et al. (2011) Epithelium integrity is crucial for the relaxant activity of brain natriuretic peptide in human isolated bronchi. Br J Pharmacol 163: 1740-1754.

370. Akarasereenont P, Bakhle YS, Thiemermann C, Vane JR (1995) Cytokine-mediated induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by activation of tyrosine kinase in bovine endothelial cells stimulated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Br J Pharmacol 115: 401-408.

371. Mitchell JA, Belvisi MG, Akarasereenont P, Robbins RA, Kwon OJ, et al. (1994) Induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 by cytokines in human pulmonary epithelial cells: regulation by dexamethasone. Br J Pharmacol 113: 1008-1014.

372. Kwon S, George SC (1999) Synergistic cytokine-induced nitric oxide production in human alveolar epithelial cells. Nitric Oxide 3: 348-357.

373. Lips KS, Volk C, Schmitt BM, Pfeil U, Arndt P, et al. (2005) Polyspecific cation transporters mediate luminal release of acetylcholine from bronchial epithelium. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 33: 79-88.

374. Hirota N, Risse PA, Novali M, McGovern T, Al-Alwan L, et al. (2012) Histamine may induce airway remodeling through release of epidermal growth factor receptor ligands from bronchial epithelial cells. FASEB J 26: 1704-1716.

375. Van Winkle LS, Isaac JM, Plopper CG (1997) Distribution of epidermal growth factor receptor and ligands during bronchiolar epithelial repair from naphthalene-induced Clara cell injury in the mouse. Am J Pathol 151: 443-459.

376. Vermeer PD, Einwalter LA, Moninger TO, Rokhlina T, Kern JA, et al. (2003) Segregation of receptor and ligand regulates activation of epithelial growth factor receptor. Nature 422: 322-326.

377. de Boer WI, Hau CM, van Schadewijk A, Stolk J, van Krieken JH, et al. (2006) Expression of epidermal growth factors and their receptors in the bronchial epithelium of subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Pathol 125: 184-192.

378. Koyama S, Sato E, Tsukadaira A, Haniuda M, Numanami H, et al. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA and protein expression in airway epithelial cell lines in vitro. Eur Respir J 20: 1449-1456.

379. Shimizu S, Gabazza EC, Hayashi T, Ido M, Adachi Y, et al. (2000) Thrombin stimulates the expression of PDGF in lung epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 279: L503-510.

380. Shute JK, Solic N, Shimizu J, McConnell W, Redington AE, et al. (2004) Epithelial expression and release of FGF-2 from heparan sulphate binding sites in bronchial tissue in asthma. Thorax 59: 557-562.

381. Kim WY, Jin Q, Oh SH, Kim ES, Yang YJ, et al. (2009) Elevated epithelial insulinlike growth factor expression is a risk factor for lung cancer development. Cancer Res 69: 7439-7448.

382. Iwanaga K, Elliott MS, Vedal S, Debley JS (2013) Urban particulate matter induces pro-remodeling factors by airway epithelial cells from healthy and asthmatic children. Inhal Toxicol 25: 653-660.

383. Malavia NK, Raub CB, Mahon SB, Brenner M, Panettieri RA, Jr., et al. (2009) Airway epithelium stimulates smooth muscle proliferation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 41: 297-304.

384. Galardy RE, Cassabonne ME, Giese C, Gilbert JH, Lapierre F, et al. (1994) Low molecular weight inhibitors in corneal ulceration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 732: 315-323.

385. Greenlee KJ, Werb Z, Kheradmand F (2007) Matrix metalloproteinases in lung: multiple, multifarious, and multifaceted. Physiol Rev 87: 69-98.

386. Pei D (2005) Matrix metalloproteinases target protease-activated receptors on the tumor cell surface. Cancer Cell 7: 207-208.

387. Park JA, Drazen JM, Tschumperlin DJ (2010) The chitinase-like protein YKL-40 is secreted by airway epithelial cells at base line and in response to compressive mechanical stress. J Biol Chem 285: 29817-29825.

388. Bara I, Ozier A, Girodet PO, Carvalho G, Cattiaux J, et al. (2012) Role of YKL-40 in bronchial smooth muscle remodeling in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185: 715-722.

389. Trian T, Allard B, Dupin I, Carvalho G, Ousova O, et al. (2015) House dust mites induce proliferation of severe asthmatic smooth muscle cells via an epithelium-dependent pathway. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 191: 538-546.

390. Mitchel JA, Antoniak S, Lee JH, Kim SH, McGill M, et al. (2016) IL-13 Augments Compressive Stress-Induced Tissue Factor Expression in Human Airway Epithelial Cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 54: 524-531.

391. Saqueton CB, Miller RB, Porter VA, Milla CE, Cornfield DN (1999) NO causes perinatal pulmonary vasodilation through K+-channel activation and intracellular Ca2+ release. Am J Physiol 276: L925-932.

392. Wedgwood S, Black SM (2003) Molecular mechanisms of nitric oxide-induced growth arrest and apoptosis in fetal pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. Nitric Oxide 9: 201-210.

393. Zhou W, Negash S, Liu J, Raj JU (2009) Modulation of pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype in hypoxia: role of cGMP-dependent protein kinase and myocardin. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296: L780-789.

394. MacLean MR, McCulloch KM, Baird M (1994) Endothelin ETA- and ETBreceptor-mediated vasoconstriction in rat pulmonary arteries and arterioles. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 23: 838-845.

395. Oksche A, Boese G, Horstmeyer A, Furkert J, Beyermann M, et al. (2000) Late endosomal/lysosomal targeting and lack of recycling of the ligand-occupied endothelin B receptor. Mol Pharmacol 57: 1104-1113.

396. Boulanger C, Luscher TF (1990) Release of endothelin from the porcine aorta. Inhibition by endothelium-derived nitric oxide. J Clin Invest 85: 587-590.

397. Smith AP, Demoncheaux EA, Higenbottam TW (2002) Nitric oxide gas decreases endothelin-1 mRNA in cultured pulmonary artery endothelial cells. Nitric Oxide 6: 153-159.

398. Sandow SL, Senadheera S, Bertrand PP, Murphy TV, Tare M (2012) Myoendothelial contacts, gap junctions, and microdomains: anatomical links to function? Microcirculation 19: 403-415.

399. Gairhe S, Bauer NN, Gebb SA, McMurtry IF (2011) Myoendothelial gap junctional signaling induces differentiation of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 301: L527-535.

400. Gairhe S, Bauer NN, Gebb SA, McMurtry IF (2012) Serotonin passes through myoendothelial gap junctions to promote pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cell differentiation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303: L767-777.

401. Deng L, Blanco FJ, Stevens H, Lu R, Caudrillier A, et al. (2015) MicroRNA-143 Activation Regulates Smooth Muscle and Endothelial Cell Crosstalk in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Circ Res 117: 870-883. 402. Wang F, Van Brocklyn JR, Hobson JP, Movafagh S, Zukowska-Grojec Z, et al. (1999) Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates cell migration through a G(i)-coupled cell surface receptor. Potential involvement in angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 274: 35343-35350.

403. Maeda Y, Matsuyuki H, Shimano K, Kataoka H, Sugahara K, et al. (2007) Migration of CD4 T cells and dendritic cells toward sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) is mediated by different receptor subtypes: S1P regulates the functions of murine mature dendritic cells via S1P receptor type 3. J Immunol 178: 3437-3446.

404. Lee OH, Kim YM, Lee YM, Moon EJ, Lee DJ, et al. (1999) Sphingosine 1phosphate induces angiogenesis: its angiogenic action and signaling mechanism in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 264: 743-750.

405. Calise S, Blescia S, Cencetti F, Bernacchioni C, Donati C, et al. (2012) Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates proliferation and migration of satellite cells: role of S1P receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1823: 439-450.

406. Olivera A, Urtz N, Mizugishi K, Yamashita Y, Gilfillan AM, et al. (2006) IgEdependent activation of sphingosine kinases 1 and 2 and secretion of sphingosine 1phosphate requires Fyn kinase and contributes to mast cell responses. J Biol Chem 281: 2515-2525.

407. Tani M, Sano T, Ito M, Igarashi Y (2005) Mechanisms of sphingosine and sphingosine 1-phosphate generation in human platelets. J Lipid Res 46: 2458-2467.

408. McGovern T, Risse PA, Tsuchiya K, Hassan M, Frigola G, et al. (2010) LTD(4) induces HB-EGF-dependent CXCL8 release through EGFR activation in human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 299: L808-815.

409. Risse PA, Jo T, Suarez F, Hirota N, Tolloczko B, et al. (2011) Interleukin-13 inhibits proliferation and enhances contractility of human airway smooth muscle cells without change in contractile phenotype. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 300: L958-966.

410. Lyss G, Knorre A, Schmidt TJ, Pahl HL, Merfort I (1998) The anti-inflammatory sesquiterpene lactone helenalin inhibits the transcription factor NF-kappaB by directly targeting p65. J Biol Chem 273: 33508-33516.

411. Huang C, Ma WY, Dawson MI, Rincon M, Flavell RA, et al. (1997) Blocking activator protein-1 activity, but not activating retinoic acid response element, is required for the antitumor promotion effect of retinoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 5826-5830.

412. McElroy SJ, Hobbs S, Kallen M, Tejera N, Rosen MJ, et al. (2012) Transactivation of EGFR by LPS induces COX-2 expression in enterocytes. PLoS One 7: e38373.

413. Zhao Y, He D, Saatian B, Watkins T, Spannhake EW, et al. (2006) Regulation of lysophosphatidic acid-induced epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation and

interleukin-8 secretion in human bronchial epithelial cells by protein kinase Cdelta, Lyn kinase, and matrix metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 281: 19501-19511.

414. Behr J, Degenkolb B, Krombach F, Vogelmeier C (2002) Intracellular glutathione and bronchoalveolar cells in fibrosing alveolitis: effects of N-acetylcysteine. Eur Respir J 19: 906-911.

415. Milara J, Mata M, Mauricio MD, Donet E, Morcillo EJ, et al. (2009) Sphingosine-1-phosphate increases human alveolar epithelial IL-8 secretion, proliferation and neutrophil chemotaxis. Eur J Pharmacol 609: 132-139.

416. Gu Y, Forostyan T, Sabbadini R, Rosenblatt J (2011) Epithelial cell extrusion requires the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 pathway. J Cell Biol 193: 667-676.

417. Spiegel S, Milstien S (2002) Sphingosine 1-phosphate, a key cell signaling molecule. J Biol Chem 277: 25851-25854.

418. Blom T, Bergelin N, Meinander A, Lof C, Slotte JP, et al. (2010) An autocrine sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling loop enhances NF-kappaB-activation and survival. BMC Cell Biol 11: 45.

419. Shimizu S, Tahara M, Ogata S, Hashimoto K, Morishige K, et al. (2007) Involvement of nuclear factor-kB activation through RhoA/Rho-kinase pathway in LPSinduced IL-8 production in human cervical stromal cells. Mol Hum Reprod 13: 181-187.

420. Sanchez T, Skoura A, Wu MT, Casserly B, Harrington EO, et al. (2007) Induction of vascular permeability by the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 (S1P2R) and its downstream effectors ROCK and PTEN. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27: 1312-1318.

421. Zhang G, Yang L, Kim GS, Ryan K, Lu S, et al. (2013) Critical role of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 (S1PR2) in acute vascular inflammation. Blood 122: 443-455.

422. Szczepaniak WS, Pitt BR, McVerry BJ (2010) S1P2 receptor-dependent Rho-kinase activation mediates vasoconstriction in the murine pulmonary circulation induced by sphingosine 1-phosphate. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 299: L137-145.

423. Chiba Y, Suzuki K, Uechi M, Kurihara E, Goto K, et al. (2010) Downregulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors in bronchial smooth muscle of mouse experimental asthma. Pharmacol Res 62: 357-363.

424. Chiba Y, Ueno A, Shinozaki K, Takeyama H, Nakazawa S, et al. (2005) Involvement of RhoA-mediated Ca2+ sensitization in antigen-induced bronchial smooth muscle hyperresponsiveness in mice. Respir Res 6: 4.

425. Oudit GY, Kassiri Z, Patel MP, Chappell M, Butany J, et al. (2007) Angiotensin IImediated oxidative stress and inflammation mediate the age-dependent cardiomyopathy in ACE2 null mice. Cardiovasc Res 75: 29-39. 426. Hawkins BJ, Solt LA, Chowdhury I, Kazi AS, Abid MR, et al. (2007) G proteincoupled receptor Ca2+-linked mitochondrial reactive oxygen species are essential for endothelial/leukocyte adherence. Mol Cell Biol 27: 7582-7593.

427. Rahman I, Morrison D, Donaldson K, MacNee W (1996) Systemic oxidative stress in asthma, COPD, and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154: 1055-1060.

428. Ciencewicki J, Trivedi S, Kleeberger SR (2008) Oxidants and the pathogenesis of lung diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122: 456-468; quiz 469-470.

429. Sadikot RT, Zeng H, Yull FE, Li B, Cheng DS, et al. (2004) p47phox deficiency impairs NF-kappa B activation and host defense in Pseudomonas pneumonia. J Immunol 172: 1801-1808.

430. Denu JM, Tanner KG (1998) Specific and reversible inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases by hydrogen peroxide: Evidence for a sulfenic acid intermediate and implications for redox regulation. Biochemistry 37: 5633-5642.

431. Golan K, Vagima Y, Ludin A, Itkin T, Cohen-Gur S, et al. (2012) S1P promotes murine progenitor cell egress and mobilization via S1P1-mediated ROS signaling and SDF-1 release. Blood 119: 2478-2488.

432. Takuwa N, Ohkura S, Takashima S, Ohtani K, Okamoto Y, et al. (2010) S1P3mediated cardiac fibrosis in sphingosine kinase 1 transgenic mice involves reactive oxygen species. Cardiovasc Res 85: 484-493.

433. Levitzki A, Gazit A (1995) Tyrosine kinase inhibition: an approach to drug development. Science 267: 1782-1788.

434. Douglas MR, Morrison KC, Jacques SJ, Leadbeater WE, Gonzalez AM, et al. (2009) Off-target effects of epidermal growth factor receptor antagonists mediate retinal ganglion cell disinhibited axon growth. Brain 132: 3102-3121.

435. Wright LN, Ryscavage A, Merlino G, Yuspa SH (2012) Modeling the transcriptional consequences of epidermal growth factor receptor ablation in Ras-initiated squamous cancer. Clin Cancer Res 18: 170-183.

436. Kuwano K, Bosken CH, Pare PD, Bai TR, Wiggs BR, et al. (1993) Small airways dimensions in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 148: 1220-1225.

437. Vignola AM, Mirabella F, Costanzo G, Di Giorgi R, Gjomarkaj M, et al. (2003) Airway remodeling in asthma. Chest 123: 417S-422S.

438. Johnson PR, Roth M, Tamm M, Hughes M, Ge Q, et al. (2001) Airway smooth muscle cell proliferation is increased in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164: 474-477.

439. Holgate ST (2011) The sentinel role of the airway epithelium in asthma pathogenesis. Immunol Rev 242: 205-219.

440. Marini M, Vittori E, Hollemborg J, Mattoli S (1992) Expression of the potent inflammatory cytokines, granulocyte-macrophage-colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-6 and interleukin-8, in bronchial epithelial cells of patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 89: 1001-1009.

441. Mack CP (2011) Signaling mechanisms that regulate smooth muscle cell differentiation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31: 1495-1505.

442. Du KL, Ip HS, Li J, Chen M, Dandre F, et al. (2003) Myocardin is a critical serum response factor cofactor in the transcriptional program regulating smooth muscle cell differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 23: 2425-2437.

443. Long X, Bell RD, Gerthoffer WT, Zlokovic BV, Miano JM (2008) Myocardin is sufficient for a smooth muscle-like contractile phenotype. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28: 1505-1510.

444. Liu Y, Sinha S, McDonald OG, Shang Y, Hoofnagle MH, et al. (2005) Kruppel-like factor 4 abrogates myocardin-induced activation of smooth muscle gene expression. J Biol Chem 280: 9719-9727.

445. Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL, Metcalfe JC (1993) Isolation of gene markers of differentiated and proliferating vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 73: 193-204.

446. Fernandes LB, Preuss JM, Paterson JW, Goldie RG (1990) Epithelium-derived inhibitory factor in human bronchus. Eur J Pharmacol 187: 331-336.

447. Bruce C, Weatherstone R, Seaton A, Taylor WH (1976) Histamine levels in plasma, blood, and urine in severe asthma, and the effect of corticosteroid treatment. Thorax 31: 724-729.

448. Cockcroft DW, Killian DN, Mellon JJ, Hargreave FE (1977) Bronchial reactivity to inhaled histamine: a method and clinical survey. Clin Allergy 7: 235-243.

449. Hoiting BH, Meurs H, Schuiling M, Kuipers R, Elzinga CR, et al. (1996) Modulation of agonist-induced phosphoinositide metabolism, Ca2+ signalling and contraction of airway smooth muscle by cyclic AMP-dependent mechanisms. Br J Pharmacol 117: 419-426.

450. Mori A, Ito S, Morioka M, Aso H, Kondo M, et al. (2011) Effects of specific prostanoid EP receptor agonists on cell proliferation and intracellular Ca(2+) concentrations in human airway smooth muscle cells. Eur J Pharmacol 659: 72-78.

451. Grynkiewicz G, Poenie M, Tsien RY (1985) A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J Biol Chem 260: 3440-3450.

452. Park CY, Zhou EH, Tambe D, Chen B, Lavoie T, et al. (2015) High-throughput screening for modulators of cellular contractile force. Integr Biol (Camb) 7: 1318-1324.

453. Wang Z, Wang DZ, Pipes GC, Olson EN (2003) Myocardin is a master regulator of smooth muscle gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 7129-7134.

454. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H (2012) The airway epithelium in asthma. Nat Med 18: 684-692.

455. Palmer RM, Ferrige AG, Moncada S (1987) Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Nature 327: 524-526.

456. Perez JF, Sanderson MJ (2005) The frequency of calcium oscillations induced by 5-HT, ACH, and KCl determine the contraction of smooth muscle cells of intrapulmonary bronchioles. J Gen Physiol 125: 535-553.

457. Yagi S, Becker PL, Fay FS (1988) Relationship between force and Ca2+ concentration in smooth muscle as revealed by measurements on single cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85: 4109-4113.

458. Clarke DL, Belvisi MG, Smith SJ, Hardaker E, Yacoub MH, et al. (2005) Prostanoid receptor expression by human airway smooth muscle cells and regulation of the secretion of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 288: L238-250.

459. Hakonarson H, Herrick DJ, Serrano PG, Grunstein MM (1996) Mechanism of cytokine-induced modulation of beta-adrenoceptor responsiveness in airway smooth muscle. J Clin Invest 97: 2593-2600.

460. Hakonarson H, Herrick DJ, Grunstein MM (1995) Mechanism of impaired betaadrenoceptor responsiveness in atopic sensitized airway smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 269: L645-652.

461. Fortner CN, Breyer RM, Paul RJ (2001) EP2 receptors mediate airway relaxation to substance P, ATP, and PGE2. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 281: L469-474.

462. Guo M, Pascual RM, Wang S, Fontana MF, Valancius CA, et al. (2005) Cytokines regulate beta-2-adrenergic receptor responsiveness in airway smooth muscle via multiple PKA- and EP2 receptor-dependent mechanisms. Biochemistry 44: 13771-13782.

463. Penke LR, Huang SK, White ES, Peters-Golden M (2014) Prostaglandin E2 inhibits alpha-smooth muscle actin transcription during myofibroblast differentiation via distinct mechanisms of modulation of serum response factor and myocardin-related transcription factor-A. J Biol Chem 289: 17151-17162.

464. Goncharova EA, Billington CK, Irani C, Vorotnikov AV, Tkachuk VA, et al. (2003) Cyclic AMP-mobilizing agents and glucocorticoids modulate human smooth muscle cell migration. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29: 19-27. 465. Florio C, Martin JG, Styhler A, Heisler S (1994) Antiproliferative effect of prostaglandin E2 in cultured guinea pig tracheal smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 266: L131-137.

466. Bai Y, Sanderson MJ (2006) Airway smooth muscle relaxation results from a reduction in the frequency of Ca2+ oscillations induced by a cAMP-mediated inhibition of the IP3 receptor. Respir Res 7: 34.

467. Endou K, Iizuka K, Yoshii A, Tsukagoshi H, Ishizuka T, et al. (2004) 8-BromocAMP decreases the Ca2+ sensitivity of airway smooth muscle contraction through a mechanism distinct from inhibition of Rho-kinase. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287: L641-648.

468. Roscioni SS, Dekkers BG, Prins AG, Menzen MH, Meurs H, et al. (2011) cAMP inhibits modulation of airway smooth muscle phenotype via the exchange protein activated by cAMP (Epac) and protein kinase A. Br J Pharmacol 162: 193-209.

469. Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, O'Byrne PM (1999) Protective effects of inhaled PGE2 on allergen-induced airway responses and airway inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159: 31-36.

470. Walters EH, Davies BH (1982) Dual effect of prostaglandin E2 on normal airways smooth muscle in vivo. Thorax 37: 918-922.

471. Martin JG, Suzuki M, Maghni K, Pantano R, Ramos-Barbon D, et al. (2002) The immunomodulatory actions of prostaglandin E2 on allergic airway responses in the rat. J Immunol 169: 3963-3969.

472. Delamere F, Holland E, Patel S, Bennett J, Pavord I, et al. (1994) Production of PGE2 by bovine cultured airway smooth muscle cells and its inhibition by cyclo-oxygenase inhibitors. Br J Pharmacol 111: 983-988.

473. Bygdeman M (2003) Pharmacokinetics of prostaglandins. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 17: 707-716.

474. Hartney JM, Coggins KG, Tilley SL, Jania LA, Lovgren AK, et al. (2006) Prostaglandin E2 protects lower airways against bronchoconstriction. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290: L105-113.

475. Pang L, Knox AJ (1997) PGE2 release by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells: involvement of cyclooxygenase-2 induction. Am J Physiol 273: L1132-1140.

476. Insuela DB, Daleprane JB, Coelho LP, Silva AR, e Silva PM, et al. (2015) Glucagon induces airway smooth muscle relaxation by nitric oxide and prostaglandin E(2). J Endocrinol 225: 205-217.

477. Nichols HL, Saffeddine M, Theriot BS, Hegde A, Polley D, et al. (2012) beta-Arrestin-2 mediates the proinflammatory effects of proteinase-activated receptor-2 in the airway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: 16660-16665.

478. Nieri P, Martinelli C, Blandizzi C, Bernardini N, Greco R, et al. (2006) Role of cyclooxygenase isoforms and nitric-oxide synthase in the modulation of tracheal motor responsiveness in normal and antigen-sensitized Guinea pigs. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 319: 648-656.

479. Ito S, Kume H, Oguma T, Ito Y, Kondo M, et al. (2006) Roles of stretch-activated cation channel and Rho-kinase in the spontaneous contraction of airway smooth muscle. Eur J Pharmacol 552: 135-142.

480. Harrington LS, Lucas R, McMaster SK, Moreno L, Scadding G, et al. (2008) COX-1, and not COX-2 activity, regulates airway function: relevance to aspirin-sensitive asthma. FASEB J 22: 4005-4010.

481. Ebina M, Takahashi T, Chiba T, Motomiya M (1993) Cellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia of airway smooth muscles underlying bronchial asthma. A 3-D morphometric study. Am Rev Respir Dis 148: 720-726.

482. Lambert RK, Wiggs BR, Kuwano K, Hogg JC, Pare PD (1993) Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD. J Appl Physiol (1985) 74: 2771-2781.

483. Woodruff PG, Dolganov GM, Ferrando RE, Donnelly S, Hays SR, et al. (2004) Hyperplasia of smooth muscle in mild to moderate asthma without changes in cell size or gene expression. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169: 1001-1006.

484. Halayko AJ, Camoretti-Mercado B, Forsythe SM, Vieira JE, Mitchell RW, et al. (1999) Divergent differentiation paths in airway smooth muscle culture: induction of functionally contractile myocytes. Am J Physiol 276: L197-206.

485. Chamley-Campbell JH, Campbell GR, Ross R (1981) Phenotype-dependent response of cultured aortic smooth muscle to serum mitogens. J Cell Biol 89: 379-383.

486. Gosens R, Meurs H, Bromhaar MM, McKay S, Nelemans SA, et al. (2002) Functional characterization of serum- and growth factor-induced phenotypic changes in intact bovine tracheal smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 137: 459-466.

487. Pugazhenthi S, Nesterova A, Sable C, Heidenreich KA, Boxer LM, et al. (2000) Akt/protein kinase B up-regulates Bcl-2 expression through cAMP-response elementbinding protein. J Biol Chem 275: 10761-10766.

488. Liu Y, Yang K, Sun X, Fang P, Shi H, et al. (2015) MiR-138 suppresses airway smooth muscle cell proliferation through the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway by targeting PDK1. Exp Lung Res 41: 363-369.

489. Blackwood EM, Eisenman RN (1991) Max: a helix-loop-helix zipper protein that forms a sequence-specific DNA-binding complex with Myc. Science 251: 1211-1217.

490. Volckaert T, Campbell A, De Langhe S (2013) c-Myc regulates proliferation and Fgf10 expression in airway smooth muscle after airway epithelial injury in mouse. PLoS One 8: e71426.

491. Hurlin PJ, Queva C, Eisenman RN (1997) Mnt, a novel Max-interacting protein is coexpressed with Myc in proliferating cells and mediates repression at Myc binding sites. Genes Dev 11: 44-58.

492. Bodempudi V, Hergert P, Smith K, Xia H, Herrera J, et al. (2014) miR-210 promotes IPF fibroblast proliferation in response to hypoxia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 307: L283-294.

493. Stamatiou R, Paraskeva E, Gourgoulianis K, Molyvdas PA, Hatziefthimiou A (2012) Cytokines and growth factors promote airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. ISRN Inflamm 2012: 731472.

494. Halwani R, Al-Abri J, Beland M, Al-Jahdali H, Halayko AJ, et al. (2011) CC and CXC chemokines induce airway smooth muscle proliferation and survival. J Immunol 186: 4156-4163.

495. Allahverdian S, Harada N, Singhera GK, Knight DA, Dorscheid DR (2008) Secretion of IL-13 by airway epithelial cells enhances epithelial repair via HB-EGF. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 38: 153-160.

496. Kumar RK, Herbert C, Foster PS (2004) Expression of growth factors by airway epithelial cells in a model of chronic asthma: regulation and relationship to subepithelial fibrosis. Clin Exp Allergy 34: 567-575.

497. Tamaoka M, Hassan M, McGovern T, Ramos-Barbon D, Jo T, et al. (2008) The epidermal growth factor receptor mediates allergic airway remodelling in the rat. Eur Respir J 32: 1213-1223.

498. Owens GK (1995) Regulation of differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Physiol Rev 75: 487-517.

499. Pepe C, Foley S, Shannon J, Lemiere C, Olivenstein R, et al. (2005) Differences in airway remodeling between subjects with severe and moderate asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 116: 544-549.

500. Janssen LJ (2012) Airway smooth muscle as a target in asthma and the beneficial effects of bronchial thermoplasty. J Allergy (Cairo) 2012: 593784.

501. Hassan M, Jo T, Risse PA, Tolloczko B, Lemiere C, et al. (2010) Airway smooth muscle remodeling is a dynamic process in severe long-standing asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125: 1037-1045 e1033.

502. Trautmann A, Kruger K, Akdis M, Muller-Wening D, Akkaya A, et al. (2005) Apoptosis and loss of adhesion of bronchial epithelial cells in asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 138: 142-150.

503. Johnson S, Knox A (1999) Autocrine production of matrix metalloproteinase-2 is required for human airway smooth muscle proliferation. Am J Physiol 277: L1109-1117.

504. Sharma A, Kumar M, Ahmad T, Mabalirajan U, Aich J, et al. (2012) Antagonism of mmu-mir-106a attenuates asthma features in allergic murine model. J Appl Physiol (1985) 113: 459-464.

505. Garcia JG, Liu F, Verin AD, Birukova A, Dechert MA, et al. (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate promotes endothelial cell barrier integrity by Edg-dependent cytoskeletal rearrangement. J Clin Invest 108: 689-701.

506. Sestini P, Armetti L, Gambaro G, Pieroni MG, Refini RM, et al. (1996) Inhaled PGE2 prevents aspirin-induced bronchoconstriction and urinary LTE4 excretion in aspirin-sensitive asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153: 572-575.

507. Howarth PH, Knox AJ, Amrani Y, Tliba O, Panettieri RA, Jr., et al. (2004) Synthetic responses in airway smooth muscle. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114: S32-50.

508. John AE, Zhu YM, Brightling CE, Pang L, Knox AJ (2009) Human airway smooth muscle cells from asthmatic individuals have CXCL8 hypersecretion due to increased NF-kappa B p65, C/EBP beta, and RNA polymerase II binding to the CXCL8 promoter. J Immunol 183: 4682-4692.

509. Kinnula VL, Yankaskas JR, Chang L, Virtanen I, Linnala A, et al. (1994) Primary and immortalized (BEAS 2B) human bronchial epithelial cells have significant antioxidative capacity in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 11: 568-576.

510. Atsuta J, Sterbinsky SA, Plitt J, Schwiebert LM, Bochner BS, et al. (1997) Phenotyping and cytokine regulation of the BEAS-2B human bronchial epithelial cell: demonstration of inducible expression of the adhesion molecules VCAM-1 and ICAM-1. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 17: 571-582.

511. Kummarapurugu AB, Fischer BM, Zheng S, Milne GL, Ghio AJ, et al. (2013) NADPH:quinone oxidoreductase 1 regulates host susceptibility to ozone via isoprostane generation. J Biol Chem 288: 4681-4691.

512. Stewart CE, Torr EE, Mohd Jamili NH, Bosquillon C, Sayers I (2012) Evaluation of differentiated human bronchial epithelial cell culture systems for asthma research. J Allergy (Cairo) 2012: 943982.

513. Oskeritzian CA, Hait NC, Wedman P, Chumanevich A, Kolawole EM, et al. (2015) The sphingosine-1-phosphate/sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 axis regulates early airway T-cell infiltration in murine mast cell-dependent acute allergic responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 135: 1008-1018 e1001.